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This prospectus is being filed with the Ontario Securities Commission (the “OSC”) for the purpose of allowing 
North Bud Farms Inc. (“Corporation”) to comply with Policy 2 – Qualifications for Listing of the Canadian 
Securities Exchange in order for the Corporation to meet one of the eligibility requirements for the listing of the 
Corporation’s Class A common shares (the “Common Shares”) on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) by 
becoming a reporting issuer pursuant to applicable securities legislation in the Province of Ontario (the 
“Prospectus”). Upon the final receipt of this Prospectus by the OSC, the Corporation will become a reporting issuer 
in Ontario. 

The CSE has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares of the Corporation. Listing is subject 
to the Corporation fulfilling all of the requirements of the CSE. There can be no assurance that the Common 
Shares will be accepted for listing on the CSE. 

Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised and all expenses 
incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the Corporation from its 
general corporate funds. 

An application is being filed by the Corporation to have its Common Shares listed for trading on the CSE. 

This prospectus also qualifies the distribution by Tetra Bio-Pharma Inc. (“Tetra”) of the 15,550,000 Common 
Shares of the Corporation it currently holds to its shareholders as a dividend in kind on a pro rata basis (the 
“Dividend Distribution”), concurrently with the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE, the whole subject to 
(i) approval by the board of directors of Tetra, (ii) regulatory approvals, if any, and (iii) applicable law.  See “The 
Business – Development – Acquisition of GrowPros”.  



 

 

There is currently no market through which any of the securities of the Corporation may be sold and holders 
of the Corporation’s securities may not be able to resell any such securities. This may affect the pricing of the 
Corporation’s securities in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the 
liquidity of the securities, and the extent of issuer regulation. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Corporation does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied 
to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United 
States of America. 

An investment in the securities of the Corporation is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. In 
reviewing this Prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described under the heading “Risk 
Factors”. No underwriters or selling agents have been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or 
performed any review or independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus. 

No person has been authorized to provide any information or to make any representation not contained in this 
Prospectus and, if provided or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon. The information 
contained in this Prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this Prospectus. 

Teresa DeLuca, a director of the Corporation, resides outside of Canada. Mrs. DeLuca has appointed 
McMillan LLP, Suite 4400, 181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2T3 as agent for service of process.  
Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada 
against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a 
foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of 
process. (see Enforcement of judgments against foreign persons or companies) 

Michael Saxon, a director of the Corporation, resides outside of Canada. Mr. Saxon has appointed McMillan 
LLP, Suite 4400, 181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2T3 as agent for service of process.  Purchasers are 
advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person 
or company that is incorporated continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or 
resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. (see Enforcement of 
judgments against foreign persons or companies) 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. 

Unless otherwise noted all currency amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars. 

The Corporation’s registered and head office is located at 181 Bay Street, Suite 4400, Toronto, Ontario M5J 
2T3. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

The following is a glossary of certain defined terms used throughout this Prospectus. This is not an exhaustive list of 
defined terms used in this Prospectus and additional terms are defined throughout. Terms and abbreviations used in 
the financial statements of the Corporation are defined. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, 
include the plural and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all genders. 

“ACMPR” means the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (Canada) issued pursuant to the 
CDSA; 

“Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a person or company, means:  

(a) an issuer of which the person or company beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, 
voting securities entitling him to more than 10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding 
securities of the issuer; 

(b) any partner of the person or company; 

(c) any trust or estate in which the person or company has a substantial benefit interest or in respect of 
which a person or company serves as trustee or in a similar capacity; 

(d) in the case of a person, a relative of that person, including  

(i) that person’s spouse or child, or 

(ii) any relative of the person or of his spouse who has the same residence as that person;  

but 

(e) where the Exchange determines that two persons shall, or shall not, be deemed to be associates 
with respect to a Member firm, Member corporation or holding company of a Member 
corporation, then such determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the application 
of Rule D with respect to that Member firm, Member corporation or holding company; 

“cannabis” has the meaning given to such term in the ACMPR.  

“Cannabis Act” means the proposed legislation titled An Act respecting cannabis and to amend the Controlled 
Drugs and Substances Act, the Criminal Code and other Acts; 

“cannabis oil” has the meaning given to such term in the ACMPR; 

“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act; 

“CDSA” means the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada); 

“Common Shares” means the Class A common shares in the capital of the Corporation; 

“company” unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or organization, 
body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual; 

“Concurrent Financing” means the non-brokered private placement offering of 12,958,000 units of the 
Corporation, at a price of $0.25 per unit, for gross proceeds to the Corporation of $3,239,500 and which closed on 
July 25, 2018. Each unit consists of one Common Share in the capital of the Corporation and one-half (½) of one 
Common Share purchase warrant (“Warrant”), with each whole Warrant entitling the holder thereof to acquire one 
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additional Common Share at a price of $0.40 per share for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the date 
upon which the Common Shares are listed for trading on a recognized stock exchange in North America;  

“Control Person” means any person or company that holds or is one of a combination of persons or companies that 
holds a sufficient number of any of the securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of that issuer, or 
that holds more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of an issuer except where there is evidence showing 
that the holder of those securities does not materially affect the control of the issuer; 

“Corporation” means North Bud Farms Inc., a corporation existing under the CBCA; 

“Corporation Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of the Corporation as at November 30, 
2017 and 2016 for the year ended November 30, 2017 and period from the date of incorporation on November 29, 
2016 to November 30, 2016, and the unaudited interim financial statements of the Corporation as at May 31, 2018 
and for the three and six months ended May 31, 2018 and 2017, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ 
report thereon, as applicable, attached hereto at Schedule A; 

“Corporation MD&A” means the management’s discussion and analysis of the Corporation for the period from the 
date of incorporation on November 29, 2016 to November 30, 2017, and for the three and six months ended May 31, 
2018, attached hereto at Schedule A; 

“CRA” means the Canada Revenue Agency; 

“CSE” or “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange; 

“CSE Approval” means conditional approval or acceptance of the CSE of the listing of the Common Shares on the 
CSE; 

“Cultivation Licence”, means the licence to be issued by Health Canada to the Corporation, if granted, designating 
the Corporation as a “Licensed Producer”, allowing the Corporation to produce (cultivate) marihuana; 

 “dried marihuana” has the meaning given to the term “dried marihuana” in the ACMPR; 

“Dividend Distribution” means the distribution by Tetra of the 15,550,000 Common Shares of the Corporation to 
its shareholders as a dividend in kind on a pro rata basis concurrently with the Listing; 

“FDR” means the Food and Drug Regulations (Canada); 

“g” means a gram; 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in Canada, which is “IFRS” meaning International 
Financial Reporting Standards; 

“Good Production Practices” refers to the production practices detailed in Subdivision D of Division 1 of Part 1 of 
the ACMPR; 

“GMP” means “Good Manufacturing Practices”;  

“GrowPros” means GrowPros MMP Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation existing under the CBCA; 

“GrowPros Acquisition” means the acquisition, effective as of February 16, 2018, subject to the Resolutory 
Condition, of all the issued and outstanding common shares of GrowPros in consideration of $350,000 and 
15,550,000 Common Shares, pursuant to the terms of the SPA; 
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“GrowPros Financial Statements” means the audited carve-out financial statements of GrowPros as at 
November 30, 2017 for the year ended November 30, 2017, the unaudited carve-out financial statements of 
GrowPros as at 2016 and 2015 for the years ended November 30, 2016 and 2015, and the unaudited interim 
condensed carve-out financial statements of GrowPros as at May 31, 2018 and for the three and six months ended 
May 31, 2018 and 2017, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon, as applicable, attached 
hereto at Schedule B;  

“GrowPros MD&A” means the management’s discussion and analysis of GrowPros for the years ended November 
30, 2016 and 2017, and for the three and six months ended May 31, 2018 and 2017, attached hereto at Schedule B; 

“Insider” means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the Corporation;  

(b) a director or senior officer of the Corporation that is an Insider or subsidiary of the Corporation, 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, Voting Shares carrying more 
than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the Corporation; or 

(d) the Corporation itself if it holds any of its own securities; 

“Intended Business” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “The Business – Overview” in this Prospectus;  

“Key Person” and “Key Personnel” has the meaning ascribed to that term under “Risk Factors – Risks Generally 
Related to the Corporation – If the Corporation is unable to attract and retain key personnel, it may not be able to 
compete effectively in the cannabis market” in this Prospectus;  

“Licences” means the Sales Licence and the Cultivation Licence together;  

“Licensed Dealer” has the meaning given to such term in the NCR; 

“Licensed Producer” means the holder of a licence issued under section 35 of the ACMPR; 

“marihuana” has the meaning given to it in the ACMPR; 

“Management” means the management of the Corporation; 

“Named Executive Officers” has the meaning ascribed thereto in National Instrument 51-102F6 - Statement of 
Executive Compensation; 

“NCR” means the Narcotics Control Regulations (Canada), as amended; 

“Person” means a company or individual;  

“Promoter” means (a) a person or company who, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons, 
companies or a combination thereof, directly or indirectly, takes the initiative in founding, organizing or 
substantially reorganizing the business of an issuer, or (b) a person or company who, in connection with the 
founding, organizing or substantial reorganizing of the business of an issuer, directly or indirectly, receives in 
consideration of services or property, or both services and property, 10% or more of any class of securities of the 
issuer or 10% or more of the proceeds from the sale of any class of securities of a particular issue, but a person or 
company who receives such securities or proceeds either solely as underwriting commissions or solely in 
consideration of property shall not be deemed a promoter within the meaning of this definition if such person or 
company does not otherwise take part in founding, organizing, or substantially reorganizing the business; 
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“Resolutory Condition” means the resolutory condition, a Quebec civil law concept, contained in the SPA, 
pursuant to which the GrowPros Acquisition will be deemed to have never occurred and (i) the Corporation will 
return the shares of GrowPros to Tetra, and (ii) Tetra will return the Common Shares to the Corporation, in the event 
of the non-receipt by the Corporation by 11:59 p.m. on August 31, 2018 of any of (i) the CSE Approval, and (ii) the 
clearance for filing of the final prospectus from the OSC. (see “Development – Acquisition of GrowPros” for further 
details regarding the Resolutory Condition.) 

“Sales Licence”, also referred to as “Licence to Sell”, means the licence to be issued by Health Canada to the 
Corporation, allowing it to sell marihuana; 

“SEA” means the non-arm’s length share exchange agreement dated May 17, 2018, among the Corporation, 
GrowPros and 9366-4027 Québec Inc. providing for the acquisition of the Venosta Land in consideration of the 
issuance of 760,000 Common Shares. The SEA is superseded by the Venosta SPA; 

 “Shareholders” means holders from time to time of Common Shares; 

 “SPA” means the share purchase agreement dated February 16, 2018, among the Corporation, GrowPros and Tetra 
providing for the GrowPros Acquisition, as amended by the parties on June 28, 2018  and July 31, 2018 to extend 
the date of the Resolutory Conditon from June 30, 2018 to July 31, 2018 and then again to August 31, 2018; 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended; 

“Tetra” means Tetra Bio-Pharma Inc.; 

“Venosta Facility” means the projected 50,000-square foot GMP grade indoor production facility which will be 
located on the Venosta Land; 

“Venosta Land” means the 130 acres farmland located in Venosta, Quebec; 

“Venosta Land Acquisition” means the acquisition by 9366-4027 Québec Inc. of the Venosta Land from 9329-
7158 Québec Inc; 

“Venosta SPA” means the non-arm’s length share purchase agreement dated June 7, 2018, between the Corporation 
and 9329-7158 Québec Inc.  providing for the acquisition by the Corporation of all the issued and outstanding shares 
of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. in consideration of the issuance of 760,000 Common Shares of the Corporation at a 
deemed price of $0.25 per share. The Venosta SPA supersedes any prior agreement related to the Venosta Land 
entered into by the Corporation, GrowPros, 9366-4027 Québec Inc., 9329-7158 Québec Inc. and Mr. Brown, 
including the SEA. 
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GENERAL MATTERS 

Unless otherwise noted or the context indicates otherwise “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Corporation” refer to North Bud 
Farms Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. 

The Corporation is not offering to sell securities under this Prospectus. Readers should rely only on the information 
contained in this Prospectus. We have not authorized any other person to provide you with additional or different 
information. If anyone provides you with additional or different or inconsistent information, including information 
or statements in media articles about the Corporation, you should not rely on it. You should assume that the 
information appearing in this Prospectus is accurate only as at its date. The Corporation’s business, financial 
conditions, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date. 

The Corporation presents its financial statements in Canadian dollars. Amounts in this Prospectus are stated in 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS 

The following financial statements of the Corporation and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are included in this Prospectus (see “Financial 
Statements”): 

1. Audited financial statements of the Corporation as at November 30, 2017 and 2016 for the year ended 
November 30, 2017 and period from the date of incorporation on November 29, 2016 to November 30, 
2016, and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as at May 31, 2018 
and for the three and six months ended May 31, 2018 and 2017 (the “Corporation Financial 
Statements”); and  

2. Audited carve-out financial statements of GrowPros as at November 30, 2017 for the year ended November 
30, 2017, the unaudited carve-out financial statements of GrowPros as at 2016 and 2015 for the years ended 
November 30, 2016 and 2015, and the unaudited interim condensed carve-out financial statements of 
GrowPros as at May 31, 2018 and for the three and six months ended May 31, 2018 and 2017 (the 
“GrowPros Financial Statements”);  

The carve-out financial statements of GrowPros for the years ended November 30, 2016 and 2015 have not been 
audited given the fact that the issuer is a “junior issuer” as defined under NI 41-101. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts, 
projections, beliefs and assumptions made by Management about the industry in which it operates. Such statements 
include, in particular, statements about the Corporation’s plans, strategies and prospects under the headings 
“Summary”, “Risk Factors”, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”. Words such as “expect”, “anticipate”, 
“intend”, “plan”, “believe”, “seek”, “estimate”, and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to 
identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve 
assumptions and risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may 
differ materially from what is expressed, implied or forecasted in such forward-looking statements. North Bud does 
not intend, and disclaims any obligation, to update any forward-looking statements after it files this Prospectus, 
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by the securities laws. These 
forward looking statements are made as of the date of this Prospectus.  
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In some cases, these forward-looking statements can be identified by words or phrases such as “may”, “might”, 
“will”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “intend”, “plan”, “indicate”, “seek”, “believe”, “predict” or “likely”, or 
the negative of these terms, or other similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. The 
Corporation has based these forward-looking statements on its current expectations and projections about future 
events and financial trends that it believes might affect its financial condition, results of operations, business strategy 
and financial needs. These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to: 

 the intention to complete the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE and all transactions related thereto; 

 the distribution by Tetra of the 15,550,000 Common Shares it currently holds to its shareholders; 

 the projected development and integration of the activities of GrowPros; 

 the Corporation’s expectations regarding its revenue, expenses and operations; 

 the Corporation’s anticipated cash needs and its needs for additional financing; 

 the Corporation’s intention to grow the business and its operations; 

 expectations with respect to future production costs and capacity; 

 expectations with respect to the approval of the Corporation’s Licences;  

 the grant and impact of any licence or supplemental licence to conduct activities with marihuana or any 
amendments thereof; 

 expectations with respect to the future growth of its medical cannabis products; 

 the Corporation’s competitive position and the regulatory environment in which the Corporation operates; 

 the Corporation’s expectations regarding the future potential of GrowPros; 

 the Corporation’s expectation that revenues derived from its operations will be sufficient to cover its 
expenses during 2018 and over the next twelve months; 

 the Corporation’s expected business objectives for the next twelve months; 

 the Corporation’s ability to obtain additional funds through the sale of equity or debt commitments; 

 the construction and development of the Venosta Facility (as defined herein) and the respective costs and 
timing associated therewith; 

Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Corporation in light of the 
experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments and other 
factors it believes are appropriate, and are subject to risks and uncertainties. In making the forward looking 
statements included in this Prospectus, the Corporation has made various material assumptions, including but not 
limited to: (i) obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals; (ii) that regulatory requirements will be maintained; 
(iii) general business and economic conditions; (iv) the Corporation’s ability to successfully execute its plans and 
intentions; (v) the availability of financing on reasonable terms; (vi) the Corporation’s ability to attract and retain 
skilled staff; (vii) market competition; (viii) the products and technology offered by the Corporation’s competitors; 
and (ix) that our current good relationships with our service providers and other third parties will be maintained. 
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Although we believe that the assumptions underlying these statements are reasonable, they may prove to be 
incorrect, and we cannot assure that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Given 
these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, prospective purchasers of Common Shares should not place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements. Whether actual results, performance or achievements will conform to 
the Corporation’s expectations and predictions is subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties, 
assumptions and other factors, including those listed under “Risk Factors”, which include: 

 the Corporation is a development stage company with little operating history, a history of losses and the 
Corporation cannot assure profitability; 

 uncertainty about the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

 the Corporation’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the 
expectations of the Management; 

 the Corporation expects to incur significant ongoing costs and obligations relating to its investment in 
infrastructure, growth, regulatory compliance and operations; 

 there are factors which may prevent the Corporation from the realization of growth targets; 

 the Corporation is not a Licensed Producer under the ACMPR; 

 the Corporation is reliant on meeting licensing requirements under the ACMPR to produce medical 
cannabis products in Canada; 

 the Corporation is subject to changes in Canadian laws regulations and guidelines which could adversely 
affect the Corporation’s future business, financial condition and results of operations; 

 the Corporation’s business plan involves a number of strategic partnerships. If these partnerships do not 
materialize, the Corporation may be unable to sell its products; 

 the Corporation may not be able to develop its products, which could prevent it from ever becoming 
profitable; 

 there is no assurance that the Corporation will turn a profit or generate revenues; 

 the Corporation may not be able to effectively manage its growth and operations, which could materially 
and adversely affect its business; 

 the Corporation may be unable to adequately protect its proprietary and intellectual property rights; 

 the Corporation may be forced to litigate to defend its intellectual property rights, or to defend against 
claims by third parties against the Corporation relating to intellectual property rights; 

 the Corporation may become subject to litigation, including for possible product liability claims, which 
may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s reputation, business, results from operations and 
financial condition; 

 the Corporation’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions in which it 
operates; 
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 the Corporation faces competition from other companies where it will conduct business that may have a 
higher capitalization, more experienced management or may be more mature as a business; 

 if the Corporation is unable to attract and retain key personnel, it may not be able to compete effectively in 
the cannabis market; 

 there is no assurance that the Corporation will obtain and retain any relevant licences; 

 failure to successfully integrate acquired businesses, its products and other assets into the Corporation, or if 
integrated, failure to further the Corporation’s business strategy, may result in the Corporation’s inability to 
realize any benefit from such acquisition; 

 the size of the Corporation’s target market is difficult to quantify and investors will be reliant on their own 
estimates on the accuracy of market data; 

 the Corporation’s industry is experiencing rapid growth and consolidation that may cause the Corporation 
to lose key relationships and intensify competition; 

 the Corporation will continue to sell securities for cash to fund operations, capital expansion, mergers and 
acquisitions that will dilute the current shareholders; 

 because the Corporation operates within the cannabis industry, it might face additional difficulties and 
complexities associated with obtaining adequate insurance coverage; 

 the cultivation of cannabis includes risks inherent in an agricultural business including the risk of crop loss, 
sudden changes in environmental conditions, equipment failure, product recalls and others; 

 the Corporation is currently reliant on a single location. Adverse changes affecting the Venosta Facility, 
development project could materially affect the Corporation’s plans; 

 the cultivation of marihuana involves a reliance on third party transportation which could result in supply 
delays, reliability of delivery and other related risks; 

 the Corporation may be subject to product recalls for product defects self-imposed or imposed by 
regulators; 

 the Corporation is reliant on key inputs, such as water and utilities, and any interruption of these services 
could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s finances and operation results; 

 the expansion of the medical cannabis industry may require new clinical research into effective medical 
therapies, when such research has been restricted in the U.S. and is new to Canada; 

 the Corporation could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and 
consultants resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Corporation; 

 the Corporation will be reliant on information technology systems and may be subject to damaging 
cyberattacks; 

 the Corporation may be subject to breaches of security at its facilities, or in respect of electronic documents 
and data storage, and may face risks related to breaches of applicable privacy laws; 
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 the Corporation’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in 
conflicts of interest; 

 in certain circumstances, the Corporation’s reputation could be damaged; 

 the Corporation is operating at a regulatory frontier. The cannabis industry is a new industry that may not 
succeed; 

 the Corporation may not be able to obtain all necessary licences and permits or complete construction of its 
facilities timely, which could, among other things, delay or prevent the Corporation from becoming 
profitable; 

 regulatory scrutiny of the Corporation’s industry may negatively impact its ability to raise additional 
capital; 

 there are fees associated with acquiring, and renewing, licences. However, the specific amount of such fees 
has yet to be determined and may vary based on several factors; 

 state and local laws and regulations may heavily regulate brands and forms of cannabis products and there 
is no guarantee that the Corporation’s proposed products and brands will be approved for sale and 
distribution; 

 the Corporation may have difficulty accessing the service of banks and processing credit card payments in 
the future, which may make it difficult for the Corporation to operate; 

 the Corporation cannot assure you that a market will develop or exist for the Common Shares or what the 
market price of the Common Shares will be; 

 the Corporation will be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE; 

 the market price for Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to 
numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control; 

 the Corporation is subject to uncertainty regarding Canadian legal and regulatory status and changes; 

 the Corporation does not anticipate paying cash dividends; 

 future sales of Common Shares by existing shareholders could reduce the market price of the Corporation’s 
shares; and 

 no guarantee on the use of available funds by the Corporation. 

These factors should not be considered exhaustive. If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if 
assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results might vary materially from 
those anticipated in those forward-looking statements.  

Information contained in forward-looking statements in this Prospectus is provided as of the date of this Prospectus, 
and we disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information or 
future events or results, except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. Accordingly, potential investors 
should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements or the information contained in those statements. 
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MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this Prospectus concerning our industry and the markets in 
which we operate, including our general expectations and market position, market opportunities and market share, is 
based on information from independent industry organizations, other third-party sources (including industry 
publications, surveys and forecasts) and management studies and estimates. 

Unless otherwise indicated, our estimates are derived from publicly available information released by independent 
industry analysts and third-party sources as well as data from our internal research, and include assumptions made 
by us which we believe to be reasonable based on our knowledge of our industry and markets. Our internal research 
and assumptions have not been verified by any independent source, and we have not independently verified any 
third-party information. While we believe the market position, market opportunity and market share information 
included in this Prospectus is generally reliable, such information is inherently imprecise. In addition, projections, 
assumptions and estimates of our future performance and the future performance of the industry and markets in 
which we operate are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, 
including those described under the heading “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”. 
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of this Prospectus and should be read together with the more 
detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. Certain capitalized 
terms and phrases used in this Prospectus are defined in the “Glossary of Terms” beginning on page 1. 

Principal Business of the Corporation 

The Corporation was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act as “10002402 Canada Inc.” on 
November 29, 2016 and changed its name to “North Bud Farms Inc.” on January 19, 2018. GrowPros, the 
Corporation’s recently acquired wholly-owned subsidiary, was created on January 1, 2015 pursuant to an 
amalgamation between GrowPros MMP Inc. and 9048073 Canada Inc.  

GrowPros is in the process of applying to Health Canada to become a Licensed Producer under the Access to 
Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (Canada) (the “ACMPR”). GrowPros submitted its application to 
become a Licensed Producer on October 16, 2014. The ACMPR licensing process includes six stages: Intake and 
Initial Screening, Detailed Review and Initiation of Security Clearance Process, Issuance of a Cultivation Licence, 
Introductory Inspection, Pre-Sales Inspection and Issuance of Licence to Sell. On February 8, 2018, GrowPros 
received its confirmation of readiness for a licence under the ACMPR (the “Confirmation of Readiness”) and is 
now in the Detailed Review and Initiation of Security Clearance Process stage and expects that it may be in a 
position to be issued the Cultivation Licence as early as January 2019. Once GrowPros becomes a Licensed 
Producer, the Corporation will be able to begin its Intended Business. For additional information see “Description of 
the Cultivation License and Licensing Requirements”. To accommodate such intended business, the Corporation 
intends to begin the development of the initial phase by building out a 25,000-square foot GMP grade indoor 
production facility, which will be located in the city of Venosta, Québec (the “Venosta Facility”). See “Corporate 
Structure”.  

Following the development of the initial phase of the Venosta Facility, and subject to compliance with applicable 
laws and approvals under ACMPR, the Corporation intends, through the activities of its wholly-owned subsidiary 
GrowPros, to focus on the development, production and distribution of GMP standardized pharma grade cannabis as 
well as food grade cannabinoid products. 

In 2015, GrowPros agreed upon a lease, with an option to acquire at fair market value, with 9329-7158 Québec Inc., 
a non arm’s length private company controlled by Ryan Brown, CEO and Director of the Corporation, on a 
130 acres farmland (the “Venosta Land”) to develop the Venosta Facility, which is intended to serve as the 
Corporation’s and GrowPros’ initial production facility for growing and cultivating medical cannabis. For additional 
information see “Use of Available Funds – Business Objective and Milestones – Phase I – The Venosta Facility”. 

On February 16, 2018, the Corporation completed the GrowPros Acquisition in accordance with the SPA, subject to 
the Resolutory Condition, pursuant to which GrowPros became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.  The 
The GrowPros Acquisition has not resulted in any changes to GrowPros’ application to become a Licensed Producer 
under the ACMPR.  See “The Business – Development – Acquisition of GrowPros”. 

On June 6, 2018, 9366-4027 Québec Inc., a non arm’s length private company controlled by 9329-7158 Québec Inc. 
acquired the Venosta Land from 9329-7158 Québec Inc. (the “Venosta Land Acquisition”). On June 7, the 
Corporation and 9329-7158 Québec Inc. entered into the Venosta SPA providing for the acquisition by the 
Corporation of all the issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. from 9329-7158 Québec Inc. 
(ultimately controlled by Mr. Brown), in consideration of the issuance of 760,000 Common Shares of the 
Corporation at a deemed price of $0.25 per share. The Venosta SPA supersedes any prior agreement related to the 
Venosta Land entered into by the Corporation, GrowPros, 9366-4027 Québec Inc., 9329-7158 Québec Inc. and Mr. 
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Brown, including the SEA. As a result, the Corporation is now the sole shareholder of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. which 
owns the Venosta Land.  

No Proceeds Raised 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus. This prospectus is being filed with the OSC for the 
purpose of allowing the Corporation to become a reporting issuer in such jurisdiction and to enable the Corporation 
to develop an organized market for its Common Shares. Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this 
Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised and all expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this 
Prospectus will be paid by the Corporation.   

The Listing 

The Corporation has applied to list its Common Shares on the CSE. Listing will be subject to the Corporation’s 
fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE, including, without limitation, the distribution of the 
Corporation’s Common Shares to a minimum number of public shareholders and the Corporation meeting the 
minimum listing requirements.  

Risk Factors 

An investment in the securities of the Corporation is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. The following 
are a summary of certain of the risk factors described elsewhere herein. Prospective purchasers should carefully 
consider the information set out under “Risk Factors” and the other information in this Prospectus before purchasing 
securities of the Corporation.  

GrowPros is Not a Licensed Producer under the ACMPR  

GrowPros has applied to Health Canada to become a Licensed Producer under the ACMPR that would enable it to 
cultivate and sell medical marihuana to patients across Canada. GrowPros has not yet received the Licences and 
there is no guarantee that it will become a Licensed Producer. Health Canada has received many applications and 
only a small fraction has been approved to date. Furthermore, the timing and success of GrowPros at the various 
steps in the licensing process is beyond its control and the sole discretion thereof lies with Health Canada. 
GrowPros’s ability to grow, store and sell medical marihuana in Canada is dependent on receiving a Cultivation 
Licence and a Sales Licence from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that GrowPros will obtain such 
Licences.  

Even if GrowPros is successful in obtaining the Cultivation Licence and the Sales Licence, such Licences will be 
subject to ongoing compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements of the Licences 
or any failure to maintain the Licences would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition 
and operating results of GrowPros. Although the Corporation believes that GrowPros will meet the requirements of 
the ACMPR, there can be no guarantee that Health Canada will grant these Licences. Should Health Canada not 
grant the Licences, the business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation would be materially 
adversely affected. To the extent such Licences are not obtained, the Corporation may be curtailed or prohibited 
from its proposed production of medical marihuana or from proceeding with the development of its operations as 
currently proposed.  
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Description of the Licenses and Licensing Requirements  

The Cultivation License gives the licensee the right to produce, possess, ship, transport, deliver and destroy dried 
cannabis and cannabis plants, as well as cannabis oil extracts. The Cultivation License is issued to the licensee for 
use only at a designated facility, in the case of GrowPros, the Venosta Facility. The Sales License may be obtained 
at the issue of the Cultivation License application process, and as a final step of that general process, as described 
below.  

As mentioned in the previous section, on February 8, 2018, GrowPros received its Confirmation of Readiness for a 
licence under the ACMPR and is now in the Detailed Review stage of the application process. The Confirmation of 
Readiness is the result of a successful Initial Screening of the application by Health Canada. At the stage of the 
initial screening, the (i) the proposed business plan; (ii) the Security Clearance Application Form and (iii) record-
keeping methods pertaining to security, Good Production Practices, inventory, and destruction methods of GrowPros 
were assessed and deemed satisfactory by Health Canada. In parallel to the Initial Screening process, Health Canada 
conducted the required security clearance process of the proposed personnel. On April 19, 2018, the Corporation 
was notified by Health Canada that all members of proposed personnel had obtained the required security clearance.  

In the course of the Detailed Review stage, GrowPros will be asked to submit specific information to Health 
Canada, which will be reviewed to: 

 complete the assessment of the application to ensure that it meets the requirements of applicable law and 
regulations; 

 establish that the issuance of the licence is not likely to create risks to public health, safety or security, 
including the risk of cannabis being diverted to an illicit market or use; and 

 establish that there are no other grounds for refusing the application. 

In the Confirmation of Readiness email that GrowPros received from the Officer of Medical Cannabis on February 
8, 2018, GrowPros was asked to confirm or provide evidence of the following items (the “Evidence Package”): 

 Confirmation of the identity of the qualified Quality Assurance Person for the proposed site;  
 The perimeter of the site is in compliance with sections 54-56 of Subdivision C of the ACMPR; 
 A facility has been built that meets the following:    

o The areas where cannabis is present are in compliance with sections 57 to 62 of Subdivision C of 
the ACMPR, with sufficient rooms/areas to allow for authorized activities. 

o A storage area is in place and functional as per section 25(2) of the ACMPR; please indicate the 
level of the storage area as per the Security Directive; and 

 Record-keeping requirements for the production of cannabis are met, particularly as per sections 160-161, 
163-166, and 169 (1)(2) of the ACMPR. 

In reviewing the Evidence Package, consideration is specifically given to GrowPros’ proposed security measures, 
including those required by Subdivision C of the ACMPR and the description of the storage area for cannabis as 
required by the Security Directive; the credentials of the proposed quality assurance person to meet the good 
production requirements outlined in Subdivision D of the ACMPR and the details listed in the quality assurance 
report relating to premises, equipment and sanitation program. Physical security plans will also be reviewed and 
assessed in detail at this stage. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Corporation has not began assembling the Evidence Package. The Corporation 
will be in a position to begin assembling the Evidence Package once the construction of the Venostra Facility 
begins, and as it progresses, and once it is completed and the Venosta Facility becomes operational. The 
construction of the Venosta Facility has not started as of the date of this Prospectus. The Corporation fully expects 
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that it will be in a position to submit the Evidence Package to the Officer of Medical Cannabis shortly following the 
completion of the Venosta Facility. 

Once the Detailed Review stage is completed, Health Canada may issue a Cultivation Licence to the applicant. As 
part of the Terms and Conditions on the licence, a Licensed Producer is required to notify Health Canada once it 
begins cultivation. Once notified, Health Canada will schedule an initial inspection to verify that the Licensed 
Producer is meeting the requirements of the ACMPR including, but not limited to, the physical security 
requirements for the site, record-keeping practices and Good Production Practices and to confirm that the activities 
being conducted by the Licensed Producer correspond to those indicated on their licence. 

Once GrowPros is issued a Cultivation Licence, in order to be authorized for the activity of sale specifically, 
GrowPros will have to undergo a Pre-Sale Inspection by Health Canada and submit an amendment application to the 
Office of Medical Cannabis. Health Canada will then schedule an inspection to verify that GrowPros, as a Licensed 
Producer, is meeting the requirements of the ACMPR including, but not limited to, Good Production Practices, 
packaging, labelling, shipping, and record keeping prior to allowing the sale or provision of product. 

To complete the assessment of the requirements of the ACMPR and establish that adding the activity of sale of 
cannabis products is not likely to create a risk to public health, safety or security, and to confirm that there are no 
other grounds for refusing the amendment application, the following information is reviewed: 

 results of the pre-sale inspection; 
 information submitted in the amendment application to add the activity of sale to the licence; and 
 any other relevant information. 

When the review is completed, an amended licence (ie. the Sales Licence), including the activity of sale, may be 
issued to the Licensed Producer. The Licensed Producer may then begin supplying cannabis products to registered 
clients, other licensed producers and/or other parties named in subsection 22(2) of the ACMPR, depending on the 
activities licensed.  

Based on its knowledge of the licensing process under the ACMPR, the Corporation expects that it will be in a 
position to obtain its Cultivation Licence by January 2019, and its Sales License by December 2019. The Detailed 
Review stage will be completed once the Corporation completes that construction of a site and production facility 
that is compliant with the requirements listed above. Based on its projected construction timeline, the Corporation 
expects that the construction of the Venosta Facility will be completed by the end of 2018, and that at that time it 
will have satisfied all of the requirements found in the Confirmation of Readiness and will be in a position to submit 
the Evidence Package to the Officer of Medical Cannabis. The Corporation has been able to observe that in the case 
of other Cultivation License applicants, the Cultivation License was issued as early as four to five weeks following 
the submission of the complete Evidence Package to the Officer of Medical Cannabis, allowing GrowPros and the 
Corporation to project the possible issuance of GrowPros’ Cultivation License as early as January 2019. In these 
same cases, the Sales License was issued approximately one year following the issuance of the Cultivation License, 
allowing GrowPros and the Corporation to project the possible issuance of GrowPros’ Sales Licence as early as 
December 2019. This proposed timeline is only an estimate of management of the Corporation based on its 
observations and knowledge of the licensing process under the ACMPR and could vary significantly. For additional 
information see “Use of Available Funds – The Venosta Facility, and Risk Factors – Venosta Facilty; Construction 
Risk Factors; Reliance on a Single Facility; and The Corporation is reliant the obtention of the Licences to produce 
medical cannabis products in Canada.” 
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Licence Renewal Processes 

Once GrowPros obtains the Licenses, any adverse changes or events affecting the construction of the Venosta 
Facility, or the facility itself once built, could have a material and adverse effect on GrowPros ability to continue 
producing medical cannabis, its business, financial condition and prospects. See ‘‘Risk Factors — Reliance on a 
Single Location’’ 

Once GrowPros receives the Licences, before the expiration of the expiry date stipulated on the Licences, GrowPros 
must submit an application for renewal to Health Canada containing information prescribed by the ACMPR.  

The ACMPR requires that the Minister of Health, after examining the application and any supplementary 
information requested, issue a renewed Licence, unless: 

(a) the applicant is not an adult who ordinarily resides in Canada or a corporation that has its head office in 
Canada or operates a branch office in Canada and whose officers and directors are all adults;  

(b) the requirements regarding notification of local authorities pursuant to the ACMPR have not been met 
(such notifications would only be required in connection with a renewal if there are changes to the 
information since the original application);  

(c) an inspector, who has requested an inspection, has not been given the opportunity by the applicant to 
conduct an inspection; 

(d) the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that false or misleading information or false or falsified 
documents were submitted in or with the application;  

(e) information received from a peace officer, a competent authority or the United Nations raises reasonable 
grounds to believe that the applicant has been involved in the diversion of a controlled substance or 
precursor to an illicit market or use;  

(f) the applicant does not have in place the security measures set out in the Security Directive and Subdivision 
C of the ACMPR in respect of an activity for which the licence is sought;  

(g) the applicant is in contravention of or has contravened in the past 10 years:  

i. a provision of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (the ‘‘CDSA’’) or its regulations or the 
Food and Drugs Act, or  

ii. a term or condition of another licence or a permit issued to it under any of those regulations; 

(h)  the renewal of the licence would likely create a risk to public health, safety or security, including the risk 
of cannabis being diverted to an illicit market or use;  

(i) any of the following persons does not hold a security clearance:  

i. the senior person in charge,  

ii. the responsible person in charge,  

iii. if applicable, the alternate responsible person in charge,  

iv. if the applicant is an individual, that individual, and  
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v. if the applicant is a corporation, any of its officers or directors;  

(j) the proposed method of record keeping does not meet the requirements of the ACMPR; or  

(k) if applicable, any supplemental information requested has not been provided or is insufficient to process the 
application.  

There can be no guarantee that Health Canada will extend or renew the Licences as necessary or, if it extended or 
renewed, that the Licences will be extended or renewed on the same or similar terms.  

Should Health Canada not extend or renew the Licences, or should it renew the Licences on different terms, the 
business, financial condition and results of the operation of GrowPros would be materially adversely affected. See 
‘‘Risk Factors — The Corporation is reliant the obtention of the Licences to produce medical cannabis products in 
Canada”. 

Regulatory Risks  

The Corporation operates in a new industry which is highly regulated and is in a market that is very competitive and 
evolving rapidly. GrowPros’ ability to grow, store and sell medical marihuana in Canada is dependent on the 
Licences from Health Canada and the need to maintain the Licences in good standing. Failure to comply with the 
requirements of the Licences or any failure to maintain these Licences would have a material adverse impact on the 
business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation.  

The Corporation will incur ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to comply with 
regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions on the Corporation’s 
operations. In addition, changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events 
could require extensive changes to the Corporation’s operations, increased compliance costs or give rise to material 
liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and operating results of 
the Corporation.  

The industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations, which may significantly affect the financial condition 
of market participants. The marketability of any product may be affected by numerous factors that are beyond the 
Corporation’s control and which cannot be predicted, such as changes to government regulations, including those 
relating to taxes and other government levies which may be imposed. Changes in government levies, including 
taxes, could reduce the Corporation’s earnings and could make future capital investments or the Corporation’s 
operations uneconomical. The industry is also subject to numerous legal challenges, which may significantly affect 
the financial condition of market participants and which cannot be reliably predicted. 

Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines  

The Corporation’s operations are subject to various laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the manufacture, 
management, packaging/labelling, advertising, sale, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marihuana but 
also including laws and regulations relating to drug, controlled substances, health and safety, the conduct of 
operations and the protection of the environment. While to the knowledge of Management, other than routine 
corrections that may be required by Health Canada from time to time, the Corporation is currently in compliance 
with all such laws. Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines due to matters beyond the control of the 
Corporation may cause adverse effects to its operations.  

The Corporation endeavours to comply with all relevant laws, regulations and guidelines. To the Corporation’s 
knowledge, it is in compliance or in the process of being assessed for compliance with all such laws, regulations and 
guidelines as described elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
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Limited Operating History  

GrowPros entered the medical marihuana industry in 2014. The Corporation is therefore subject to many of the risks 
common to early-stage enterprises, including limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and 
lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ 
investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early stage of operations.  

History of Net Losses  

GrowPros has incurred operating losses since incorporation. The Corporation may not be able to achieve or maintain 
profitability and may continue to incur significant losses into the future. In addition, the Corporation expects to 
continue to increase operating expenses as it implements initiatives to grow its business. If the Corporation does not 
generate revenues to offset these expected increases in costs and operating expenses, the Corporation will not be 
profitable. 

Negative Operating Cash Flow  

GrowPros did not generate operating revenue and historically has had negative cash flow from operating activities. 
It is anticipated that the Corporation will continue to have negative cash flows in the foreseeable future. Continued 
losses may have the following consequences:  

 increasing the Corporation’s vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;  

 limiting the Corporation’s ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital 
 expenditures, operating costs and other general corporate requirements; and  

 limited the Corporation’s flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its business and the industry.  
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Summary Financial Information 

The following selected financial information has been derived from and is qualified in its entirety by the Corporation 
Financial Statements and the GrowPros Financial Statements, and the notes thereto (included respectively at 
Schedule A and B to this Prospectus), and should be read in conjunction with the respective management’s 
discussion and analysis thereto, attached respectively at Schedule A and Schedule B hereto.   

 GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2015 

(unaudited) 
($) 

GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2016 

(unaudited) 
($) 

GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2017 

(audited) ($) 

GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 

Six Months 
Ended May 

31, 2018 
(unaudited) 

($) 

Corporation for 
Period from 

November 29, 
2016 Ended 

November 30, 
2016  

(audited) ($) 

Corporation 
for Year 
Ended 

November 30, 
2017 

(audited) ($) 

Corporation 
for Six 
Months 

Ended May 
31, 2018 

(unaudited) 
($) 

Revenue – – – – – – –

Total Expenses 531,711 261,886 55,294 4,000 – – 120,261

Net Income 
(Loss) 

(477,820) (207,810) (55,294) (4,000) – – (120,261)

 

Current assets  26,064 5,918 913 913 1 1 1,351,881

Total Assets 39,963 5,918 913 913 1 1 3,338,069

Total liabilities  270,182 18,746 12,065 12,065 – – 208,329

Shareholders’ 
equity 
(deficiency) 

(230,219) (12,828) (11,152) (11,152) 1 1 3,129,740

 

See “Selected Financial Information”.  
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Name, Address and Incorporation 

On January 1, 2015, GrowPros was created pursuant to the amalgamation of GrowPros MMP Inc. and 9048073 
Canada Inc. under the Canada Business Corporations Act (“CBCA”) as “GrowPros MMP Inc.” 

On November 29, 2016, the Corporation was incorporated under the CBCA as “10002402 Canada Inc.”. On 
January 19, 2018, the Corporation amended its articles to change its name to “North Bud Farms Inc.”. On February 
16, 2018, the Corporation completed the GrowPros Acquisition, subject to the Resolutory Condition, and, as a 
result, GrowPros became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.  As at the date hereof, the Corporation has 
fulfilled its obligations in connection with the GrowPros Acquisition and the Resolutory Condition has lapsed. 

On June 7, 2018, the Corporation acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. from 
9329-7158 Québec Inc. in the Venosta SPA. As a result, 9366-4027 Québec Inc. is now a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Corporation. 

The Corporation’s registered and head office is located at 181 Bay Street, Suite 4400, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2T3. 

Intercorporate Relationships 

GrowPros and 9366-4027 Québec Inc. are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Corporation.  GrowPros is the 
Cultivation Licence applicant while 9366-4027 Québec Inc. owns the Venosta Land. The Corporation does not hold 
any other subsidiaries.  The corporate structure of the Corporation is outlined in the diagram below and is current as 
at the date of filing of this Prospectus. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

North Bud Capital Holdings Ltd. is one of the founding shareholders of the Corporation, and its largest shareholder, 
holding 7,000,000 Class A Common shares.  North Bud Capital Holdings Ltd. is a private company, incorporated 
under the CBCA, that is in the business of identifying and funding venture capital structured deals in the legal 
cannabis space.  North Bud Capital Holdings Ltd. initial seed investment in the Corporation is consistent with its 
corporate objectives.  Messrs. Ryan Brown and Andre Audet, who are directors and officers of the Corporation, are 
also shareholders and directors of North Bud Capital Holdings Ltd. 

100%

North Bud Farms Inc. 

(Canada)

GrowPros MMP Inc. 

(Canada) 

100%

9366-4027 Québec Inc. 

(Quebec)
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THE BUSINESS 

Overview 

GrowPros, since incorporation, has been involved in preparing and filing its application to Health Canada to become 
a Licenced Producer. The ACMPR licensing process includes six stages: Intake and Initial Screening, Detailed 
Review and Initiation of Security Clearance Process, Issuance of Licence to Produce, Introductory Inspection, Pre-
Sales Inspection and Issuance of Licence to Sell. On February 8, 2018, GrowPros received the Confirmation of 
Readiness for a licence under the ACMPR, which is the first step of the Detailed Review and Initiation of Security 
Clearance Process. Once GrowPros is issued a Licence to Produce, the Venosta Facility located in Venosta, Quebec, 
will serve not only as the Corporation’s initial production facility for growing and cultivating medicinal cannabis, 
but also as the Corporation’s principal distribution center. For additional information see “Use of Available Funds – 
Business Objective and Milestones – Phase I – The Venosta Facility”. The issuance of the Licences under the 
ACMPR is dependent in part upon the successful completion of the licensing process with Health Canada including 
the Introductory Inspection and Pre-Sales Inspection of the Venosta Facility, upon completion. The construction of 
the Venosta Facility has not started as of the date of this Prospectus. 

Management has estimated that it could be issued the Cultivation Licence as early as January 2019, and the Sales 
Licence as early December 2019. For additional information see “Risk Factors – Description of the Licences and 
Licensing Requirements”. 

Once the Licences are obtained, the Corporation is of the opinion that it will be in a good position to begin operating 
rapidly given the fact that the entering into a supply agreement with Tetra is one of the conditions attached to the 
SPA between the Corporation and Tetra. Such a supply agreement would allow the Corporation to position itself 
within the Canadian medical marihuana supply market and allow the Corporation to eventually acquire more clients 
and support its business model. 

The Corporation intends to position itself as a low cost and high quality producer of GMP standardized pharma 
grade cannabis, as well as food grade cannabinoid products for both the pharmaceutical market and the recreational 
cannabis markets in Canada (the “Intended Business”). 

As shown in other legal jurisdictions (Colorado, Washington, Nevada, California), the Corporation has identified 
the infused edible and consumable cannabis product market as one of the highest margin segments of the cannabis 
industry, and intends to position itself as a producer of raw input for this market specifically.  

It is through its subsidiary GrowPros that the Corporation will focus on the development, production and distribution 
of raw cannabis input. Once GrowPros obtains the Licences, the Corporation will be able to undertake its Intended 
Business. 

To accommodate such Intended Business and to comply with the ACMPR production requirements, the Corporation 
also intends to begin the Phase I build out of a 25,000-square foot GMP grade indoor production facility which will 
be located on the Venosta Land. 

The Corporation is not engaging in U.S. marihuana-related activities that are illegal under U.S. federal law, or any 
Marihuana-Related Activities outside of Canada.  

The Canadian Securities Administrators Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) – Issuers with U.S. Marihuana-Related 
Activities dated February 8, 2018 (the “Staff Notice”) does not apply to the Corporation. The Corporation is neither 
directly nor indirectly involved in the U.S. marihuana industry in that it is not engaged in the cultivation or 
distribution of marihuana in a U.S. state pursuant to a U.S. state license nor does it have a non-controlling 
investment in an entity that is cultivating or distributing marihuana pursuant to a U.S. state license. Additionally, the 



21 

 

Corporation does not have any ancillary involvement in the U.S. marihuana industry (as contemplated in the Staff 
Notice) in that it does not provide goods or services to third parties who are directly engaged in the cultivation or 
distribution of marihuana pursuant to a U.S. state license.  

The Corporation does not have any plans to engage in any U.S. marihuana-related activities as contemplated in the 
Staff Notice. 

Development  

The Corporation is in the early stages of development of its Intended Business. At this stage, the Corporation and 
GrowPros have achieved the following operational milestones: 

Health Canada Licence Application 

On October 16, 2014, GrowPros submitted an application to Health Canada to obtain a licence to produce and 
supply medical marihuana under the ACMPR and is now in the second stage of the application review process. 

Acquisition of GrowPros  

On February 16, 2018, the Corporation entered into the SPA and acquired 100% of the shares of GrowPros from 
Tetra, in exchange for $350,000 in cash and 15,000,000 Common Shares.  

The SPA was structured as a sale with a resolutory condition. A “resolutory condition” is a Quebec civil law concept 
pursuant to which a contract may be retroactively undone, as if it had never occurred, if a pre-determined 
“resolutory condition” occurs after the contract has been concluded. In principle, if a resolutory condition becomes 
fulfilled, the parties to a contract must each return the prestation/consideration they had received pursuant to the 
underlying obligation of the contract as though the obligation had never existed.  

The resolutory condition contained in the SPA provides that the GrowPros Acquisition will be deemed to have never 
occurred and for (i) the return of the GrowPros shares to Tetra, (ii) the cancellation of the 15,000,000 Common 
Shares issued to Tetra as partial consideration pursuant to the GrowPros Acquisition, and (iii) the forfeiture by 
GrowPros of the $350,000 non refundable cash payment to Tetra, in the event of the non-receipt by the Corporation 
by 11:59 p.m. on August 31, 2018 of any of (i) the CSE Approval and (ii) the clearance for filing of the final 
prospectus from the OSC (the “Resolutory Condition”). 

The date of the Resolutory Condition had initially been identified as June 30, 2018. On June 28, 2018, the SPA was 
amended to change the date of the Resolutory Condition to July 31, 2018.  On July 31, 2018, the SPA was amended 
a second time to change the date of the Resolutory Condition to August 31, 2018 (the “July 31 Amendment”).  As 
at the date hereof, the Corporation has fulfilled its obligations in connection with the GrowPros Acquisition and the 
Resolutory Condition has lapsed. 

The Corporation and Tetra agreed to enter into the SPA in order to allow the Corporation to acquire GrowPros and 
continue to develop it. In the years prior to the SPA, Tetra had decided to divest its medical marihuana production 
division to focus its activities on its core activity, the cannabinoid-based drug discovery and development based on 
clinical trials, and as a result had not allocated as many resources to the activities of GrowPros, including its 
application to Health Canada to obtain a Licence to Produce marihuana. Through the GrowPros Acquisition the 
Corporation intends to deploy greater resources and therefore expects to be in a better position to develop GrowPros 
and build up the Intended Business around it.  

Under the July 31 Amendment, it was further agreed by the Corporation and Tetra, that the Corporation would issue 
550,000 additional Common Shares to Tetra as consideration under the SPA. This measure was agreed to by the 
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Corporation and Tetra so as to respect the anti-dilution covenant found in the SPA, which stipulated that Tetra 
should maintain ownership over a number of Common Shares representing at least 30% of all issued and 
outstanding shares of the Corporation on a non-diluted basis following the GrowPros Acquisition and immediately 
prior to the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE. As a result of the issuance of the 550,000 additional Common 
Shares to Tetra, Tetra owns 15,550,000 Common Shares representing 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
the Corporation. 

Tetra intends to complete the Dividend Distribution, concurrently with the listing of the Common Shares on the 
CSE, the whole subject to (i) approval by the board of directors of Tetra, (ii) regulatory approvals, if any, and (iii) 
applicable law. 

The parties agreed to include the proposed Dividend Distribution as part of the GrowPros Acquisition to achieve two 
purposes: (i) enable the Corporation to meet its public distribution requirements for listing its Common Shares on 
the CSE; and (ii) provide value to Tetra shareholders in respect of an asset that Tetra was no longer developing itself 
and allow them to participate in potential future value of the Corporation, if the Corporation was able to deliver on 
its business plan and obtain the appropriate Licences under the ACMPR.   

The founders of the Corporation, Ryan Brown and André Audet, were also founders of Tetra (formerly known as 
“GrowPros Cannabis Ventures Inc.” until September 2016).  Mr. Brown was the founder, sole director and CEO of 
GrowPros in 2014 at the time that it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tetra and continued in such capacity 
until November 2016, however he continued to be involved in assisting GrowPros with its application under the 
ACMPR, and has resumed the function of President and a director of GrowPros as a result of the GrowPros 
Acquisition.  Mr. Audet was not a director or officer of GrowPros prior to the GrowPros Acquisition and is now the 
secretary and a director of GrowPros.  Mr. Brown was the CEO of Tetra from January 2015 until November 2016 
and a director from January 2015 until September 2016.  Mr. Audet was a director and the Chairman of Tetra (as 
well as its predecessor entities) from 2008 until September 2017, and was the President and CEO of Mazorro 
Resources Inc. (a predecessor entity to Tetra) from October 2012 until January 2015.  None of the officers or 
directors of the Corporation are officers or directors of Tetra.  Beyond the Common Shares that Tetra currently 
owns, the Corporation and Tetra intend to enter into a supply agreement through which the Corporation would 
supply medical-grade cannabis to Tetra once it obtains its Licences. The directors and officers of Tetra will 
otherwise have no involvement in the ongoing existence of either GrowPros or the Corporation and will not be 
considered “insiders” of the Corporation. (see Risk Factors - Limited Recourse against Tetra in GrowPros 
Acquisition ) 

Hiring of Key Personnel  

In January 2018, Steve Abboud joined the Corporation as a consulting cultivation specialist. 

Acquisition of the Venosta Land  

On June 6, 2018, 9366-4027 Québec Inc., a non arm’s length private company controlled by 9329-7158 Québec Inc. 
acquired the Venosta Land from 9329-7158 Québec Inc. (the “Venosta Land Acquisition”). On June 7, the 
Corporation and 9329-7158 Québec Inc. (ultimately controlled by Mr. Brown) entered into the Venosta SPA 
providing for the acquisition by the Corporation of all the issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. 
from 9329-7158 Québec Inc., in consideration of the issuance of 760,000 Common Shares of the Corporation at a 
deemed price of $0.25 per share. The Venosta SPA supersedes any prior agreement related to the Venosta Land 
entered into by the Corporation, GrowPros, 9366-4027 Québec Inc., 9329-7158 Québec Inc. and Mr. Brown, 
including the SEA. As a result, the Corporation is now the sole shareholder of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. which owns 
the Venosta Land.  
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Financings 

On January 15, 2018, the Corporation completed an initial non-brokered private placement for gross proceed of 
$500,000, consisting of 10,000,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.05. 

On February 14, 2018, the Corporation completed a second non-brokered private placement of $1,100,000, 
consisting of 11,000,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.10. 

On April 20, 2018, the Corporation completed a third non-brokered private placement of $150,000, consisting of 
1,500,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.10. 

On July 25, 2018 the Corporation completed the Concurrent Financing by issuing an aggregate of 12,958,000 units, 
at a price of $0.25 per unit, to raise gross proceeds of $3,239,500.  Each unit consists of one Common Share in the 
capital of the Corporation and one-half (½) of one Common Share purchase warrant, with each whole Warrant 
entitling the holder thereof to acquire one additional Common Share at a price of $0.40 per share for a period of 
twenty-four (24) months following the date upon which the Common Shares are listed for trading on a recognized 
stock exchange in North America. 

Employees, Specialized Skill and Knowledge 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Corporation has seven individuals working. The operations of the Corporation 
are managed by its directors and officers.  

The Corporation’s directors and officers possess a wide range of professional skills and relevant to pursuing and 
executing its business strategy. In addition, the Corporation has available to it various specialized consultants to 
assist in various areas where full time employees are not required. These professional skills include, but are not 
limited to, large-scale production of cannabis, marketing, financial and business skills.  

Drawing on significant experience in the cannabis industry, the Corporation believes that its Management has a 
gathered all of the key components for the successful development of its Intended Business, such as strong technical 
skills, expertise in planning and financial controls, ability to execute on business development opportunities, capital 
markets expertise, and entrepreneurial experience which will allow the Corporation to effectively identify, evaluate 
and execute on value added initiatives.  

Competitive Conditions  

The cannabis industry is highly competitive. The Corporation will encounter competition from other producers in: 
producing a stable supply of GMP standardized pharma grade as well as food grade cannabis; securing contracts 
with authorized buyers, and for capital to finance such activities. Many of these competitors have financial resources 
and personnel resources available to them that are substantially larger than that of the Corporation. See “Risk 
Factors”. 

Environmental Protection 

The Corporation is committed to high environmental standards and carries out its activities and operations in 
compliance with all relevant and applicable environmental regulations and best industry practices. Costs of 
environmental regulatory compliance are not expected to be significant. 
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Industry and Regulatory Overview 

Medical cannabis and cannabinoid products – continued growth 

Since the legalization of medical cannabis use in Canada, the number of patients using cannabis for medical 
purposes has increased consistently. According to Health Canada, as of the end of December 2017, there were 
269,502 patients enrolled under the ACMPR to use cannabis for medical purposes in Canada, compared to the 
174,503 patients registered in April 2017.1   

These numbers are expected to keep rising steadily especially given the increasing social acceptability of cannabis 
use for medical purposes, and the continuous development of new therapeutic products and delivery methods.  

Recreational cannabis and cannabinoid products - opportunity for Licensed Producers 

On April 20, 2016, the Government of Canada announced its intention to introduce new legislation to legalize the 
recreational use of cannabis in Canada.  

On April 13, 2017, Bill C-45, An Act respecting cannabis and to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, 
the Criminal Code and other Acts (“Bill C-45” or the “Cannabis Act”), was introduced. Bill C-45 provides a 
licensing regime for the production, testing, packaging, labeling, sending, delivery, transportation, sale, advertising 
and marketing, possession and disposal of recreational cannabis, to be implemented by regulations made under the 
Cannabis Act. It is proposed that provincial legislation will implement measures authorizing the sale of recreational 
cannabis by a person authorized under the Bill C-45 to produce cannabis for commercial purposes. The transitional 
provisions of the Bill C-45 provide that every licence issued under section 35 of the ACMPR that is in force 
immediately before the day on which the Bill C-45 comes into force is deemed to be a licence issued under the Bill 
C-45, and that such licence will continue in force until it is revoked or expires. This means that a Licensed Producer 
under the ACMPR would be in an advantageous position to supply the recreational market.  

On June 19, 2018, the Senate passed Bill C-45.  On June 20, 2018, it was announced that marihuana would be legal 
by October 17.  On June 21, 2018, the Government of Canada announced that Bill C-45 received Royal Assent.  

The Government of Canada indicated that the licensing scheme will be implemented by regulations made under Bill 
C-45.  Indeed, on July 11, 2018, Regulations to support the coming into force of the Cannabis Act were published.  
The Cannabis Regulations provide for the issuance of licences required for cultivating and processing cannabis, the 
sale of cannabis for medical purposes and analytical testing and research in relation to cannabis.  These licences will 
be subject to various general requirements as well as conditions specific to the activities and sub-activities they 
authorize.  The Cannabis Regulations also allow license and permit holders to import and export cannabis for 
scientific or medical purposes. 

Transitional provisions of the Cannabis Act provide that every license issued under Section 35 of the ACMPR that is 
in force immediately before the day on which the Cannabis Act comes into force is deemed to be a licence issued 
under the Cannabis Act, and that such licence will continue in force until it is revoked or expires. 

Summary of the ACMPR 

The ACMPR replaced the Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations (the “MMPR”) as the governing 
regulations in respect of the production, sale and distribution of medical cannabis and related oil extracts. The 

                                                           

1 https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/medical-use-marihuana/licensed-producers/market-data.html 
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ACMPR effectively combines the regulations and requirements of the MMPR, the Marihuana Medical Access 
Regulations and the section 56 exemptions relating to cannabis oil under the CDSA into one set of regulations. In 
addition, among other things, the ACMPR sets out the process patients are required to follow to obtain authorization 
from Health Canada to grow cannabis and to acquire seeds or plants from Licensed Producers to grow their own 
cannabis. Under the ACMPR, patients have three options for obtaining cannabis: 

(a) they can continue to access quality-controlled cannabis by registering with Licensed Producers; 

(b) they can register with Health Canada to produce a limited amount of cannabis for their own medical 
purposes; or 

(c) they can designate someone else to produce it for them. 

With respect to (b) and (c), starting materials, such as plants or seeds, must be obtained from Licensed Producers. It 
is possible that (b) and (c) could significantly reduce the addressable market for the Corporation’s products and 
could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation. 
That said, management of the Corporation believes that many patients may be deterred from opting to proceed with 
options (b) or (c) since such steps require applying for and obtaining registration from Health Canada to grow 
cannabis, as well as the up-front costs of obtaining equipment and materials to produce such cannabis. 

Reporting Requirements under the ACMPR 

As described under the ACMPR (see Part 1, Division 5 of the ACMPR), Licensed Producers are required to keep 
records of, among other things, their activities with cannabis, including all transactions (sale, exportation, and 
importation), all fresh or dried marihuana or cannabis oils returned from clients, and an inventory of cannabis (e.g. 
seeds, fresh harvested marihuana, dried marihuana, packaged marihuana, packaged marihuana seeds, cannabis oil, 
marihuana plants destined to be sold or provided). All records have to be kept for a period of at least two years, in a 
format that will be easily auditable, and must be made available to Health Canada upon request. All communications 
regarding reports for healthcare licensing authorities, including both those sent and received, are also subject to this 
two year requirement. 

A Licensed Producer must provide Health Canada with a case report for each serious adverse reaction to fresh or 
dried marihuana or cannabis oil within 15 days of the Licensed Producer becoming aware of the reaction. A 
Licensed Producer must annually prepare and maintain a summary report that contains a concise and critical 
analysis of all adverse reactions that have occurred during the previous 12 months (the serious adverse reaction 
reports and the summary reports must be retained by the Licensed Producer for a period of 25 years after the day on 
which they were made). 

Health Canada released an Information Bulletin titled, “Licensed Producers’ Reporting Requirements” to provide an 
overview of the information Licensed Producers must provide to Health Canada on a monthly basis. Licensed 
Producers must provide, among other requirements, the following information to the Office of Controlled 
Substances for the previous month on or before the 15th day of each month: 

(a) With respect to fresh and dried marihuana, cannabis oil, cannabis seeds and marihuana plants, Licensed 
Producers must report the amounts produced, as well as the amounts received from another Licensed 
Producer as follows: 

i. total amount produced in the reporting period; 

i. amount released for sale in the reporting period; 
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ii. amount of fresh and dried marihuana produced in the reporting period and intended for 
extraction activities; and 

iii. amount received from other Licensed Producers during the reporting period; 

(b) With respect to fresh and dried marihuana, cannabis oil, cannabis seeds and marihuana plants, Licensed 
Producers must report the total amount sold or transferred to the following during the reporting period: 

i. registered clients; 

ii.  other Licensed Producers; and 

iii. licensed dealers; 

(c) Number of clients registered (including breakdowns of different types of clients); 

(d) Number of clients registered by province or territory of residence (including breakdowns of different types 
of clients); 

(e) Number of refused registrations and refusals to fill order; 

(f) With respect to fresh and dried marihuana and cannabis oil, Licensed Producers must report as of the final 
day of the reporting period the amounts held in inventory as follows: 

i. total amount held in inventory; 

ii. amount intended for sale but not yet approved held in inventory; 

iii. amount approved for sale held in inventory; 

iv. amount of samples in inventory; and 

v. amount of fresh and dried marihuana intended for extraction activities held in inventory; 

(g) With respect to cannabis seeds and marihuana plants, Licensed Producers must report: 

i. the total number of plants held in inventory; 

ii. the number of plants destined to be sold as starting material held in inventory; 

iii. the total weight of seeds held in inventory; and 

iv. the number and weight of seeds destined to be sold as starting material held in inventory; 

(h) Licensed Producers must also include in their report the total amounts ready to be destroyed, but still held 
in inventory on the final day of the reporting period; 

(i) Total amount of cannabis imported during the reporting period; 

(j) Total amount of cannabis exported during the reporting period; 

(k) Total amount of cannabis lost or stolen during the reporting period; 
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(l) With respect to fresh and dried marihuana, cannabis oil, cannabis seeds and marihuana plants, Licensed 
Producers must report the total amount: 

i. that was destroyed during the reporting period; and 

ii. of waste (e.g., plants, leaves, twigs) destroyed during the reporting period; 

(m) With respect to fresh and dried marihuana, cannabis oil, cannabis seeds and marihuana plants, Licensed 
Producers must report the total amount returned from clients during the reporting period; 

(n) Licensed Producers must report the total number of shipments sent to the following during the reporting 
period: 

i. registered clients; 

ii. registered clients for interim supply; 

iii. other Licensed Producers; and 

iv. licensed dealers; 

(o) Licensed Producers must report the total number of shipments sent to the following in each province and 
territory: 

i. registered clients; 

ii. registered clients for interim supply; 

iii. other Licensed Producers; and 

iv.  licensed dealers; 

(p) Average daily amount of marihuana for medical purposes authorized; 

(q) Median daily amount of marihuana for medical purposes authorized; 

(r) Average shipment size sent to registered clients during the reporting period; 

(s) Median shipment size sent to registered clients during the reporting period; 

(t) List of ten highest unique daily authorized amounts and the frequency with which they occur; 

(u) List of daily authorized amounts in specified increments: 

i. 0 to 1 grams; 

ii. 1.1 to 2 grams; 

iii. 2.1 to 3 grams; 

iv. 3.1 to 4 grams; 
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v. 4.1 to 5 grams; 

vi. 5 to 10 grams; 

vii. 10 to 15 grams; and 

viii. > 15 grams; 

(v) Total number of shipments to registered clients per each 10 gram interval between 0 and 150 grams; 

(w) List of all health care practitioners who have completed medical documents for cannabis for medical  
purposes for registered clients and their location; 

(x) List of all nurse practitioners who have completed medical documents for cannabis for medical purposes 
for registered clients and their location; 

(y) Cannabis with which they are conducting R&D activities; and 

(z) Activities with respect to cannabis products, other than marihuana or cannabis oil (e.g. cannabis resin). 

Recent Regulatory Developments 

Federal Developments 

On December 13, 2016, the Task Force on Cannabis Legalization and Regulation (the “Task Force”), which was 
established by the Canadian Federal Government to seek input on the design of a new system to legalize, strictly 
regulate and restrict access to cannabis, published its report outlining its recommendations. On April 13, 2017, the 
Canadian Federal Government released Bill C-45, which proposed to regulate the production, distribution and sale 
of cannabis for medical and unqualified adult use.  

On October 3, 2017, the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Health (the “HESA”) proposed amendments to the 
Cannabis Act to provide, among other things, that edibles containing cannabis and cannabis concentrates would be 
added to the classes of cannabis an authorized person may sell. In addition, HESA’s proposed amendments provide 
that a framework for the sale of edibles and cannabis concentrates would be implemented within a year of the 
Cannabis Act coming into force. HESA’s proposed amendments were incorporated into Bill C-45. 

On November 21, 2017, Health Canada released a consultation paper entitled “Proposed Approach to the Regulation 
of Cannabis” (the “Proposed Regulations”). Interested stakeholders were invited to share their views on the 
Proposed Regulations until January 20, 2018. On March 19, 2018, Health Canada published a summary of the 
comments received on the Proposed Regulations as well as some proposed additions to the regulatory proposal (the 
“Summary of Comments”). 

The Proposed Regulations were divided into the following seven major categories: 

1. Licences, Permits and Authorizations; 

2. Security Clearances; 

3. Cannabis Tracking System; 

4. Cannabis Products; 
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5. Packaging and Labelling; 

6. Cannabis for Medical Purposes; and 

7. Health Products and Cosmetics Containing Cannabis. 

On June 7, 2018, Bill-C45 passed the third reading in the Senate with a number of amendments to the language of 
the Cannabis Act. More specifically, the Senate proposed, inter alia:  

(a) establishing a committee of the Senate and a committee of the House of Commons to undertake a 
comprehensive review of the administration and operation of the Cannabis Act;  

(b) assisting provinces and territories to facilitate the development of workplace impairment policies;  

(c) allowing provinces to place restrictions on the ability of individuals to engage in home cultivation;  

(d) that law enforcement be provided with the appropriate tools and resources to address concerns about 
continued illicit production, diversion, and sale of cannabis to youth, including preventing the sharing of 
marihuana among young adults by rendering it a ticketable offence;  

(e) that the prices set for cannabis products and the applicable taxes reflect the dual objective of minimizing 
the health dangers of cannabis consumption and undercutting the illicit market of cannabis;  

(f) mandatory health warnings for cannabis products, including warnings about the danger of smoking 
cannabis, the danger of exposure to second-hand cannabis smoke, and the risks of combining cannabis and 
tobacco;  

(g) testing procedures for THC content be standardized to ensure accurate measurement to better protect 
consumer health and safety;  

(h) that forthcoming regulations for edible products and other forms of cannabis ensure that product 
packaging is child-resistant and does not appeal to young people, and that the type of available products 
should be strictly limited;  

(i) adequate and ongoing funding for sustained, evidence-based cannabis education and prevention 
programs to provide Canadians, especially young Canadians, with knowledge about the health risks of 
cannabis use, including on-going research initiatives on the impact of cannabis use on the developing brain; 
and that the federal government commit to on-going educational initiatives to ensure youth are informed on 
the effects of cannabis use;  

(j) to prohibit licensees under the Cannabis Act to distribute branded merchandise, such as T-shirts and 
baseball caps and imposing a moratorium on loosening the regulations on the branding, marketing, and 
promotion of cannabis for 10 years;  

(k) to set aggressive targets, comparable to the successful Federal Tobacco Control Strategy, to reduce the 
number of youth and adult cannabis users; and   

(l) to ensure that the Cannabis Tracking System be operational upon the coming-into-force of the Cannabis 
Act. 

In total, forty six (46) amendments were proposed by the Senate and submitted to the House of Commons on June 
13, 2018. The House of Commons rejected 13 amendments proposed by the Senate, including (i) an amendment 
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which proposed allowing provinces to prohibit home cultivation of marihuana plants; (ii) the prohibition of any 
marihuana branded promotional materials; (iii) setting limits on the quantities of THC permissible in products; and 
(iv) the provision of expanded power to require security clearances.  

The House of Commons effectively accepted the remaining thirty-three (33) technical amendments made by the 
Senate and returned the bill to the Senate for a vote. On June 19, 2018, the Senate passed Bill C-45. On June 20, 
2018, it was announced that marihuana would be legal by October 17. On June 21, 2018, the Government of Canada 
announced that Bill C-45 received Royal Assent. The Corporation now expects that Bill-C-45 will come into force 
on October 17, 2018.  

The Corporation cannot yet establish with certainty how the government of the province and territories will respond 
to the passage of Bill C-45. See Provincial and Territorial Developments and Risk Factors - The Corporation is 
subject to changes in Canadian laws, regulations and guidelines which could adversely affect the Corporation’s 
future business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Licences, Permits and Authorizations 

The Proposed Regulations would establish different types of authorizations based on the activity being undertaken 
and, in some cases, the scale of the activity. Rules and requirements for different categories of authorized activities 
are intended to be proportional to the public health and safety risks posed by each category of activity. The types of 
proposed authorizations include: (i) cultivation; (ii) processing; (iii) sale to the public for medical purposes and 
nonmedical purposes in provinces and territories that have not enacted a retail framework; (iv) analytical testing; (v) 
import/export; and (vi) research.  

Cultivation licences would allow for both large-scale and small-scale (i.e. micro) growing of cannabis, subject to a 
stipulated threshold. Industrial hemp and nursery licences would also be issued as a subset of cultivation licences. 
Health Canada is considering a number of options for establishing and defining a “micro-cultivator” threshold, such 
as plant count, size of growing area, total production, or gross revenue. Part of the stated purpose of the Proposed 
Regulations was to solicit feedback from interested stakeholders regarding the most appropriate basis for 
determining what such threshold should be. The Summary of Comments states that consideration is being given to 
restricting the number of micro-cultivation and microprocessing licences at a single site to avoid allowing anyone to 
combine multiple micro-scale licences to avoid meeting the requirements associated with standard licences. In 
addition, the Summary of Comments states that it will be proposed that final regulations define micro-scale licenses 
as follows: 

 Micro-cultivation licence would authorize the cultivation of a plant canopy area of no more than 200 square 
metres. 

 Micro-processing licence would authorize the processing of no more than 600 kilograms of dried cannabis 
(or equivalent) per year, or the entire output of a single micro-cultivation licence. 

The Proposed Regulations provide that all licences issued under the Cannabis Act would be valid for a period of no 
more than five years and that no licensed activity could be conducted in a dwelling-house. The Proposed 
Regulations would also permit both outdoor and indoor cultivation of cannabis. The implications of the proposal to 
allow outdoor cultivation are not yet known, but such a development could be significant as it may reduce start-up 
capital required for new entrants in the cannabis industry. It may also ultimately lower prices as capital expenditure 
requirements related to growing outside are typically much lower than those associated with indoor growing. The 
Summary of Comments suggests that although people are generally supportive of outdoor cultivation, final 
regulations might address concerns related to risks of theft and diversion, impact on adjacent crops, good production 
practices and management of odour during flowering. 

Security Clearances 
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It is proposed that select personnel (including individuals occupying a “key position,” directors, officers, large 
shareholders and individuals identified by the Minister of Health) associated with certain licences issued under the 
Cannabis Act would be obliged to hold a valid security clearance issued by the Minister of Health. The Proposed 
Regulations would enable the Minister of Health to refuse to grant security clearances to individuals with 
associations to organized crime or with past convictions for, or an association with, drug trafficking, corruption or 
violent offences. This is the approach in place today under the ACMPR and other related regulations governing the 
licensed production of cannabis for medical purposes. 

According to the Summary of Comments, a number of commentators felt that the proposed requirement for large 
shareholders to hold security clearances would be difficult to enforce, and that it would be relatively simple to 
structure investments and assets to avoid the requirement. As a result, Health Canada is considering alternative 
options to reduce the risk of criminal organizations establishing a financial relationship with legal cannabis 
producers. According to the Summary of Comments, such measures could include requiring licence applicants to 
submit financial information (including information about investors) as part of the licence application process. This 
information could then be used in determining whether to refuse to issue or renew a licence, should public safety 
concerns be raised. As well, the regulations could require regular, ongoing reporting of financial information by 
licensees to help identify suspicious financial relationships or arrangements that may warrant additional regulatory 
action (including, for example, a license suspension). 

Health Canada acknowledges in the Proposed Regulations that there are individuals who may have histories of 
nonviolent, lower-risk criminal activity (for example, simple possession of cannabis, or small-scale cultivation of 
cannabis plants) who may seek to obtain a security clearance so they can participate in the legal cannabis industry. 
Under the new set of rules, the Minister of Health would be authorized to grant security clearances to any individual 
on a case-by-case basis. 

Cannabis Tracking System 

As currently proposed under the Cannabis Act, the Minister of Health would be authorized to establish and maintain 
a national cannabis tracking system. The purpose of this system would be to track cannabis throughout the supply 
chain to help prevent diversion of cannabis into, and out of, the legal market. The Proposed Regulations would 
provide the Minister of Health with the authority to make a ministerial order that would require certain persons 
named in such order to report specific information about their authorized activities with cannabis, in the form and 
manner specified by the Minister of Health. 

Cannabis Products 

The Proposed Regulations would permit the sale to the public of dried cannabis, cannabis oil, fresh cannabis, 
cannabis plants, and cannabis seeds. It is proposed that the sale of edible cannabis products and concentrates (such 
as hashish, wax and vaping products) would only be permitted within one year following the coming into force of 
the Cannabis Act. According to the Summary of Comments, many commentators urged the government to allow the 
sale of edibles and concentrates immediately. However, based on the Summary of Comments, the government has 
not changed its position and states that necessary regulations addressing edibles containing cannabis and cannabis 
concentrates will be put in place within one year following the coming into force of the proposed Cannabis Act. The 
Summary of Comments also states that Health Canada plans to consult broadly on these regulations with the 
provinces and territories, industry, the public health community and other interested stakeholders.  

The Proposed Regulations acknowledge that a range of product forms should be enabled to help the legal industry 
displace the illegal market. Additional product forms that are mentioned under the Proposed Regulations include 
“pre-rolled” cannabis and vaporization cartridges manufactured with dried cannabis. Specific details related to these 
new products are to be set out in a subsequent regulatory proposal. 
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Packaging and Labelling 

The Proposed Regulations would set out requirements pertaining to the packaging and labelling of cannabis 
products. Such requirements would promote informed consumer choice and allow for the safe handling and 
transportation of cannabis. Consistent with the requirements under the ACMPR, the Proposed Regulations would 
require all cannabis products to be packaged in a manner that is tamper-evident and child-resistant. The Summary of 
Comments makes it clear that these requirements will also apply to cannabis accessories, such as rolling paper and 
gel capsules that contain cannabis.  

While minor allowances for branding would be permitted, in the Proposed Regulations, Health Canada stated that it 
would propose strict limits on the use of colours, graphics, and other special characteristics of packaging, and 
products (both medical and recreational) would be required to be labelled with specific information about the 
product, contain mandatory health warnings similar to tobacco products, and be marked with a clearly recognizable 
standardized cannabis symbol. 

The Summary of Comments has provided significant details on the label content and labelling requirements that the 

Canadian Federal Government intends to propose. These details include: 

 a standardized cannabis symbol that would need to appear on every label, including specific requirements 
with respect to its size, placement and appearance; 

 mandatory health warning messages that would need to appear on every label, including specific 
requirements with respect to their size, placement and appearance. The proposed warnings cover six topics 
related to harms related to smoke, pregnancy/breastfeeding, operating vehicles/machinery, addiction, 
psychosis/schizophrenia and youth use. A warning (comprised of a primary and secondary message) would 
need to appear on every label, and the different warnings would need to be rotated on package labels; and  

 requirements with respect to information on THC and CBD content, as well as other information that would 
be required on each label, including specific requirements with respect to the size, placement and 

appearance of this information. 

The intended proposal is that, consistent with the Task Force’s recommendation to require plain packaging of 
cannabis products, the regulations would set strict requirements related to the use of branding, logos, and colours. 

Specifically: 

 only one other brand element (in addition to the brand name) could be displayed. This element could 
include, for example, a slogan or logo. If it is a text element, the font must be no larger than the font of the 
health warning message, and must be a single, uniform colour. If the brand element is a graphic, image or 
logo, it would be required to be no larger than the standardized cannabis symbol; 

 it would be prohibited to display any other image or graphic; 
 label and package backgrounds would need to be a single, uniform colour (inside and outside); 
 it would be prohibited to use any fluorescent or metallic colours; 
 health warning messages; 
 labels and packaging could not have any coating (e.g. could not be glossy), embossing (raised or recessed 

relief images), texture, foil, cut-outs or peel-away labels; 
 any over-wrap must be clear; and 
  it would be prohibited to include any insert in a package. 

In addition, the Summary of Comments states that the intention is to propose that the regulations would require that 
the immediate container be opaque or translucent. Products could have both an inner and outer package, but every 
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package would need to be labelled in accordance with the proposed requirements. Finally, the regulations would 
require licensed processors to ship an informational document developed by Health Canada with every package 
delivered to a federally-, provincially-, or territorially-licensed distributor or retailer. The document would not be 
required to be included as an insert in the package, but would be provided to consumers with the sale or delivery of 
the package. The document would provide adult consumers with health and safety information, such as precautions 
and directions for use, and would be updated periodically to take into account new information and evidence. 

To facilitate the orderly transition from the current packaging and labelling requirements under the ACMPR to the 
new regulatory requirements, the Summary of Comments states that the intention is to propose a transition period 
for cannabis products sold for medical purposes. Specifically, it is proposed that for six months following the 
coming into force of the proposed Cannabis Act, all cannabis products sold for medical purposes could be packaged 
and labelled in accordance with the current rules under the ACMPR. 

Cannabis for Medical Purposes 

The proposed medical access regulatory framework would remain substantively the same as currently exists under 
the ACMPR, with proposed adjustments to create consistency with rules for non-medical use, improve patient 
access, and reduce the risk of abuse within the medical access system. 

Health Products and Cosmetics Containing Cannabis 

Health Canada is proposing a scientific, evidence-based approach for the oversight of health products with cannabis 
that are approved with health claims, including prescription and non-prescription drugs, natural health products, 
veterinary drugs and veterinary health products, and medical devices. Under the Proposed Regulations, the use of 
cannabis-derived ingredients (other than certain hemp seed derivatives containing no more than 10 parts per million 
THC) in cosmetics, which is currently prohibited, is proposed to be permitted and subject to provisions of the 
Cannabis Act. 

Provincial and Territorial Developments 

While the Cannabis Act provides for the regulation of the commercial production of cannabis for recreational 
purposes and related matters by the Canadian Federal Government, the Cannabis Act proposes that the provinces 
and territories of Canada will have authority to regulate other aspects of recreational cannabis (similar to what is 
currently the case for liquor and tobacco products), such as sale and distribution, minimum age requirements, places 
where cannabis can be consumed, and a range of other matters. 

The Governments of every Canadian province and territory have, to varying degrees, announced proposed 
regulatory regimes for the distribution and sale of cannabis for recreational purposes within those jurisdictions. Most 
of these Canadian jurisdictions have announced a minimum age of 19 years old, except for Québec and Alberta, 
where the minimum age will be 18. 

British Columbia 

On April 26, 2018, British Columbia tabled three bills related to the regulation of cannabis, Bill 17 – “Motor Vehicle 
Amendment Act”, Bill 30 – “Cannabis Control and Licensing Act”, and Bill 31 – “Cannabis Distribution Act”.The 
Government of British Columbia had announced in December 2017 that recreational cannabis would be sold in that 
province through both public and privately operated stores. The British Columbia Liquor Distribution Branch will 
be responsible for the public retail stores and will also be the responsibility of the Liquor Control and Licensing 
Branch. In February 2018, the Government of British Columbia released further details about proposed cannabis 
regulation in the province. Adults will be allowed to use cannabis in places where tobacco smoking and vaping are 
permitted, but will be banned from smoking and vaping in areas frequented by children including beaches, parks and 
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playgrounds, and the use of cannabis in any form will be banned for all occupants in vehicles. British Columbia will 
allow personal cultivation of up to four cannabis plants per household, but the province will allow landlords to 
prohibit home cultivation. 

Alberta 

Alberta Bill 26, An Act to Control and Regulate Cannabis, and Bill 29, An Act to Reduce Cannabis and Alcohol 
Impaired Driving, received royal assent on December 15, 2017. Sections 1-16 of Bill 29 have been proclaimed in 
force April 8, 2018. Bill 26 amends the Gaming and Liquor Act and will allow for the purchase of cannabis through 
privately run retail stores and government-operated online sales. The Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission will 
be the sole wholesale distributor in the province. Consumption of cannabis will be allowed anywhere that tobacco 
consumption is permitted, but cannabis use will be banned in vehicles. Smoking and vaping cannabis will be 
prohibited on hospital, school or child care properties, and within prescribed distances of areas such as playgrounds, 
sports fields and outdoor pools. Albertans will be allowed to grow up to four plants per household, and there will be 
a possession limit of 30 grams of cannabis in a public place. The Regulations to the Gaming and Liquor Act were 
amended to include regulations related to cannabis on February 15, 2018 and will come into force upon the coming 
into force of Bill 26. 

Saskatchewan 

The Government of Saskatchewan has announced that both wholesaling and retailing of recreational cannabis will 
be conducted by private companies, and will be regulated by the Saskatchewan Liquor and Gaming Authority. The 
Saskatchewan Liquor and Gaming Authority will issue approximately 60 retail permits to private stores located in 
roughly 40 municipalities and First Nations across the province. Municipalities will have the option of opting out of 
having a cannabis store if they choose, and so far five municipalities have opted out. On March 14, 2018, Bill 121, 
Cannabis Control (Saskatchewan) Act (the “Saskatchewan Act”) had its first reading. The Saskatchewan Act sets a 
minimum age for cannabis consumption of 19. The Saskatchewan Act also restricts possession to 30 grams in public 
or four cannabis plants for personal use, and restricts consumption to private places except as exempted by 
regulation. The Government of Saskatchewan has said that they intend to adopt the federal rules around home 
growing, with a limit of four plants per household. Bill 112, The Miscellaneous Vehicle and Driving Statutes 
(Cannabis Legislation) Amendment Act, 2017 had its first reading on November 28, 2017 and amends the province’s 
impaired driving laws. 

Manitoba 

The Government of Manitoba has adopted a “hybrid model” for cannabis sales, whereby the retail sale of cannabis 
will be conducted by private retailers under the regulation and supervision of the Manitoba Liquor and Gaming 
Authority, and the supply of cannabis in the province will be secured and tracked by the Manitoba Liquor and 
Lotteries Corporation. Bill 11, The Safe and Responsible Retailing of Cannabis Act (Liquor and Gaming Control Act 
and Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries Corporation Act Amended) had its first reading on December 5, 2017. Following 
an application process between November and December 2017, the Government of Manitoba selected four groups to 
operate retail sales of cannabis in the province. Bill 11 will prohibit individuals from growing cannabis at their place 
of residence. The Government of Manitoba has also passed The Cannabis Harm Prevention Act (Various Acts 
Amended) to address health and safety concerns connected with legalized cannabis consumption, which include the 
prohibition against consuming cannabis in vehicles and against smoking cannabis in enclosed public places. Bill 11 
also prohibits the consumption of cannabis in any manner in a cannabis retail store. On March 20, 2018, the 
Government of Manitoba also announced a proposal to prohibit smoking and vaping cannabis in outdoor public 
places. 
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Ontario 

On September 8, 2017, the Government of Ontario announced its proposed retail and distribution model of legalized 
recreational cannabis to be modelled on the current Liquor Control Board of Ontario (“LCBO”) framework. On 
December 12, 2017, the Government of Ontario passed the Ontario Cannabis Retail Corporation Act, 2017 
(“OCRCA”) and the Cannabis Act, 2017 (Ontario), which will regulate the lawful use, sale and distribution of 
recreational cannabis. The OCRCA is already in force, but the Cannabis Act, 2017 (Ontario) is expected to come 
into force at the same time as federal legalization.  

The new Ontario legislation will, among other matters: 

 create a subsidiary of the LCBO, known as the Ontario Cannabis Store (“OCS”); 
 ban the use of recreational cannabis in public places, workplaces and motor vehicles, as is the case with 

alcohol (restrictions relating to consumption of medical cannabis are covered under the Smoke-Free 
Ontario Act); and 

 create significant penalties for non-compliance. 

While it had initially been announced that the OCS would manage the distribution of recreational cannabis through 
stand-alone stores and an LCBO-controlled online order and distribution service, on August 13, 2018, the new 
Ontario Government turned around and announced a modified Cannabis Retail Model under which recreational 
cannabis will first be distributed online through an LCBO-controlled platform and channel as of October 17, 2018,  
to be followed by a private retail model by April 1, 2019. 

Québec 

Québec Bill 157, An Act to constitute the Société québécoise du cannabis, to enact the Cannabis Regulation Act and 
to amend various highway safety-related provisions, was introduced in November 2017 and had its second reading 
on February 13, 2018. Bill 157 will amend the Act respecting the Société des alcools du Québec to create a 
government agency to regulate cannabis sales as a parallel organization to the existing government-controlled 
alcohol retailer commonly known in the province as the “SAQ”. Initial reports from the Government of Québec 
indicate that 15 government-run dispensaries will be opened initially, with up to 150 additional dispensaries to open 
within the following two years. Bill 157 will also enact the Cannabis Regulation Act which, among other things, will 
prohibit the cultivation of cannabis for personal purposes, and will limit cannabis consumption outside of private 
residences and other designated closed smoking rooms. Bill 157 was passed by the National Assembly on June 11, 
2018. 

New Brunswick 

The Government of New Brunswick has introduced three bills related to cannabis: the Cannabis Control Act, the 
Cannabis Management Corporation Act, and the Cannabis Education and Awareness Fund Act. All three bills 
received royal asset on March 16, 2018. The Cannabis Management Corporation Act will establish a Crown 
corporation to oversee and regulate the distribution and sale of cannabis in the province. Retail sales of recreational 
cannabis will be conducted through a subsidiary of the New Brunswick Liquor Corporation. The Cannabis Control 
Act will limit the consumption of cannabis to private dwellings, vacant land, or other places prescribed by 
regulation. 

Nova Scotia 

Following public consultation, on December 6, 2017, the Government of Nova Scotia announced its legislative 
framework for recreational cannabis in the province. Cannabis will be sold at dedicated government-owned retail 
locations through the Nova Scotia Liquor Corporation. The government has identified nine initial locations for retail 
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stores. The province also plans to create an online retail sales platform that will include direct-to-home delivery. 
Under the legislative framework, cannabis consumption will be restricted to private residences and outdoor public 
spaces, with certain restrictions, and consumption will be prohibited in vehicles and other areas where tobacco dried 
cannabis, and each household will be permitted to cultivate four cannabis plants. 

Newfoundland and Labrador 

In November 2017, the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador announced that recreational cannabis will be 
sold through private stores, with the Crown-owned liquor corporation overseeing the distribution to private sellers 
who will sell it to consumers. Bill 23, An Act to Amend the Liquor Corporation Act, had its second reading on 
November 23, 2017 and will give the Newfoundland and Labrador Liquor Corporation the authority to licence and 
regulate private retailers. The Government of Newfoundland and Labrador has stated that the Newfoundland and 
Labrador Liquor Corporation will control the possession, sale and delivery of cannabis, and set prices. It will also be 
the initial online retailer and will sell cannabis products in isolated communities. The Government of Newfoundland 
and Labrador has issued a request for proposals for private retailers. The Government of Newfoundland and 
Labrador has said that consumption of cannabis will be restricted to private residences, and it has not made any 
indication that it will deviate from the federal rules allowing for the growth of four cannabis plants per household. 

Prince Edward Island 

Following public consultation, on March 27, 2018 the Government of Prince Edward Island released a policy and 
legislative framework for cannabis in the province. Cannabis will be sold at dedicated government-owned retail 
locations through the PEI Cannabis Management Corporation. The government has identified four initial locations 
for retail stores based on population density, and based on the sales in those locations the government will plan 
future expansion. The province also plans to create an online retail sales platform that will include direct-to-home 
delivery. Under the legislative framework, cannabis consumption will be restricted to private residences, with 
certain communal spaces being designated for cannabis consumption, and consumption will be prohibited in 
vehicles and other areas where tobacco smoking is already prohibited. The province will follow the federal 
legislation and allow possession of 30 grams of dried cannabis, and each household will be permitted to cultivate 
four cannabis plants. 

Yukon 

The Government of Yukon tabled Bill 15, the Cannabis Control and Regulation Act, on March 8, 2018. The act 
would allow the government to designate the Yukon Liquor Corporation to distribute and regulate the sale of 
cannabis in the territory. Retail sales of recreational cannabis will be conducted by a combination of private stores 
and stores owned by the Yukon Liquor Corporation. Bill 15 would prohibit the consumption of cannabis outside of a 
private dwelling-house. 

The Northwest Territories 

The Government of the Northwest Territories has tabled Bill 6, the Cannabis Legalization and Regulation 
Implementation Act. It is proposed that the Northwest Territories Liquor Commission will be responsible for the 
distribution and sale of cannabis and that cannabis will initially be sold in existing liquor stores. Smoking cannabis 
will be prohibited in public places, subject to exceptions in the regulations. Communities in the Northwest 
Territories will be able to hold a plebiscite to prohibit cannabis, similar to the options currently available to restrict 
alcohol. 
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Nunavut 

On June 13, 2018, the Government of Nunavut gave assent to Bill 3, the “Cannabis Statutes Amendment Act”. The 
Government of Nunavut had previously announced that the sale of cannabis products will be overseen by the 
Nunavut Liquor Commission, but that the Commission will be allowed to outsource certain operations (including 
retail sales) to private third party “agents”. The government is proposing to allow sales in physical stores and online. 
The government has also proposed that cannabis consumption should only be allowed in private homes and in some 
designated public spaces where tobacco smoking is allowed. 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Since no securities are being sold pursuant to this Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised. 

Funds Available 

The Corporation is not raising any funds in conjunction with this Prospectus and, accordingly, there are no proceeds 
to be raised by the Corporation pursuant to this Prospectus. 

The Corporation is not yet operational. As a result, as at May 31, 2018, the Corporation had negative cash flows 
from operations. There is no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed 
or that these financings will be on terms at least as favorable to the Corporation as those previously obtained, or at 
all. See “Risk Factors”. 

As of July 31, 2018, the Corporation had cash on hand of approximately $4,076,540 and working capital of 
$4,302,000.  Based upon Management’s current intentions, the estimated expenditures for which the total available 
funds will be used in the 12 months after the date hereof are as follows: 

Source of Funds Available Funds 

Working capital as of July 31, 2018 (Includes $3,239,500 from Concurrent Financing - closed July 25, 
2018) 

$4,302,403

Total Available Funds   $4,302,403

Principal Uses  

Listing on the CSE $75,000

Development of the Venosta Facility(1) 

(Construction, rendering operational and commencing operations) 

$3,300,000

Research and development of food grade cannabinoid products $200,000

General and administrative expenses, consisting primarily of: 

(i) projected management, employees and consulting fees ($370,000) (2), 
(ii) rent, office and utilities ($22,000), 
(iii) insurance ($57,000), 
(iv) travel and promotion ($25,000), and 
(v) transfer agent and professional fees (legal and accounting) ($46,000).  

$520,000

Unallocated working capital to fund ongoing operations, contingencies and for reviewing business $207,403
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opportunities 

Total $4,302,403

 
Note: 
(1) See “Business Objective and Milestones – Phase I – The Venosta Facility” below. 
(2) Mr. Brendan Stutt, the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation is the only member of management that is currently receiving a fee, 

namely $5,000 per month. 

The Use of Available Funds table above includes a complete list of all expected cash needs of the Corporation 
as it related to operating and executing its business strategy over the next 12 months.  Accordingly, and as a 
result of the closing of the Concurrent Financing, the Corporation  has sufficient cash reserves to operate and 
execute the business for at least 12 months following the issuance of the final receipt. 

The Corporation intends to spend the funds available to it in order to obtain a Cultivation Licence from Health 
Canada, develop the Venosta Facility and complete its listing on the CSE. The Corporation intends to spend the 
funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances however, where, for sound business 
reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Due to the uncertain nature of the cannabis industry, projects may 
be frequently reviewed and reassessed. The amounts and time of the expenditures will vary depending upon a 
number of factors, including regulatory developments, market reaction to legalization of cannabis in Canada, 
success in developing new products, market reception of new products and other factors referred to under “Risk 
Factors”. Accordingly, while it is currently intended by Management that the available funds will be expended as 
set forth above, actual expenditures may in fact differ from these amounts and allocations. 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The primary business objectives for the Corporation over the next 12 months are: 

Phase I  

In its initial developmental phase, the Corporation will be focusing its resources on obtaining a Cultivation Licence 
from Health Canada and building out its production infrastructure. 

As a part of the GrowPros Acquisition, the Corporation had to obtain conditional listing approval on the CSE before 
the date of August 31, 2018, in order to avoid triggering the Resolutory Condition.  As at the date hereof, the 
Corporation has fulfilled its obligations in connection with the GrowPros Acquisition and the Resolutory Condition 
has lapsed. 

Phase I should span at least over the course of 2018 with the Corporation expecting for the development and 
construction of the Venosta Facility to start in late summer of 2018 and to be completed and ready for production by 
the end of 2018. 

While there can be no certainty of the date at which the Corporation and GrowPros may be granted the Cultivation 
Licence by Health Canada, the Corporation expects that it could receive its Cultivation Licence as early as January 
2019. For additional information see “Risk Factors – Description of the Licences and Licensing Requirements”. 
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The Venosta Facility  

The Corporation owns, through 9366-4027 Québec Inc., the Venosta Land, on which it intends to build a 25,000-
square foot GMP grade indoor cannabis production facility. Upon completion of the Venosta Facility, the 
Corporation will be in a position to begin commercial production of GMP standardized pharma grade cannabis. 

It is anticipated that the production of the Venosta Facility will be between 1,000 and 3,000 kilograms of dried 
cannabis per year.  Management is of the view that funds allocated under the above heading “Funds Available”, in 
the absence of any other capital spending, would result in production at the lower end of the foregoing range. 

At the time of filing of this prospectus, preparation of the site of the Venosta Facility for construction (including 
road access and connection to electrical supply) has been completed and the Corporation has the ability to begin 
construction. There are not further approvals to be obtained from Health Canada before construction can begin.   

The Corporation will set the date of commencement of the construction of the Venosta Facility upon satisfaction by 
the parties of all of the conditions of the SPA.  

The Corporation expects that capital in the amount of $3,300,000 will be required to build and render the Venosta 
Facility commercially operational for the production of GMP standardized pharma grade cannabis. The capital is 
expected to be distributed as follows: 

Construction of new steel building $1,100,000

Interior construction(1) $1,700,000

Security systems(2) $500,000

Total: $3,300,000

Notes: 
(1) Installation of HVAC and electrical systems.  
(2) Licensed Producers “sites” are subject to extensive security requirements specified under Subdivision C of the ACMPR. 

Cultivation Licence from Health Canada 

On October 16, 2014, GrowPros submitted an application to Health Canada to obtain a “Licence to Produce” and 
supply medical marihuana under the ACMPR and is now in the second stage of the application review process. It is 
essential for the Corporation to obtain a Cultivation Licence in order to be able to begin its Intended Business. 

A Licensed Producer is the holder of a Cultivation Licence that is issued by Health Canada under the ACMPR to 
produce quality-controlled cannabis under secure and sanitary conditions. They can be authorized to produce dried 
and fresh cannabis, seeds and plants, and cannabis oil. Following the issuance of a Cultivation Licence, and subject 
to the Licensed Producer complying with the requirements under the ACMPR, the Licensed Producer can apply for 
an amendment to its licence in order to receive a Sales Licence in order to add the activity of sale to its licence.  All 
applications to become a Licensed Producer undergo a strict and thorough review. Applications are assessed on a 
case-by-case basis. All key personnel must pass a stringent security clearance process. In addition, each application 
must demonstrate how the security and inventory control measures and Good Production Practices at the facility 
meet all the regulatory requirements.  

There are currently 104 Licensed Producers in Canada. The Corporation fully expects to be able to obtain its 
Cultivation Licence but it must be noted that any timeline is subject to regulatory approval and that the Corporation 
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has no control over the speed at which Health Canada completes its inspections and licensing procedures. See “Risk 
Factors”.   

Phase II 

Upon becoming a Licensed Producer and undertaking the commercial production of GMP standardized pharma 
grade cannabis at the Venosta Facility, the Corporation expects that it will require one (1) to two (2) years and incur 
expenses of up to $500,000 to $1,000,000 to reach commercial production of food grade cannabinoid products.  

The Corporation expects that this should coincide with the reception of the Sales License from Health Canada as 
described in the section - Description of the Licenses and Licensing Requirements. 

Phase III 

Once the Corporation has developed its Intended Business and positioned itself as a producer of raw input in the 
initially identified Canadian market, it will continue to scale its production capacity and equip its facilities with a 
commercial extraction laboratory.   

Strategy 

To hone its competitive advantage in this competitive industry, the Corporation will capitalize upon: 

 the strength of its corporate team, which includes an executive team with extensive capital markets 
experience. 

  the consultation services of Steve Abboud, who is recognized as a large-scale cannabis cultivation expert 
among ACMPR Licensed Producers; and 

 the scalable expansion potential and stability of its business model by developing the 95 acres of 
agricultural farmland owned by the Corporation in Venosta, Quebec, and benefiting from low-cost 
electricity and government subsidies for labour costs and municipal taxes. 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Corporation has not declared dividends on any of their shares in the past and do not intend to pay any in the 
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and 
will depend on the financial condition, business environment, operating results, capital requirements, any contractual 
restrictions on the payment of dividends and any other factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant. The 
Corporation currently does not have a dividend policy and there are no restrictions that could prevent the 
Corporation from paying dividends. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

The following tables set forth selected financial information for the Corporation and GrowPros, summarized from 
the Corporation Financial Statements and GrowPros Financial Statements, attached as Schedule A and Schedule B 
hereto.  

 GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2015 

(unaudited)1 
($) 

GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2016 

(unaudited)1 
($) 

GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2017 

(audited) ($) 

GrowPros 
Carve-Out for 

Six Months 
Ended May 

31, 2018 
(unaudited)1 

($) 

Corporation for 
Period from 

November 29, 
2016 Ended 

November 30, 
2016  

(audited) ($) 

Corporation 
for Year 
Ended 

November 30, 
2017 

(audited) ($) 

Corporation 
for Six 
Months 

Ended May 
31, 2018 

(unaudited) 
($) 

Revenue – – – – – – –

Total Expenses 531,711 261,886 55,294 4,000 – – 120,261

Net Income 
(Loss) 

(477,820) (207,810) (55,294) (4,000) – – (120,261)

 

Current assets  26,064 5,918 913 913 1 1 1,351,881

Total Assets 39,963 5,918 913 913 1 1 3,338,069

Total liabilities  270,182 18,746 12,065 12,065 – – 208,329

Shareholders’ 
equity 
(deficiency) 

(230,219) (12,828) (11,152) (11,152) 1 1 3,129,740

(1)  The carve-out financial statements of GrowPros for the years ended November 30, 2016 and 2015 have not been audited given the fact that the 
issuer is a “junior issuer” as defined under NI 41-101. 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Attached to this Prospectus at Schedule A are the Corporation MD&A. The Corporation MD&A provides an 
analysis of the Corporation’s financial results for: (i) the period from the date of incorporation on November 29, 
2016 ended November 30, 2016, (ii) the year ended November 30, 2017, and (iii) for the three months period ended 
May 31, 2018, all should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Corporation for the 
corresponding period, and the notes thereto respectively. 

Attached to this Prospectus at Schedule B are the GrowPros MD&A. The GrowPros MD&A provides an analysis of 
GrowPros’s financial results for: (i) year ended November 30, 2016 and 2017, and (ii) for the three months period 
ended May 31, 2018, all should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Corporation for the 
corresponding period, and the notes thereto respectively. 
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Certain information included in the Corporation and GrowPros MD&A is forward-looking and based upon 
assumptions and anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties 
materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those 
expected. See “Forward-Looking Statements” for further details.  

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

The authorized capital of the Corporation currently includes an unlimited number of each of the following classes of 
shares: Class A Common shares, Class B Common shares, Class C Common shares, Class A Special shares, Class B 
Special shares, Class C Special shares and Class D Special shares. As at the date of this Prospectus, 51,768,000 
Class A Common Shares, and no other class of shares, have been issued by the Corporation. Moreover, as part of the 
Concurrent Financing concluded on July 25, 2018, 6,479,000 Class A Common share purchase warrants (each a 
“Warrant”) were issued.  

Each holder of Class A Common shares is entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders.  

The Class B Common shares rank pari passu in all respects with the Class A Common shares, except that subject to 
the provisions of the Canada Business Corporations Act, the holders of the Class B Common shares are not entitled 
to attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. 

The Class C Common shares rank pari passu in all respects with the Class A Common and Class B Common shares, 
save and except that: (a) subject to the provisions of the Canada Business Corporations Act, the holders of the Class 
C Common shares are not entitled to attend or vote at meetings of shareholders; and (b) the directors are not 
obligated to declare dividends on the Class C Common shares when declaring dividends on the Class A Common 
and Class B Common shares. 

The holders of the Class A Special are entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders, are entitled to one (1) vote per 
share, and are entitled to receive an annual, non-cumulative dividend that may be declared by the directors, provided 
that the aggregate amount thereof is not be greater than 8% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued and 
outstanding Class A Special shares. 

The holders of the Class B Special are not entitled to attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. Holders of Class B 
Special are entitled to receive an annual, non-cumulative dividend that may be declared by the directors provided 
that the aggregate amount thereof shall not be greater than 10% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued and 
outstanding Class B Special shares. 

The holders of the Class C Special are not entitled to attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. Holders of Class C 
Special are entitled to receive an annual, non-cumulative dividend that may be declared by the directors provided 
that the aggregate amount thereof shall not be greater than 9% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued and 
outstanding Class C Special shares. 

The holders of the Class D Special are not entitled to attend or vote at meetings of shareholders. Holders of Class D 
Special are entitled to receive an annual, non-cumulative dividend that may be declared by the directors provided 
that the aggregate amount thereof shall not be greater than 1% of the aggregate redemption value of all issued and 
outstanding Class D Special shares. 

Subject to the prior rights of the holders of the Class A Special, Class B Special, Class C Special and Class D 
Special shares, the holders of the Class A Common, Class B Common and Class C Common shares shall be entitled 
to receive the remaining property of the Corporation upon dissolution, on a pari passu basis. 
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On or before the closing of the Dividend Distribution, the Corporation will file articles of amendment to reclassify 
all of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (Class A Common shares) of the Corporation as a new class of 
common shares. All of the other share classes described in the previous paragraphs, for which no shares are issued 
or outstanding, will be cancelled. 

Holder of the new class of common shares will be entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders, receive dividends 
when declared and receive the remaining assets of the corporation upon dissolution of the Corporation. 

Capitalization 

Other than as indicated below, there have been no material changes in the share capitalization or in the indebtedness 
of the Corporation since May 31, 2018. 

The following chart sets out the capitalization of the Corporation as at May 31, 2018 and the date of this Prospectus:  

Designation of 
Security 

Amount  
Authorized 

Amount Outstanding as of 
May 31, 2018 

Amount Outstanding as of the 
date of this Prospectus 

Class A Common 
shares 

Unlimited 37,500,000 51,768,000

Warrants (Class A 
Common Shares) 

Up to 7,000,000 – 6,479,000

Options Up to 10% – –

 

OPTION TO PURCHASE COMMON SHARES 

The Board of Directors has adopted a stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) under which options may be 
granted to the Corporation’s directors, officers, employees and consultants. See “Executive Compensation.”   

As of the date of this Prospectus, there are no options issued and outstanding under the Stock Option Plan. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, there are no options to purchase securities of either one of the Corporation’s 
subsidiaries that are issued and outstanding.  
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PRIOR SALES 

Since incorporation the following Common Shares have been issued:  

Date 
Number of 

Common Shares 
Issue price 

per Common Share 
Type of 

Consideration Received 

January 15, 2018(1) 10,000,000 0.05 Cash 

February 14, 2018(2) 11,000,000 0.10 Cash 

February 16, 2018(3) 15,000,000 0.20 Assets 

April 20, 2018(4) 1,500,000 0.10 Cash 

June 7, 2018(5) 760,000 0.25 Assets 

July 25, 2018(6) 12,958,000 0.25 Cash 

August 9, 2018(7) 550,000 0.20 Assets 

Total: 51,768,000 – – 

 

Notes: 
(1) On January 15, 2018, the Corporation closed its first tranche of a non-brokered private placement, consisting of 10,000,000 Common 

Shares units at a price of $0.05 per share to raise gross proceeds of $500,000. 
(2) On February 14, 2018, the Corporation closed its second tranche of a non-brokered private placement, consisting of 11,000,000 Common 

Shares at a price of $0.10 per share to raise gross proceeds of $1,100,000. 
(3) On February 16, 2018, the Corporation closed the GrowPros Acquisition. 
(4) On April 20, 2018, the Corporation closed its third tranche of a non-brokered private placement, consisting of 1,500,000 Common Shares at 

a price of $0.10 per share to raise gross proceeds of $150,000. 
(5) On June 7, 2018, the Corporation issued 760,000 Common Shares to 9329-7158 Quebec Inc. as consideration for the acquisition by the 

Corporation of all of the issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Quebec Inc. as part of the Venosta SPA. 
(6) On July 25, 2018, the Corporation closed the Concurrent Financing by issuing and aggregate of 12,958,000 units (12,958,000 Common 

Shares and 6,492,500 Warrants) at a price of $0.25 per unit to raise gross proceeds of $3,239,500. 
(7) On August 9, 2018, pursuant to the July 31 Amendment, 550,000 Common Shares were issued to Tetra as additional consideration under 

the SPA. This measure was agreed to by the Corporation and Tetra so as to respect the anti-dilution covenant found in the SPA, which 
stipulated that Tetra should maintain ownership over a number of Common Shares representing at least 30% of all issued and outstanding 
shares of the Corporation on a non-diluted basis following the GrowPros Acquisition and immediately prior to the listing of the Common 
Shares on the CSE. As a result of the issuance of the 550,000 additional Common Shares to Tetra, Tetra owns 15,550,000 Common Shares 
representing 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation. 
 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Corporation as of the date hereof, the following are the 
only persons that beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over voting securities 
carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Corporation: 

Name 
Number of Common 

Shares Owned, 
Controlled or Directed(1) 

% of Outstanding 
Common Shares(1) 

Number of Common 
Shares Owned, Controlled 
or Directed following the 
Dividend Distribution(2) 

% of Outstanding 
Common Shares following

the Dividend 
Distribution(1) (2) 

Tetra Bio-Pharma 
Inc.(3) 

15,550,000 30.04% nil nil% 
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North Bud Capital 
Holdings Ltd.(3) 

7,000,000 13.52% 7,000,000 13.52% 

Cannandamide Canada 
Inc.(4) 

6,900,000 13.32% 6,900,000 13.32% 

 
Notes: 
(1) Percentage is based on 51,768,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date hereof, which includes the closing of the 

Concurrent Financing. 
(2) Assumes the Dividend Distribution following which no one shareholder of Tetra will carry more than 10% of the voting rights attached to 

any class of voting securities of the Corporation. 
(3) Record holder.  Mr. Ryan Brown, an officer and director of the Corporation, holds 10,000,000 common shares in the capital of North Bud 

Capital Holdings Ltd., representing approximately 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the company. 
(4) Cannandamide Canada Inc. is a corporation incorporated under the CBCA whose primary business consists of the research and 

development of plant fertilizers and nutrients for plants.  Mr. Steve Abboud, a shareholder and consultant to the Corporation is also a 
shareholder and a director of Cannandamide Canada Inc.  Mr. Abboud holds 1,000,000 Common Shares of the Corporation. 

 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The names, municipalities of residence, number of voting securities beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or 
over which each exercises control or direction, excluding Common Shares issuable on the exercise of the 
outstanding options and the offices held by each in the Corporation and the principal occupation of the directors and 
senior officers of the Corporation during the past five years are as follows:  

Name and municipality 
of residence(1) 

Office(s) 
Held 

Principal 
occupation 

during past 5 years 

Date Joined 
and 

expiration of 
term (3) 

Number of 
Common 

Shares 
beneficially 

owned 

% of the 
Common 

Shares 
beneficially 

owned 

Ryan Brown 
(Chelsea, Quebec) 

Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Director 

CEO of North Bud Farms 
Inc. (the Corporation) 

January 19, 
2018 

1,760,000 3.40%

André Audet(2) 
(Ottawa, Ontario) 

President and 
Director 

President of North Bud 
Farms Inc., Chairman and 
CEO of Everton Resources 
Inc. (4), and Chairman of 
Albert Mining Inc.(4) 

January 19, 
2018 

1,250,000 2.41%

Brendan Stutt 
(Ottawa, Ontario) 

CFO Controller of Focus Graphite 
Inc. (FMS)(4), Stria Lithium 
Inc. (SRA)(4)  and Mincom 
Capital Inc. (MOI) (4) all 
listed on the TSX-V 

January 19, 
2018 

– – 

Teresa DeLuca(2) 
(Lyme, USA) 

Director Physician Executive and 
Director for Fortune 50 
businesses  

May 7, 2018 
 

– – 

Leona Aglukkaq(2) 
(Chelsea, QC) 

Director Politician May 7, 2018 
 

– – 

Michael Saxon(2) 
(Manakin Sabot, USA) 

Director CEO of SXN Strategy 
Partners 

May 7, 2018 
 

– – 

Kosta Kostic 
(Montreal, Quebec) 

Secretary Partner, McMillan LLP, a 
national Canadian law firm 

January 19, 
2018 

140,000 0.27%
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Note: 
(1) The information as to municipality of residence, principal occupation, securities beneficially owned or over which a director or officer 

exercises control or direction has been furnished by the respective persons individually. 
(2) Members of the Audit Committee. 
(3) The term of the directors will end at the next annual meeting of Shareholders. 
(4) As of the time of the individual’s employment with this organization, the organization was not an affiliate of the Issuer. The organization is 

still carrying on business as of the date of this Prospectus.  

Biographies  

The following are brief profiles of our executive officers and directors, including a description of each individual’s 
principal occupation within the past five years. 

Ryan Brown – Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Mr. Brown, age 37, is a serial entrepreneur who brings hands-on cannabis production and distribution experience to 
the leadership of the Management. Most recently he co-founded Tetra, a publicly traded company (TSXV:TBP, 
OTCQB:TBPMF) engaged in the development of bio-pharmaceuticals and natural health products containing 
cannabis and other medicinal plant based elements. Previously, Mr. Brown worked as a distributor of hydroponic 
gardening equipment and plant fertilizer in Canada and the United States, and successfully launched multiple 
identifiable industry brands. This experience provided firsthand perspective on techniques, trends and regulation of a 
variety of target market segments. His diverse experience and demonstrated knowledge has swiftly gained him a 
reputation as a leading expert in cannabis and a force within the industry. 

Mr. Brown is an officer of the Corporation and currently receives no compensation for his services rendered to the 
Corporation as Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Brown devotes more than 50% of his time to the affairs of the 
Corporation.  

André Audet – President and Director 

Mr. Audet, age 57, graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce degree (Major in Finance) from the University of 
Ottawa in 1982. Mr. Audet is a Certified Investment Manager (CIM) and possesses more than twenty-five years of 
experience in the financing of public companies. Mr. Audet was formerly a Vice-President at BMO Nesbitt Burns 
specializing in private portfolios and mining investments from 1989-1999; he was also a Financial Advisor at 
Midland Doherty and Royal Trust from 1987-1989. Mr. Audet is also co-Founder of Tetra, a publicly traded 
company (TSXV:TBP, OTCQB:TBPMF) engaged in the development of bio-pharmaceuticals and natural health 
products containing cannabis and other medicinal plant based elements. Mr. Audet is currently the Chairman & 
CEO of Everton Resources Inc. and the Chairman of Albert Mining Inc., both junior mining exploration companies. 

Mr. Audet is an officer of the Corporation and receives no compensation from the Corporation for his services as 
President. Mr. Audet devotes more than 50% of his time to the affairs of the Corporation.  

Teresa DeLuca – Director 

Dr. DeLuca, MD, MBA, age 53, is a physician executive who serves as Board Member, Audit Committee [SGRY: 
NASDAQ]. She holds the NACD Board Leadership Fellow credential as well as the Carnegie Mellon Cybersecurity 
Certificate.  She has a New York State medical licence and is board-certified in psychopharmacology. She has had 
P&L responsibility and has served as a Chief Medical Officer at Fortune 50 companies. 

Mrs. DeLuca only devotes part of her time to the affairs of the Corporation.  
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Michael Saxon – Director 

Mr. Saxon, age 45, is an accomplished consumer products executive with over 20 years of experience growing F150 
businesses in the USA, Europe, and Asia. Mr. Saxon’s career reflects a demonstrated history of setting record 
income and market share results in a wide range of market conditions. He graduated from the University of Georgia 
with major in Marketing. He is currently the CEO of SXN Strategy Partners. He founded the firm in 2017 to partner 
with Boards and the C-suite to provide business advice that creates profitable growth strategies and execution plans. 
He is a valued member of two private company boards and one non-profit. 

Mr. Saxon only devotes part of his time to the affairs of the Corporation. 

Leona Aglukkaq - Director  

Mrs. Aglukkaq, age 50, brings extensive government knowledge and experience to the team having served over 30 
years in various roles both at the Federal and Territorial levels of government. Her most recent political portfolios 
included Minister of Environment, Parks Canada and Minister of Canadian Economic Development Agency and 
Arctic Council. Prior to these portfolios Mrs. Aglukkaq served as the Minister of Health and Minister of the Public 
Health Agency of Canada.  

Mrs. Aglukkaq also brings extensive experience sitting on various boards, Municipal Council, Institutes of Public 
Government, including regulatory boards and publicly traded companies.  

Now retired from political life, Mrs. Aglukkaq resides in Chelsea, Quebec, doing volunteer work and providing  
Consulting Services.  

Mrs. Aglukkaq only devotes part of her time to the affairs of the Corporation. 

Brendan Stutt – CFO 

Mr. Stutt, age 36, is a graduate of Queen’s University (BAH Economics) and McGill University (Graduate Diploma 
in Public Accounting). He has served as the corporate controller for a number of publicly traded companies over the 
last 10 years, after working as an auditor at Horwath Leebosh Appel LLP (now MNP LLP) to start his career. He is 
responsible for all aspects of financial reporting and corporate governance for the Corporation. 

Mr. Stutt is an officer of the Corporation and receives consulting fees for his services rendered to the Corporation as 
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Stutt devotes approximately 50% of his time to the affairs of the Corporation.  

Kosta Kostic – Secretary  

Mr. Kostic, age 44, is a Partner and member of McMillan LLP’s National Capital Markets and M&A Group. His 
practice is predominantly focused on corporate finance, securities and mergers and acquisitions matters. Mr. Kostic 
has a broad range of experience providing advice to companies with respect to their ongoing corporate and securities 
law obligations. He has acted for various junior, mid-cap and established issuers in connection with their initial 
public offerings, follow-on offerings and listings on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange and 
the Canadian Securities Exchange. Mr. Kostic regularly acts for clients in the following industries: mining, oil and 
natural gas, renewable energy, information technology, biotechnology, manufacturing, retail and transportation. Mr. 
Kostic is a member of the Local Advisory Committee for the TSX Venture Exchange. He has also served as a 
director or corporate secretary of several publicly-listed and private companies. Mr. Kostic is also a co-founder of 
FinFusion, a Quebec-based non-profit organization that helps develop, promote and support innovation in the 
finance and technology community (Fintech) in Montreal, in Quebec and in Canada. A member of the Barreau du 
Québec since 2002, Mr. Kostic received a B.C.L./LL.B. from McGill University in 2001 and B.A. in 
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Communication Studies from Concordia University in 1996. He has also completed an executive training program 
on financial information at the McGill International Executive Institute and received a Certificate in Mining Law 
from Osgoode Hall Law School.  

Mr. Kostic receives no compensation for his services as Secretary, and only devotes part of his time to the affairs of 
the Corporation. 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcies 

To the Corporation’s knowledge, other than as noted below, no existing or proposed director, officer or promoter of 
the Corporation or a securityholder anticipated to hold a sufficient number of securities of the Corporation to affect 
materially the control of the Corporation, within 10 years of the date of this Prospectus, has been a director, officer 
or promoter of any person or company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to 
any exemptions under applicable securities law, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or 

(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Mr. Kostic was the secretary of Osta Biotechnologies Inc (“Osta”) from June 2005 until June 2014. On May 3, 2012, 
Osta’s principal regulator, the Autorité des marchés financiers, issued a cease trade order (“CTO”) because Osta had 
not filed its audited financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, accompanying 
management’s discussion and analysis, and related CEO and CFO certifications for the year ended December 31, 
2011 within the prescribed 120-day period set out in National Instrument 51-102 and National Instrument 51-109, 
respectively.  Osta was subsequently dissolved in November 2016. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

To the Corporation’s knowledge, other than as noted below, no existing or proposed director, officer or promoter of 
the Corporation, or a securityholder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Corporation to affect materially 
the control of the Corporation, has: 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by 
a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 
regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body, including a 
self-regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable securityholder 
making a decision in regards to the Corporation. 

The Autorité des Marchés Financiers charged Mr. Audet with failing to report, within the prescribed time period, 
changes in his control over the securities of Everton Resources Inc., a reporting issuer in Quebec. A sanction of 
$21,000 CAD was imposed on November 1, 2013 and has been duly paid since.   

Personal Bankruptcies 

To the Corporation’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director, officer or promoter of the Corporation, or a 
securityholder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Corporation to affect materially the control of the 
Corporation, or a personal holding company of such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of this 
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Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to holder the assets of the director, officer or promoter. 

Conflicts of Interest  

Members of Management are, and may in future be, associated with other firms involved in a range of business 
activities. Consequently, there are potential inherent conflicts of interest in their acting as officers and directors of 
our company. Although the officers and directors are engaged in other business activities, the Corporation 
anticipates they will devote an important amount of time to our affairs.  

The Corporation’s officers and directors are now and may in the future become shareholders, officers or directors of 
other companies, which may be formed for the purpose of engaging in business activities similar to the 
Corporation’s. Accordingly, additional direct conflicts of interest may arise in the future with respect to such 
individuals acting on behalf of us or other entities. Moreover, additional conflicts of interest may arise with respect 
to opportunities which come to the attention of such individuals in the performance of their duties or otherwise. 
Currently, the Corporation does not have a right of first refusal pertaining to opportunities that come to their 
attention and may relate to our business operations.  

The Corporation’s officers and directors are, so long as they are our officers or directors, subject to the restriction 
that all opportunities contemplated by our plan of operation which come to their attention, either in the performance 
of their duties or in any other manner, will be considered opportunities of, and be made available to the Corporation 
and the companies that they are affiliated with on an equal basis. A breach of this requirement will be a breach of the 
fiduciary duties of the officer or director. If the Corporation or the companies with which the officers and directors 
are affiliated both desire to take advantage of an opportunity, then said officers and directors would abstain from 
negotiating and voting upon the opportunity. However, all directors may still individually take advantage of 
opportunities if the Corporation should decline to do so. Except as set forth above, the Corporation has not adopted 
any other conflict of interest policy with respect to such transactions. 

Advance Notice By-law  

The by-laws of the Corporation include advance notice provisions for the election of directors of the Corporation. 
The advance notice provisions require for advance notice by any shareholder who intends to nominate any person 
for election as director of the Corporation.  

Among other things, the advance notice provision sets a deadline by which such shareholders must notify the 
Corporation in writing of an intention to nominate directors prior to any meeting of shareholders at which directors 
are to be elected and set forth the information that the shareholder must include in the notice for it to be valid.  

In the case of an annual meeting of shareholders, notice to the Corporation must be made not less than 30 days prior 
to the date of the annual meeting; provided, however, that if the annual meeting is to be held on a date that is less 
than 50 days after the date on which the first public announcement of the date of the annual meeting was made, 
notice may be made not later than the close of business on the 10th day following such public announcement. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Introduction  

The following discussion describes the significant elements of our executive compensation program, with particular 
emphasis on the process for determining compensation payable to the Corporation’s CEO, President and CFO or 
other individuals acting in a similar capacity (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs”). 
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To date, the Corporation has only remunerated Mr. Brendan Stutt on a consultancy basis. For more information see 
“Executive Compensation – Compensation Discussion and Analysis”. 

The Corporation has not otherwise paid any of its directors or executive officers. However, the Corporation is 
currently in discussions with its executive officers and anticipates entering into formal employment agreements with 
its executives in due course. The Corporation anticipates that the NEOs will be:  

 Ryan Brown, Chief Executive Officer; and 

 André Audet, President 

 Brendan Stutt, Chief Financial Officer  

Compensation of the NEOs has not otherwise been determined at this stage. 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Corporation does not have a compensation committee or a formal compensation policy.  For the period 
commencing since incorporation, only Mr. Brendan Stutt has been compensated on a consultancy basis pursuant to 
agreements with the Corporation.  Mr. Stutt has been paid a consultancy fee of $5,000 per month since March 2018, 
totaling $20,000 as of the date of this Prospectus.  

The Corporation will rely solely on its Board of Directors (the “Board”) to determine the compensation of its 
executive officers. In determining compensation, the Board will consider industry standards and the Corporation’s 
financial situation but does not currently have any formal objectives or criteria. The performance of each executive 
officer will be informally monitored by the Board, having in mind the business strengths of the individual and the 
purpose of originally appointing the individual as an officer.  

Compensation of Executive Officers 

Aside from the fees paid on a consultancy basis to certain officers as described above, none of the Named Executive 
Officers have received any other form of compensation from the Corporation for the period from its incorporation to 
May 31, 2018.  

Compensation of Directors 

At this time, the Corporation does not anticipate that it will pay any compensation (including salaries, director’s 
fees, commissions, bonuses paid for services rendered, bonuses paid for services rendered in a previous year, and 
any compensation other than bonuses earned by the directors for services rendered) to the directors for services 
rendered as directors only. Executive officers of the Corporation who also act as directors of the Corporation are 
expected not to receive any additional compensation for services rendered in such capacity, other than to be paid by 
the Corporation to such executive officers in their capacity as executive officers. 

Outstanding Option-Based Awards 

The Corporation has not issued options to any of its directors or officers. The Corporation may in future issue 
options to certain of its directors and officers.  



51 

 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Corporation does not anticipate having any deferred compensation plan or pension plan that provides for 
payments or benefits at, following or in connection with retirement.  

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

As at the date of this Prospectus, none of the directors and executive officers of the Corporation or Associates of 
such persons is indebted to the Corporation or another entity where the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, 
support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Corporation. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The current members of the Corporation’s Audit Committee are André Audet, Michael Saxon, Teresa DeLuca and 
Leona Aglukkaq. All members of the Audit Committee are financially literate and three are independent. All of the 
members of the Audit Committee have sufficient knowledge and experience to carry out their responsibilities as 
such. The education and experience of each member of the Audit Committee relevant to the performance of his 
duties as a member of the Audit Committee can be found under the heading “Biographies”. 

Role of Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee’s role is to assist the Board in promoting and improving the credibility and objectivity of 
financial reports. The Audit Committee oversees the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Corporation 
including its management reporting and internal control procedures and systems, and reviews and recommends for 
approval by the Board disclosure relating to financial matters. The Audit Committee manages the relationship 
between the Corporation and its external auditors by overseeing the work of the external auditors and by making 
recommendations to the Board on the engagement, remuneration and termination of the external auditors based on 
its evaluation of their performance. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

At no time since the commencement of the Corporation’s most recently completed financial year has any 
recommendation of the Audit Committee respecting the appointment and/or compensation of the Corporation’s 
external auditors not been adopted by the Board. 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

At no time since the commencement of the Corporation’s most recently completed financial year has the 
Corporation relied on exemptions in relation to “De Minimus Non-Audit Services” or any exemption provided by 
Part 8 of National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees.  

Charter of Audit Committee 

The full text of the Charter of the Corporation’s Audit Committee is attached to this Prospectus as Schedule C. 

Fees Paid to External Auditors 

The aggregate audit fees billed by the external auditors of the Corporation for the period from the date of 
incorporation on November 29, 2016 ended November 30, 2016 and for the year ended November 30, 2017 are 
$1,500 and $3,500, respectively.  There were no audit-related fees, tax fees or other fees for the foregoing periods. 
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CORPORATE GOVERANCE 

On June 30, 2005, the Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”) enacted National Policy 58-201 – Corporate 
Governance Guidelines (the “Governance Policy”) and National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate 
Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”). The Governance Policy provides guidelines on corporate governance 
practices while NI 58-101 requires Canadian reporting Corporations to disclose their corporate governance practices 
in accordance with the disclosure items set out in Form 58-101F2. 

The Corporation has reviewed its own corporate governance practices in light of the guidelines contained in the 
Governance Policy. The Corporation’s practices comply generally with the guidelines, however, the current 
directors of the Corporation consider that some of the guidelines are not suitable for the Corporation at its current 
state of development and therefore the Corporation’s governance practices do not reflect these particular guidelines, 
specifically: Director Term Limits and Other Mechanisms of Board Renewal; Policies Regarding the Representation 
of Women on the Board; Consideration of the Representation of Women in the Director Identification and Selection 
Process; Consideration Given to the Representation of Women in Executive Officer Appointments; Issuer’s Targets 
Regarding the Representation of Women on the Board and in Executive Officer Positions and Number of Women on 
the Board and in Executive Officer Positions. Given that the Corporation is a relatively small corporation in terms of 
both activities and market capitalization, the directors of the Corporation believe that the current governance 
structure is cost-effective and appropriate for the needs of the Shareholders.  

Set out below is a description of the Corporation’s corporate governance practices as required to be disclosed by 
NI 58-101. 

Board of Directors 

At the date of filing of this Prospectus, the Board consisted of five directors, three of whom (Teresa DeLuca, Leona 
Aglukkaq and Michael Saxon) are independent. The other two directors are Ryan Brown, CEO of the Corporation, 
and André Audet, President of the Corporation. 

Directors are expected to attend Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they serve and to spend the 
time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their responsibilities. 

Board Mandate 

The Board facilitates independent supervision of Management through meetings of the Board and through frequent 
informal discussions among independent members of the Board and Management. In addition, the Board has access 
to the Corporation’s external auditors, legal counsel and to any of the Corporation’s officers.  

The Board have a stewardship responsibility to supervise the management of and oversee the conduct of the 
business of the relevant company, provide leadership and direction to management, evaluate management, set 
policies appropriate for the business of the company and approve corporate strategies and goals.  

The day-to-day management of the business and affairs of the Corporation is delegated by the Board to the senior 
officers of the Corporation. The Board will give direction and guidance through the General Director and President 
to Management and will keep Management informed of its evaluation of the senior officers in achieving and 
complying with goals and policies established by the Board.  

The Board recommends nominees to the shareholders for election as directors, and immediately following each 
annual general meeting appoints an Audit Committee.  
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The Board exercises its independent supervision over Management by its policies that (a) periodic meetings of the 
Board be held to obtain an update on significant corporate activities and plans; and (b) all material transactions of 
the Corporation are subject to prior approval of the Board. To facilitate open and candid discussion among its 
independent directors, such directors are encouraged to communicate with each other directly to discuss ongoing 
issues pertaining to the Corporation. 

Position Description 

Because the Board is a small, working board, it has not developed written position descriptions and does not have a 
process for assessing the performance of the directors or the chair of the Board committees. 

The CEO and President of the Corporation are responsible for the general management of the day-to-day affairs of 
the Corporation within the guidelines established by the Board, consistent with decisions requiring prior approval of 
the Board. 

Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

The following table sets out the directors, officers and promoters of the Corporation that are, or have been within the 
last five years, directors, officers or promoters of other issuers that are or were reporting issuers in any Canadian 
jurisdiction:  

Name of director, 
officer or 
promoter 

Name of reporting 
issuer 

Exchange Position Term 

André Audet Albert Mining Inc. TSXV Director and Officer 2013-08-19 to present 

Everton Resources TSXV Director and Officer 2003-07-01 to present 

Tetra-BioPharma Inc. TSXV Director and Officer 2008-02-28 to 2017-09-26 

Ryan Brown Tetra-BioPharma Inc. TSXV Director and Officer 2015-01 to 2016-11 

Leona Aglukkaq TMAC Resources Inc. TSXV Director 2016-02-25 to present 

Kosta Kostic GeoMega Resources Inc. TSXV Director 2017-10 to present 

Relevium Technologies 
Inc. 

TSXV Director and Secretary 2012-07 to 2017-08 

Element 79 Capital Inc. TSXV Secretary 2013-02 to present 

Osta Biotechnologies Inc. TSXV Secretary 2005-06 to 2014-06 

Junex Inc. TSXV Secretary 2008-11 to 2014-07 

 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

While the Corporation does not have formal orientation and training programs, orientation of new members of the 
Board is conducted by informal meetings with members of the Board, briefings by Management, and the provision 
of copies of or access to the Corporation’s documents.  

The Corporation has not adopted formal policies respecting continuing education for Board members. Board 
members are encouraged to communicate with management, legal counsel, auditors and consultants, to keep 
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themselves current with industry trends and developments and changes in legislation with management’s assistance, 
and to attend related industry seminars and visit the Corporation’s operations. Board members have full access to the 
Corporation’s records. 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by governing corporate legislation and 
the common law, and the restrictions placed by the CBCA on an individual director’s participation in decisions of 
the board in which the director has an interest, have helped to ensure that the Board operates independently of 
Management and in the best interests of the Corporation.  

Under corporate legislation, a director is required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests 
of a company and exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in 
comparable circumstances. In addition, if a director of a company also serves as a director or officer of another 
company engaged in similar business activities to the first company, that director must comply with the conflict of 
interest provisions of the CBCA, as well as the relevant securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure that 
directors exercise independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or 
officer has a material interest. Any interested director would be required to declare the nature and extent of his 
interest and would not be entitled to vote at meetings of directors that evoke such a conflict. 

Nomination of Directors 

The Corporation does not have a stand-alone nomination committee. The full Board has responsibility for 
identifying potential Board candidates. The Board assesses potential Board candidates to fill perceived needs on the 
Board for required skills, expertise, independence and other factors. Members of the Board and representatives of 
the industry are consulted for possible candidates. 

Compensation  

The Board conducts reviews with regard to directors’ and officers’ compensation at least once a year. For 
information regarding the steps taken to determine compensation for the directors and the executive officers, see 
“Executive Compensation” herein.  

Other Board Committees  

The Board has no other committees other than the Audit Committee.  

Assessments  

The Board monitors the adequacy of information given to directors, communication between the Board and 
management and the strategic direction and processes of the Board and committees. On an ongoing annual basis, the 
Board assesses the performance of the Board as a whole, each of the individual directors and each committee of the 
Board in order to satisfy itself that each is functioning effectively.  

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR OFFICERS  

None of the Corporation’s directors or officers or any of their respective associates is indebted to the Corporation 
Group or has been subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding 
provided by the Corporation. 
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RISK FACTORS 

Investment in the Common Shares involves significant risks. You should carefully consider the risks described 
below, which are qualified in their entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, the detailed 
information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus, and all other information contained in this Prospectus, including 
the financial statements and accompanying notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are those we currently 
believe to be material, but they are not the only ones we face. If any of the following risks, or any other risks and 
uncertainties that we have not yet identified or that we currently consider not to be material, actually occur or 
become material risks, our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be 
materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our Common Shares could decline and you 
could lose part or all of your investment. 

Risks Generally Related to the Corporation 

The Corporation is a development stage company with little operating history, a history of losses and the 
Corporation cannot assure profitability. 

The Corporation’s business is comprised of a recently-acquired subsidiary. The Corporation has been incurring 
operating losses and cash flow deficits since the inception of such operations, as it attempts to create an 
infrastructure to capitalize on the opportunity for value creation that is emerging from the relaxing of prohibitions on 
the cannabis industry nationwide in Canada. The Corporation’s lack of operating history, and the lack of historical 
pro-forma combined financial information for the Corporation and its acquired subsidiary, makes it difficult for 
investors to evaluate the Corporation’s prospects for success. Prospective investors should consider the risks and 
difficulties the Corporation might encounter, especially given the Corporation’s lack of an operating history or 
historical pro forma combined financial information, there is no assurance that the Corporation will be successful 
and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its relatively early stage of operations. As the 
Corporation has not begun to generate revenue, it is extremely difficult to make accurate predictions and forecasts of 
its finances. This is compounded by the fact the Corporation intends to operate in the cannabis industry, which is 
rapidly transforming. There is no guarantee that the Corporation’s products or services will be attractive to potential 
consumers. 

Uncertainty about the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Corporation is in the development stage and is currently seeking additional capital, mergers, acquisitions, joint 
ventures, partnerships and other business arrangements to expand its product offerings in the medical cannabis 
industry and grow its revenue. The Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability 
in the future to grow its revenue and achieve profitable operations and, in the meantime, to obtain the necessary 
financing to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities when they become due. External financing, predominantly 
by the issuance of equity and debt, will be sought to finance the operations of the Corporation; however, there can 
be no certainty that such funds will be available at terms acceptable to the Corporation. These conditions indicate the 
existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Corporation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

The Corporation has negative cash flow for the three month period ended May 31, 2018. 

The Corporation had negative operating cash flow for the three month period ended May 31, 2018. To the extent 
that the Corporation has negative operating cash flow in future periods, it may need to allocate a portion of its cash 
reserves to fund such negative cash flow. The Corporation may also be required to raise additional funds through the 
issuance of equity or debt securities. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to generate a 
positive cash flow from its operations, that additional capital or other types of financing will be available when 
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needed or that these financings will be on terms favourable to the Corporation. The Corporation’s actual financial 
position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations of the Corporation’s management. 

The Corporation’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from management’s 
expectations. 

The Corporation has experienced some changes in its operating plans and certain delays in its plans. As a result, the 
Corporation’s revenue, net income and cash flow may differ materially from the Corporation’s projected revenue, 
net income and cash flow. The process for estimating the Corporation’s revenue, net income and cash flow requires 
the use of judgment in determining the appropriate assumptions and estimates. These estimates and assumptions 
may be revised as additional information becomes available and as additional analyses are performed. In addition, 
the assumptions used in planning may not prove to be accurate, and other factors may affect the Corporation’s 
financial condition or results of operations. 

The Corporation expects to incur significant ongoing costs and obligations related to its investment in infrastructure 
and growth and for regulatory compliance, which could have a material adverse impact on the Corporation’s results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, future changes in regulations, more vigorous 
enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to the Corporation’s operations, 
increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the 
business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. Our efforts to grow our business may be 
costlier than we expect, and we may not be able to increase our revenue enough to offset our higher operating 
expenses. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including the other risks described 
in this Prospectus, and unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown events. If we 
are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the market price of our Common Shares may significantly decrease. 

Venosta Facility 

Through its acquisition of all the issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. from the owner of the 
Venosta Land, the Corporation has secured rights to the Venosta Land, and is expecting to complete the build-out of 
the Venosta Facility. It is intended that the Venosta Facility will allow the Corporation to obtain the Cultivation 
Licence and begin its Intended Business. However, no assurance can be given that Health Canada will approve the 
Venosta Facility and issue the Corporation’s Cultivation Licence. If the Corporation is unable to secure the 
Licences, the expectations of management with respect to its ability to begin the Intended Business may not be 
borne out, which would have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations. Further, construction delays or cost over-runs in respect of the build-out of the Venosta Facility, 
howsoever caused, could also have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s ability to begin its Intended 
Business, as well as general business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Corporation is reliant on the successful construction and operation of the Venosta Facility in order to begin its 
Intended Business. The Venosta Facility, once built-out and operational, will be integral to the Corporation’s 
business and adverse changes or developments affecting either the construction or operation of the Venosta Facility 
may impact Corporation’s ability to begin its Intended Business, as well as its general financial condition and 
prospects. 

In the foreseeable future, the Corporation’s activities and resources will be focused on obtaining the Licences as 
well as the build-out of, and start of operations at the Venosta Facility. The Licences will be specific to the Venosta 
Facility. Once the construction of the Venosta Facility is complete and the facility becomes operational, adverse 
changes or developments affecting it, including but not limited to a force majeure event or a breach of security, 
could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and prospects. Any breach of 
the security measures and other facility requirements, including any failure to comply with recommendations or 
requirements arising from inspections by Health Canada, could also have an impact on the Corporation’s ability to 
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continue operating under the Licences or the prospect of renewing the Licences or would result in a revocation of 
the Licences. 

Construction Risk Factors 

The Corporation’s growth strategy contemplates building the Venosta Facility. There is a risk that this will not be 
achieved on time, on budget, or at all, as it can be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including some that are 
discussed elsewhere in these “Risk Factors” and the following: 

 the availability and performance of engineering and construction contractors, suppliers and consultants; 

 delays in obtaining, or conditions imposed by, regulatory approvals in connection with the construction of 
the Venosta Facility; 

 delay in the performance of any one or more of the contractors, suppliers, consultants or other persons on 
which the Corporation is dependent in connection with its construction activities; 

 failure in connection with the completion and successful operation of the operational elements in 
connection with construction ;  

 start-up costs and ongoing operating costs being significantly higher than anticipated by the Corporation. 

 facility design errors; 

 environmental pollution; non-performance by third party contractors; increases in materials or labour costs; 
construction performance falling below expected levels of output or efficiency; 

 breakdown, aging or failure of equipment or processes; 

  contractor or operator errors; 

 operational inefficiencies; 

 labour disputes, disruptions or declines in productivity; inability to attract sufficient numbers of qualified 
workers; disruption in the supply of energy and utilities; and 

 major incidents and/or catastrophic events such as fires, explosions or storms. 

Any of the foregoing factors could adversely impact the operations and financial condition of the Corporation. 

Reliance on a Single Facility  

As described under “Venosta Facility”, the Corporation is reliant on the successful construction and operation of the 
Venosta Facility in order to obtain the Cultivation Licence and begin its Intended Business. For the foreseeable 
future, and until completion of the construction of the Venosta Facility, the Corporation will devote significant 
efforts and resources to this project. Adverse changes or developments affecting the construction of, and start of 
operations at the Venosta Facility, including any of the risk factors described under “Construction Risk Factors” 
could have a material and adverse effect on the Corporation’s ability to begin its Intended Business, as well as its 
general financial condition and prospects.  
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Limited Recourse against Tetra in GrowPros Acquisition. 

Investors in the Corporation will not have a direct statutory right or any other rights against Tetra, the vendor of all 
of the shares of GrowPros to the Corporation. The sole remedy of the investors against Tetra will be through the 
Corporation bringing an action for a breach of the representations and warranties contained in the SPA. While the 
Corporation is indemnified for breaches of representations and warranties contained in the SPA, recourse for such 
breaches may be limited due to qualifications related to knowledge of Tetra as the vendor, contractual and time 
limits on recourse under applicable laws, and the ability of Tetra to satisfy third-party claims. In particular, most of 
the representations and warranties under the SPA survive for a period of only one year. The inability to recover fully 
any significant liabilities incurred with respect to breaches of representations and warranties under the SPA may 
have adverse effects on the Corporation’s financial position. In addition, Tetra has not made any representation to 
the Corporation, and is not making any representation to investors, as to the disclosure in this Prospectus 
constituting full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts related to the GrowPros Acquisition, or that this 
Prospectus does not contain a misrepresentation with respect to such GrowPros Acquisition. Accordingly, Tetra will 
not have any liability to investors if the disclosure in this Prospectus relating to the GrowPros Acquisition does not 
meet such standard or contains a misrepresentation. 

Also note that Tetra is not involved in the day to day management or operations of the Corporation and there is no 
agreement between the Corporation and Tetra or any of its affiliates whereby Tetra or its affiliates are provided with 
contractual rights to nominate board or committee members or voting rights. (see Development – Acquisition of 
GrowPros) 

The Corporation is reliant on the obtention of the Licences to produce medical cannabis products in Canada. 

The Corporation’s ability to grow, store and sell medical marihuana and cannabis oil in Canada is dependent on 
securing the appropriate licences with Health Canada. Failure to comply with the requirements of any licence 
application or failure to obtain the appropriate licences with Health Canada would have a material adverse impact on 
the future business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation. There can be no guarantees that 
Health Canada will issue the required Licences. 

If and when the Licences are issued, they will have to be periodically renewed by Health Canada. Although the 
Corporation believes it will meet the requirements of the ACMPR for future renewals of the Licences, there can be 
no guarantee that Health Canada will renew the Licences or, if renewed, that they will be renewed on the same or 
similar terms or that Health Canada will not revoke the Licences. Should the Corporation fail to comply with the 
requirements of the Licences or should Health Canada not renew the Licences when required, or renew the Licences 
on different terms or revoke the Licences, there would be a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Government licences are currently, and in the future may be, required in connection with the Corporation’s 
operations, in addition to other unknown permits and approvals which may be required. To the extent such permits 
and approvals are required and not obtained, the Corporation may be prevented from operating and/or expanding its 
business, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

The Corporation is subject to changes in Canadian laws, regulations and guidelines which could adversely affect 
the Corporation’s future business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Corporation’s operations will be subject to various laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the manufacture, 
management, packaging/labelling, advertising, sale, transportation, storage and disposal of medical cannabis but also 
including laws and regulations relating to drugs, controlled substances, health and safety, the conduct of operations 
and the protection of the environment. Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines due to matters beyond the 
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control of the Corporation may cause adverse effects to its operations. The Corporation endeavours to comply with 
all relevant laws, regulations and guidelines. To the best of the Corporation’s knowledge, the Corporation is in 
compliance or in the process of being assessed for compliance with all such laws, regulations and guidelines as 
described elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

Bill C-45 was passed by the Senate on June 19, 2018. On June 20, 2018, it was announced that marihuana would be 
legal in Canada by October 17, 2018. The Corporation cannot yet establish with certainty how the government of the 
province and territories will respond to the passage of Bill C-45. The governments of British Columbia, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and New Brunswick have yet to implement a legislation to regulate the distribution and 
sale of cannabis for recreational purposes. There is no guarantee that provincial legislation regulating the 
distribution and sale of cannabis for recreational purposes will be enacted according to the terms announced by such 
provinces, or at all, or that any such legislation, if enacted, will create the growth opportunities that the Corporation 
currently anticipates. 

In addition, on July 11, 2018, Regulations to support the coming into force of the Cannabis Act were published. The 
Cannabis Regulations provide for the issuance of licences required for cultivating and processing cannabis, the sale 
of cannabis for medical purposes and analytical testing and research in relation to cannabis.  These licences will be 
subject to various general requirements as well as conditions specific to the activities and sub-activities they 
authorize.  The Cannabis Regulations also allow license and permit holders to import and export cannabis for 
scientific or medical purposes. Due to the evolving regulatory environment, management of the Corporation expects 
to encounter delays with the Office of Medical Cannabis (“OMC”) in the processing of its confirmation of readiness 
submission and issuing of the Cultivation License.  While management expects to be able to submit the Evidence 
Package by the end of 2018, management cannot be certain as to the processing time by the OMC and the 
Corporation could experience additional delays in obtaining the necessary authorizations and licences.  Any delays 
could adversely affect the Corporation’s future business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Corporation’s business plan involves a number of strategic partnerships. If these partnerships do not 
materialize, the Corporation may be unable to sell its products. 

The Corporation’s business plan contemplates several strategic partnerships or relationships that may not necessarily 
materialize in the course of the Corporation’s business. In connection therewith, the Corporation expects to be 
dependent on its strategic relationship with its real estate developer and its greenhouse engineering consultant. These 
relationships are expected to be critical to the design and construction of the Venosta Facility and the development, 
manufacture, marketing and distribution of the Corporation’s products. If these relationships are unsuccessful, or if 
the Corporation is unsuccessful in establishing them, the Corporation may be unable to effectively develop, 
manufacture, market and distribute its products in accordance with its business plan. 

The Corporation may not be able to develop its products, which could prevent it from ever becoming profitable. 

If the Corporation cannot successfully develop, manufacture and distribute its products, or if the Corporation 
experiences difficulties in the development process, such as capacity constraints, quality control problems or other 
disruptions, the Corporation may not be able to develop market-ready commercial products at acceptable costs, 
which would adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to effectively enter the market. A failure by the Corporation 
to achieve a low-cost structure through economies of scale or improvements in cultivation and manufacturing 
processes would have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s commercialization plans and the Corporation’s 
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. 

There is no assurance that the Corporation will turn a profit or generate immediate revenues. 

There is no assurance as to whether the Corporation will be profitable, earn revenues, or pay dividends. The 
Corporation has incurred and anticipates that it will continue to incur substantial expenses relating to the 
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development and initial operations of its business. The payment and amount of any future dividends will depend 
upon, among other things, the Corporation’s results of operations, cash flow, financial condition, and operating and 
capital requirements. 

There is no assurance that future dividends will be paid, and, if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect 
to the amount of any such dividends. 

The Corporation may not be able to effectively manage its growth and operations, which could materially and 
adversely affect its business. 

The Corporation has grown by acquisition. If the Corporation implements it business plan as intended, it may in the 
future experience rapid growth and development in a relatively short period of time. The management of this growth 
will require, among other things, continued development of the Corporation’s financial and management controls 
and management information systems, stringent control of costs, the ability to attract and retain qualified 
management personnel and the training of new personnel. The Corporation intends to utilize outsourced resources, 
and hire additional personnel, to manage its expected growth and expansion. Failure to successfully manage its 
possible growth and development could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business and the value 
of the Common Shares. 

The Corporation may be unable to adequately protect its proprietary and intellectual property rights. 

The Corporation’s ability to compete may depend on the superiority, uniqueness and value of any intellectual 
property and technology that it may develop. To the extent the Corporation is able to do so, to protect any 
proprietary rights of the Corporation, the Corporation intends to rely on a combination of patent, trademark, 
copyright and trade secret laws, confidentiality agreements with its employees and third parties, and protective 
contractual provisions. Despite these efforts, any of the following occurrences may reduce the value of any of the 
Corporation’s intellectual property: 

 the market for the Corporation’s products and services may depend to a significant extent upon the 
goodwill associated with its trademarks and trade names, and its ability to register its intellectual property 
under U.S. federal and state law is impaired by the illegality of cannabis under U.S. federal law; 

 patents in the cannabis industry involve complex legal and scientific questions and patent protection may 
not be available for some or any products;  

 the Corporation’s applications for trademarks and copyrights relating to its business may not be granted 
and, if granted, may be challenged or invalidated; 

 issued patents, trademarks and registered copyrights may not provide the Corporation with competitive 
advantages;  

 the Corporation’s efforts to protect its intellectual property rights may not be effective in preventing 
misappropriation of any its products or intellectual property; 

 the Corporation’s efforts may not prevent the development and design by others of products similar to or 
competitive with, or superior to those the Corporation develops;  

 another party may obtain a blocking patent and the Corporation would need to either obtain a licence or 
design around the patent in order to continue to offer the contested feature or service in its products; or 
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 the expiration of patent or other intellectual property protections for any assets owned by the Corporation 
could result in significant competition, potentially at any time and without notice, resulting in a significant 
reduction in sales. The effect of the loss of these protections on the Corporation and its financial results will 
depend, among other things, upon the nature of the market and the position of the Corporation’s products in 
the market from time to time, the growth of the market, the complexities and economics of manufacturing a 
competitive product and regulatory approval requirements but the impact could be material and adverse. 
The Corporation may be forced to litigate to defend its intellectual property rights, or to defend against 
claims by third parties against the Corporation relating to intellectual property rights. 

The Corporation may be forced to litigate to enforce or defend its intellectual property rights, to protect its trade 
secrets or to determine the validity and scope of other parties’ proprietary rights. 

Any such litigation could be very costly and could distract its management from focusing on operating the 
Corporation’s business. The existence and/or outcome of any such litigation could harm the Corporation’s business. 
Further, because the content of much of the Corporation’s intellectual property concerns cannabis and other 
activities that are not legal in some state jurisdictions or under federal law, the Corporation may face additional 
difficulties in defending its intellectual property rights. The Corporation may become subject to litigation, including 
for possible product liability claims, which may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s reputation, 
business, results from operations, and financial condition. The Corporation may be named as a defendant in a 
lawsuit or regulatory action. The Corporation may also incur uninsured losses for liabilities which arise in the 
ordinary course of business, or which are unforeseen, including, but not limited to, employment liability and 
business loss claims. Any such losses could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, results of 
operations, sales, cash flow or financial condition. Further, the administration of medical substances to humans can 
result in product liability claims by consumers. Product liability claims can be expensive, difficult to defend and 
may result in large judgments or settlements against the Corporation. The Corporation may not be able to obtain or 
maintain adequate insurance or other protection against potential liabilities arising from product sales. Product 
liability claims could also result in negative perception of the Corporation’s products or other reputational damage 
which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, results of operations, sales, cash flow or 
financial condition. 

The Corporation’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions in which it 
operates.  

These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality standards and land 
reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and 
hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and 
enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of 
proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and 
employees. There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect 
the Corporation’s operations. Government environmental approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future 
be required in connection with the Corporation’s operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not 
obtained, the Corporation may be curtailed or prohibited from its proposed business activities or from proceeding 
with the development of its operations as currently proposed. Failure to comply with applicable environmental laws, 
regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by 
regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures 
requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. The Corporation may be 
required to compensate those suffering loss or damage due to its operations and may have civil or criminal fines or 
penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. 
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The Corporation faces competition from other companies where it will conduct business that may have higher 
capitalization, more experienced management or may be more mature as a business. 

An increase in the companies competing in this industry could limit the ability of the Corporation to expand its 
operations. Current and new competitors may be better capitalized, a longer operating history, more expertise and 
able to develop higher quality equipment or products, at the same or a lower cost. The Corporation cannot provide 
assurances that it will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors. Competitive pressures 
faced by the Corporation could have a material adverse effect on its business, operating results and financial 
condition. In addition, despite Canadian federal and state-level legalization of marihuana, illicit or “black-market” 
operations remain abundant and present substantial competition to the Corporation. In particular, illicit operations, 
despite being largely clandestine, are not required to comply with the extensive regulations that the Corporation 
must comply with to conduct business, and accordingly may have significantly lower costs of operation. 

If the Corporation is unable to attract and retain key personnel, it may not be able to compete effectively in the 
cannabis market. 

The Corporation’s success has depended and continues to depend upon its ability to attract and retain key 
management, including the Corporation’s CEO, technical experts and sales personnel. The Corporation will attempt 
to enhance its management and technical expertise by continuing to recruit qualified individuals who possess desired 
skills and experience in certain targeted areas. The Corporation’s inability to retain employees and attract and retain 
sufficient additional employees or engineering and technical support resources could have a material adverse effect 
on the Corporation’s business, results of operations, sales, cash flow or financial condition. Shortages in qualified 
personnel or the loss of key personnel could adversely affect the financial condition of the Corporation, results of 
operations of the business and could limit the Corporation’s ability to develop and market its cannabis-related 
products. The loss of any of the Corporation’s senior management or key employees could materially adversely 
affect the Corporation’s ability to execute our business plan and strategy, and the Corporation may not be able to 
find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all. The Corporation does not maintain key person life insurance 
policies on any of our employees. 

There is no assurance that the Corporation will obtain and retain the Licences. 

The Corporation’s ability to grow, store and sell cannabis in Canada is dependent on the ability of the Corporation to 
obtain the licences to do so from Health Canada. The Corporation does not currently hold a licence from Health 
Canada and there can be no assurance that the Corporation will receive such a licence in a timely manner, or at all. 
The Licences, once issued, are subject to ongoing compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with 
the requirements would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of 
the Corporation. 

If and when the Licences are issued, they will have to be periodically renewed by Health Canada. Although the 
Corporation believes it will meet the requirements of the ACMPR for future renewals of the Licences, there can be 
no guarantee that Health Canada will renew the Licences or, if renewed, that they will be renewed on the same or 
similar terms or that Health Canada will not revoke the Licences. Should the Corporation fail to comply with the 
requirements of the Licences or should Health Canada not renew the Licences when required, or renew the Licences 
on different terms or revoke the Licences, there would be a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Government licences are currently, and in the future may be, required in connection with the Corporation’s 
operations, in addition to other unknown permits and approvals which may be required. To the extent such permits 
and approvals are required and not obtained, the Corporation may be prevented from operating and/or expanding its 
business, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 
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Failure to successfully integrate acquired businesses, its products and other assets into the Corporation, or if 
integrated, failure to further the Corporation’s business strategy, may result in the Corporation’s inability to 
realize any benefit from such acquisition. 

The Corporation has grown by acquiring GrowPros and 9366-4027 Québec Inc. The consummation and integration 
of any acquired business, product or other assets into the Corporation may be complex and time consuming and, if 
such businesses and assets are not successfully integrated, the Corporation may not achieve the anticipated benefits, 
cost-savings or growth opportunities. Furthermore, these acquisitions and other arrangements, even if successfully 
integrated, may fail to further the Corporation’s business strategy as anticipated, expose the Corporation to increased 
competition or other challenges with respect to the Corporation’s products or geographic markets, and expose the 
Corporation to additional liabilities associated with an acquired business, technology or other asset or arrangement. 
When the Corporation acquires cannabis businesses, it may obtain the rights to applications for licences as well as 
licences; however, the procurement of such applications for licences and licences generally will be subject to 
governmental and regulatory approval. There are no guarantees that the Corporation will successfully consummate 
such acquisitions, and even if the Corporation consummates such acquisitions, the procurement of applications for 
licences may never result in the grant of a licence by any state or local governmental or regulatory agency and the 
transfer of any rights to licences may never be approved by the applicable state and/or local governmental or 
regulatory agency. 

The size of the Corporation’s target market is difficult to quantify and investors will be reliant on their own 
estimates on the accuracy of market data. 

Because the cannabis industry is in a nascent stage with uncertain boundaries, there is a lack of information about 
comparable companies available for potential investors to review in deciding about whether to invest in the 
Corporation and, few, if any, established companies whose business model the Corporation can follow or upon 
whose success the Corporation can build. Accordingly, investors will have to rely on their own estimates in deciding 
about whether to invest in the Corporation. There can be no assurance that the Corporation’s estimates are accurate 
or that the market size is sufficiently large for its business to grow as projected, which may negatively impact its 
financial results. The Corporation regularly purchases and follows market research. 

The Corporation’s industry is experiencing rapid growth and consolidation that may cause the Corporation to 
lose key relationships and intensify competition. 

The cannabis industry is undergoing rapid growth and substantial change, which has resulted in an increase in 
competitors, consolidation and formation of strategic relationships. Acquisitions or other consolidating transactions 
could harm the Corporation in a number of ways, including by losing strategic partners if they are acquired by or 
enter into relationships with a competitor, losing customers, revenue and market share, or forcing the Corporation to 
expend greater resources to meet new or additional competitive threats, all of which could harm the Corporation’s 
operating results. As competitors enter the market and become increasingly sophisticated, competition in the 
Corporation’s industry may intensify and place downward pressure on retail prices for its products and services, 
which could negatively impact its profitability. 

The Corporation continues to sell shares for cash to fund operations, capital expansion, mergers and acquisitions that 
will dilute the current shareholders. There is no guarantee that the Corporation will be able to achieve its business 
objectives. The continued development of the Corporation will require additional financing. The failure to raise such 
capital could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of current business objectives or the Corporation going 
out of business. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if 
needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to the Corporation. 

If additional funds are raised through issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders could 
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences and privileges 
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superior to those of holders of Common Shares. The Corporation’s articles permit the issuance of an unlimited 
number of Common Shares, and shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further 
issuance. The directors of the Corporation have discretion to determine the price and the terms of issue of further 
issuances. Moreover, additional Common Shares will be issued by the Corporation on the exercise of options under 
the Stock Option Plan and upon the exercise of outstanding warrants. In addition, from time to time, the Corporation 
may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of other companies. These transactions may be financed 
wholly or partially with debt, which may temporarily increase the Corporation’s debt levels above industry 
standards. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to capital raising 
activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Corporation to obtain 
additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. The Corporation may 
require additional financing to fund its operations to the point where it is generating positive cash flows. Negative 
cash flow may restrict the Corporation’s ability to pursue its business objectives. 

If you purchase shares of our Common Shares in an offering, you will experience substantial and immediate 
dilution, because the price that you pay will be substantially greater than the net tangible book value per share of the 
Common Shares that you acquire. This dilution is due in large part to the fact that our earlier investors will have 
paid substantially less than a public offering price when they purchased their shares of our capital stock. 

The Corporation operates within the cannabis industry, which might result in additional difficulties and 
complexities associated with obtaining adequate insurance coverage. 

At the date of this Prospectus, the Corporation and its subsidiaries have secured insurance coverage with respect to 
builder’s risk, general liability and property. The Corporation has not yet secured insurance coverage with respect to 
workers’ compensation, directors’ and officers’ insurance, fire and other similar policies customarily obtained for 
businesses to the extent commercially appropriate; and, because the Corporation is engaged in and operates within 
the cannabis industry, there might be exclusions and additional difficulties and complexities associated with 
obtaining such insurance coverage that could cause the Corporation to suffer uninsured losses, which could 
adversely affect the Corporation’s business, results of operations, and profitability. There is no assurance that the 
Corporation will be able to obtain and utilize such insurance coverage, if necessary. 

The cultivation of cannabis includes risks inherent in an agricultural business including the risk of crop loss, 
sudden changes in environmental conditions, equipment failure, product recalls and others. 

The Corporation’s future business involves the growing of medical marihuana, an agricultural product. Such 
business will be subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases and similar 
agricultural risks. Although the Corporation expects that any such growing will be completed indoors under climate 
controlled conditions, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on any 
such future production. The Corporation is reliant on a single location. Adverse changes affecting the Venosta 
Facility, development project could materially affect the Corporation’s plans. 

The cultivation of cannabis involves a reliance on third party transportation which could result in supply delays, 
reliability of delivery and other related risks.  

In order for customers of the Corporation to receive their product, the Corporation will rely on third party 
transportation services. This can cause logistical problems with and delays in patients obtaining their orders and 
cannot be directly controlled by the Corporation. Any delay by third party transportation services may adversely 
affect the Corporation’s financial performance. 

Moreover, security of the product during transportation to and from the Corporation’s facilities is critical due to the 
nature of the product. A breach of security during transport could have material adverse effects on the Corporation’s 
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business, financials and prospects. Any such breach could impact the Corporation’s future ability to continue 
operating under its licences or the prospect of renewing its licences. 

The Corporation may be subject to product recalls for product defects self-imposed or imposed by regulators.  

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a 
variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or interactions 
with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labelling disclosure. If any of the 
Corporation’s products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the Corporation could 
be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection 
with the recall. The Corporation may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at 
an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. Although 
the Corporation has detailed procedures in place for testing its products, there can be no assurance that any quality, 
potency or contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or 
lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the Corporation significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand 
and the Corporation could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for 
the Corporation’s products and could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial 
condition of the Corporation. Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of the Corporation’s 
operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, requiring further management attention and potential 
legal fees and other expenses. 

The Corporation is reliant on key inputs, such as water and utilities, and any interruption of these services could 
have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s finances and operation results. 

The Corporation’s business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials 
and supplies related to its growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant 
interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could materially 
impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation. Any inability to secure required 
supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact on the business, 
financial condition and operating results of the Corporation. 

The expansion of the medical cannabis industry may require new clinical research into effective medical 
therapies, when such research has been restricted in the U.S. and is new to Canada. 

Research in Canada, the U.S. and internationally regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing 
and social acceptance of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids remains in early stages. There have been relatively few 
clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids. Although the Corporation believes that the 
articles, reports and studies support its beliefs regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and 
social acceptance of cannabis, future research and clinical trials may prove such statements to be incorrect, or could 
raise concerns regarding, and perceptions relating to, cannabis. Given these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, 
investors should not place undue reliance on such articles and reports. Future research studies and clinical trials may 
draw opposing conclusions to those stated in this Prospectus or reach negative conclusions regarding the medical 
benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing, social acceptance or other facts and perceptions related to medical 
cannabis, which could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Corporation’s products with the 
potential to lead to a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
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Under Canadian regulations, a Licensed Producer of cannabis may have restrictions on the type and form of 
marketing it can undertake which could materially impact sales performance. 

The development of the Corporation’s future business and operating results may be hindered by applicable 
restrictions on sales and marketing activities imposed by Health Canada or U.S. regulatory authorities. The 
regulatory environment in Canada limits the Corporation’s ability to compete for market share in a manner similar to 
other industries. The regulatory environment in California may in the future also restrict the type and form of 
marketing which could limit the Corporation’s ability to compete for market share. If the Corporation is unable to 
effectively market its products and compete for market share, or if the costs of compliance with government 
legislation and regulation cannot be absorbed through increased selling prices for its products, the Corporation’s 
sales and operating results could be adversely affected. 

The Corporation could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and consultants 
resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Corporation. 

The Corporation is exposed to the risk that its employees, independent contractors and consultants may engage in 
fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent 
conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to the Corporation that violates: (i) government regulations; (ii) 
manufacturing standards; (iii) federal and provincial healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations; or (iv) laws 
that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. It is not always possible for 
the Corporation to identify and deter misconduct by its employees and other third parties, and the precautions taken 
by the Corporation to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged 
risks or losses or in protecting the Corporation from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits 
stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against 
the Corporation, and it is not successful in defending itself or asserting its rights, those actions could have a 
significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, 
monetary fines, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of 
the Corporation’s operations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The Corporation will be reliant on information technology systems and may be subject to damaging cyber-
attacks. 

The Corporation has entered into agreements with third parties for hardware, software, telecommunications and 
other information technology (“IT”) services in connection with its operations. The Corporation’s operations 
depend, in part, on how well it and its suppliers protect networks, equipment, IT systems and software against 
damage from a number of threats, including, but not limited to, cable cuts, damage to physical plants, natural 
disasters, intentional damage and destruction, fire, power loss, hacking, computer viruses, vandalism and theft. The 
Corporation’s operations also depend on the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment, 
IT systems and software, as well as pre-emptive expenses to mitigate the risks of failures. Any of these and other 
events could result in information system failures, delays and/or increase in capital expenses. The failure of 
information systems or a component of information systems could, depending on the nature of any such failure, 
adversely impact the Corporation’s reputation and results of operations. 

The Corporation has not experienced any material losses to date relating to cyber-attacks or other information 
security breaches, but there can be no assurance that the Corporation will not incur such losses in the future. The 
Corporation’s risk and exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the 
evolving nature of these threats. As a result, cyber security and the continued development and enhancement of 
controls, processes and practices designed to protect systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, 
damage or unauthorized access is a priority. As cyber threats continue to evolve, the Corporation may be required to 
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expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to investigate and remediate 
any security vulnerabilities. 

The Corporation may be subject to breaches of security at its facilities, or in respect of electronic documents and 
data storage and may face risks related to breaches of applicable privacy laws. 

Given the nature of the Corporation’s product and its lack of legal availability outside of channels approved by the 
Government of Canada, as well as the concentration of inventory in its facilities, despite meeting or exceeding 
Health Canada’s security requirements, there remains a risk of shrinkage as well as theft. A security breach at one of 
the Corporation’s facilities could expose the Corporation to additional liability and to potentially costly litigation, 
increase expenses relating to the resolution and future prevention of these breaches and may deter potential patients 
from choosing the Corporation’s products. 

In addition, the Corporation collects and stores personal information about its patients and is responsible for 
protecting that information from privacy breaches. A privacy breach may occur through procedural or process 
failure, information technology malfunction, or deliberate unauthorized intrusions. Theft of data for competitive 
purposes, particularly patient lists and preferences, is an ongoing risk whether perpetrated via employee collusion or 
negligence or through deliberate cyber-attack. Any such theft or privacy breach would have a material adverse effect 
on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, there are a number of federal and provincial laws protecting the confidentiality of certain patient health 
information, including patient records, and restricting the use and disclosure of that protected information. In 
particular, the privacy rules under the Personal Information Protection and Electronics Documents Act (Canada) 
(“PIPEDA”), protect medical records and other personal health information by limiting their use and disclosure of 
health information to the minimum level reasonably necessary to accomplish the intended purpose. If the 
Corporation was found to be in violation of the privacy or security rules under PIPEDA or other laws protecting the 
confidentiality of patient health information, it could be subject to sanctions and civil or criminal penalties, which 
could increase its liabilities, harm its reputation and have a material adverse effect on the business, results of 
operations and financial condition of the Corporation.  

The Corporation’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts of 
interest. 

The Corporation may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because some of its officers and directors 
may be engaged in a range of business activities. In addition, the Corporation’s executive officers and directors may 
devote time to their outside business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or adversely interfere with 
their duties to the Corporation. In some cases, the Corporation’s executive officers and directors may have fiduciary 
obligations associated with these business interests that interfere with their ability to devote time to the 
Corporation’s business and affairs and that could adversely affect the Corporation’s operations. These business 
interests could require significant time and attention of the Corporation’s executive officers and directors. In 
addition, the Corporation may also become involved in other transactions which conflict with the interests of its 
directors and the officers who may from time to time deal with persons, firms, institutions or Companies with which 
the Corporation may be dealing, or which may be seeking investments similar to those desired by it. The interests of 
these persons could conflict with those of the Corporation. 

In addition, from time to time, these persons may be competing with the Corporation for available investment 
opportunities. Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies provided under applicable 
laws. In particular, if such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Corporation’s directors, a director who has 
such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against the approval of such participation or such terms. In accordance 
with applicable laws, the directors of the Corporation are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best 
interests of the Corporation. 
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In certain circumstances, the Corporation’s reputation could be damaged. 

Damage to the Corporation’s reputation can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of 
events, and could include any negative publicity, whether true or not. The increased usage of social media and other 
web-based tools used to generate, publish and discuss user-generated content and to connect with other users has 
made it increasingly easier for individuals and groups to communicate and share opinions and views regarding the 
Corporation and its activities, whether true or not. Although the Corporation believes that it operates in a manner 
that is respectful to all stakeholders and that it takes care in protecting its image and reputation, the Corporation does 
not ultimately have direct control over how it is perceived by others. Reputation loss may result in decreased 
investor confidence, increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations and an impediment to 
the Corporation’s overall ability to advance its projects, thereby having a material adverse impact on financial 
performance, financial condition, cash flows and growth prospects. 

Risks Related to Our Securities 

The Corporation cannot assure you that a market will continue to develop or exist for our Common Shares or 
what the market price of our Common Shares will be. 

Prior to our listing, there will be no public trading market for our Common Shares, and we cannot assure you that 
one will continue to develop or be sustained. If a market does not continue to develop or is not sustained, it may be 
difficult for you to sell your shares of Common Shares at an attractive price or at all. We cannot predict the prices at 
which our Common Shares will trade. 

The Corporation will be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE. 

The Corporation has not been subject to the continuous and timely disclosure requirements of Canadian securities 
laws or other rules, regulations and policies of the CSE or other stock exchange. We are working with our legal, 
accounting and financial advisors to identify those areas in which changes should be made to our financial 
management control systems to manage our obligations as a public company. These areas include corporate 
governance, corporate controls, disclosure controls and procedures and financial reporting and accounting systems. 
We have made, and will continue to make, changes in these and other areas, including our internal controls over 
financial reporting. However, we cannot assure purchasers of Common Shares that these and other measures that we 
might take will be sufficient to allow us to satisfy our obligations as a public company on a timely basis. In addition, 
compliance with reporting and other requirements applicable to public companies will create additional costs for us 
and will require the time and attention of management. We cannot predict the amount of the additional costs that we 
might incur, the timing of such costs or the impact that management’s attention to these matters will have on our 
business. 

The market price for Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous 
factors, many of which are beyond our control. 

The market price for Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous 
factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the following: 

 actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations; 

 recommendations by securities research analysts; 

 changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies in the industry in which we 
operate; 
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 addition or departure of our executive officers and other key personnel; 

 release or expiration of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on outstanding Common Shares; 

 sales or perceived sales of additional Common Shares; 

 significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital 
commitments by or involving us or our competitors;  

 operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us; 

 fluctuations to the costs of vital production materials and services; 

 changes in global financial markets and global economies and general market conditions, such as interest 
rates and pharmaceutical product price volatility; 

 operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the 
Corporation or from a lack of market comparable companies; 

 news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes 
and other related issues in our industry or target markets; and 

 regulatory changes in the industry. 

Financial markets have recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected 
the market prices of equity securities of companies and that have often been unrelated to the operating performance, 
underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. Accordingly, the market price of the Common Shares may 
decline even if our operating results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these 
factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than 
temporary, which might result in impairment losses. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price 
and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, our operations could 
be adversely affected and the trading price of the Common Shares might be materially adversely affected. 

The Corporation is subject to uncertainty regarding legal and regulatory status and changes.  

Achievement of the Corporation’s business objectives is also contingent, in part, upon compliance with other 
regulatory requirements enacted by governmental authorities and obtaining other required regulatory approvals. The 
regulatory regime applicable to the cannabis business in Canada and the U.S. is currently undergoing significant 
proposed changes and the Corporation cannot predict the impact of the regime on its business once the structure of 
the regime is finalized. Similarly, the Corporation cannot predict the timeline required to secure all appropriate 
regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be required by 
governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failing to obtain, required regulatory approvals may 
significantly delay or impact the development of markets, products and sales initiatives and could have a material 
adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. The Corporation will 
incur ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to comply with regulations may result 
in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions on the Corporation’s operations. In addition, 
changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive 
changes to the Corporation’s operations, increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could 
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. 
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The Corporation does not anticipate paying cash dividends. 

Our current policy is to retain earnings to finance the development and enhancement of our products and to 
otherwise reinvest in the Corporation. Therefore, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on the Common Shares 
in the foreseeable future. Our dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board of Directors in the 
context of our earnings, financial condition and other relevant factors. Until the time that we do pay dividends, 
which we might never do, our shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their Common Shares unless they 
sell them. See “Dividend Policy”. 

Future sales of Common Shares by existing shareholders could reduce the market price of the Corporation’s 
shares.  

Sales of a substantial number of Common Shares in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the 
market perception that the holders of a large number of Common Shares intend to sell Common Shares, could 
reduce the market price of our Common Shares. Additional Common Shares may be available for sale into the 
public market, subject to applicable securities laws, which could reduce the market price for Common Shares. 
Holders of options will have an immediate income inclusion for tax purposes when they exercise their options (that 
is, tax is not deferred until they sell the underlying Common Shares). As a result, these holders may need to sell 
Common Shares purchased on the exercise of options in the same year that they exercise their options. This might 
result in a greater number of Common Shares being sold in the public market, and fewer long-term holds of 
Common Shares by our management and employees. 

No guarantee on the use of available funds by the Corporation. 

We cannot specify with certainty the particular uses of the proceeds. Management has broad discretion in the 
application of our proceeds, including for any of the purposes described in “Use of Proceeds”. Accordingly, a 
purchaser of Common Shares will have to rely upon the judgment of management with respect to the use of 
proceeds, with only limited information concerning management’s specific intentions. Our management may spend 
a portion or all of the proceeds in ways that our shareholders might not desire, that might not yield a favourable 
return and that might not increase the value of a purchaser’s investment. The failure by management to apply these 
funds effectively could harm our business. Pending use of such funds, we might invest the proceeds in a manner that 
does not produce income or that loses value. 

PROMOTERS 

Mr. Ryan Brown may be considered to be a promoter of the Corporation within the meaning of applicable securities 
laws, controlling 3.40% of the outstanding Common Shares, in that Mr. Brown took the initiative to organize the 
Corporation and to negotiate the GrowPros Acquisition. See –Directors and Executive Officers 

Note that on June 6, 2018, 9366-4027 Québec Inc., a non arm’s length private companies controlled by 9329-7158 
Québec Inc., and 9329-7158 Québec Inc., itself being ultimately a non arm’s length private company controlled by 
Mr. Brown, concluded the Venosta Land Acquisition. On June 7, the Corporation and 9329-7158 Québec Inc. 
(ultimately controlled by Mr. Brown) entered into the Venosta SPA providing for the acquisition by the Corporation 
of all the issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. from 9329-7158 Québec Inc., in consideration of 
the issuance of 760,000 Common Shares of the Corporation at a deemed price of $0.25 per share (dollar amount 
value of $190,000). As a result of the Venosta SPA, 9329-7158 Québec Inc. no longer holds any shares of 9366-
4027 Québec Inc., but now holds 760,000 Common Shares of the Corporation. 9329-7158 Québec Inc. is wholly-
owned by 9329-7075 Québec Inc., which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Brown. 
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Since the GrowPros Acquisition, Mr. Brown has not received any remuneration, consulting contracts or securities-
based compensation from GrowPros. Prior to the GrowPros Acquisition and while GrowPros was a subsidiary of 
Tetra, Mr. Brown received the following financial compensation from GrowPros:  

 2018 
2017(1) 

(year ended 
November 31, 2017) 

2016 
(year ended 

November 31, 2016) 

2015 
(year ended 

November 31, 2015) 

Salary (including 
bonuses) 

N/A N/A N/A $60,000 

Consulting fees N/A $20,000 $60,000 N/A 

Stock-based 
compensation 

N/A N/A $9,632 N/A 

(1) In the period between November 31 2017 and December 31, 2017, Mr. Brown received an additional $5,000 in consulting fees from 
GrowPros.  

No promoter of the Corporation has, within 10 years prior to the date of this Prospectus, been a director, chief 
executive officer, or chief financial officer of any person or company, that was subject to an order that was issued 
while the promoter was acting in such capacity, or was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased 
to act in such capacity and which resulted from an event that occurred while the promoter was acting in such 
capacity.  

No promoter of the Corporation is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or has been within the 10 years prior to the date 
of this Prospectus, a director or executive officer of any person or company that, while the promoter was acting in 
that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.  

No promoter of the Corporation has, within the 10 years prior to the date of this Prospectus, become bankrupt, made 
a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to 
hold the assets of the promoter. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

There are no legal proceedings to which the Corporation is a party or of which any of its property is the subject 
matter, and there are no such proceedings known to the Corporation to be contemplated. 

REGULATORY ACTIONS 

There are no regulatory actions to which the Corporation is a party or of which any of its property is the subject 
matter, and there are no such actions known to the Corporation to be contemplated. 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Other than as disclosed herein, no director, officer, Insider or Promoter of the Corporation has had any material 
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since incorporation to the date hereof that has materially affected or is 
reasonably expected to materially affect the Corporation. 
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In connection with the Venosta SPA, Mr. Ryan Brown had the following material interests. On June 7, the 
Corporation and Mr. Brown entered into the Venosta SPA providing for the acquisition by the Corporation of all the 
issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. from Mr. Brown, in consideration of the issuance of 
760,000 Common Shares of the Corporation at a deemed price of $0.25 per share representing the cost amount of 
the land (dollar amount value of $190,000). As a result of the Venosta SPA, Mr. Brown no longer holds any shares 
of 9366-4027 Québec Inc., but now holds 1,760,000 Common Shares of the Corporation.  

ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS OR COMPANIES 

Teresa DeLuca and Michael Saxon, directors of the Corporation reside outside of Canada. Teresa DeLuca has 
appointed the following agent(s) for service of process: McMillan LLP, Suite 4400, 181 Bay Street, Toronto, 
Ontario, M5J 2T3. Michael Saxon has appointed the following agent(s) for service of process: McMillan LLP, Suite 
4400, 181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2T3. It may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments 
obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the 
laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of 
process.   

AUDITORS 

The auditor for the Corporation and GrowPros is UHY McGovern Hurley LLP of 251 Consumers Rd, Suite 800, 
North York, Ontario M2J 4R3.  

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Corporation’s securities is Computershare Investor Services Inc., at its 
principal offices located at Toronto, Ontario, Canada and Montreal, Quebec, Canada. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts 
entered into by the Corporation within two years prior to the date of this Prospectus which are currently in effect and 
considered to be currently material:  

 The SPA providing for the GrowPros Acquisition; and 

 The Venosta SPA providing for the acquisition by the Corporation of all of the issued and outstanding 
shares of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. from 9329-7158 Québec Inc. 9366-4027 Québec Inc. owns the Venosta 
Land. 

Copies of the above material contracts can be inspected at our head office during regular business hours for a period 
of 30 days after a final receipt is issued for this Prospectus and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com. 

INTERESTS OF EXPERTS 

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a report, valuation, statement or opinion 
made by such person or company and who is named in this Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of this 
Prospectus, or a report, valuation, statement or opinion described in this Prospectus, has received or shall receive a 
direct or indirect interest in any securities or other property of the Corporation or any associate or affiliate of the 
Corporation. The following are persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement 
made in this Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of that document or report described in the Prospectus: 
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UHY McGovern Hurley LLP has confirmed that it is independent of the Corporation and GrowPros within the 
meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. 

McMillan LLP is counsel to the Corporation in connection with the preparation of this Prospectus. To the best of 
knowledge of McMillan LLP, members of McMillan LLP collectively own less than 1% of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares.  

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

To Management’s knowledge, there are no other material facts relating to the Corporation that are not otherwise 
disclosed in this Prospectus or are necessary for this Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the Corporation.  

EXEMPTION 

Pursuant to an application made to the Ontario Securities Commission, as principal regulator, we have also applied 
for exemptive relief from Item 32 of Form 41-101F1 as prescribed under NI 41-101, with respect to the filing of the 
financial statements of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. following the acquisition of 9366-4027 Québec Inc. under the 
Venosta SPA (the ”9366 Acquisition”). The 9366 Acquisition may be considered to form part of the primary 
business of the Corporation pursuant to Item 32.1(1)(b) of Form 41-101F1. The treatment of the 9366 Acquisition as 
forming part of the primary business of the Corporation would require the Corporation to include in this prospectus, 
potentially among other related financial disclosures, up to three years of audited annual financial statements of 
9366. In the application, the Corporation made, among others, the following submissions:  

 The 9366 Acquisition is not significant or otherwise material having regard to the overall size and value of 
the Corporation’s business and operations.  

 The Corporation’s unaudited interim financial statements included in this prospectus incorporate the 
financial impact of the 9366 Acquisition.  

 9366 is a holding company for the Venosta Land and does not operate a business. As a result, the 
Corporation believes that stand-alone, pre-acquisition historical financial statements for 9366 would not 
provide meaningful disclosure to potential investors in the Company.  

 Based on the foregoing, we believe that the financial statements provided in this prospectus provide the 
most accurate and relevant depiction of our business and affairs and are the most appropriate financial 
statements for the purposes of allowing the investors to form a reasonable judgment regarding the 
Corporation and the Common Shares. Further, the Corporation does not believe that the financial 
statements in respect of which the relief was requested are necessary for the prospectus to contain full, true 
and plain disclosure of all material facts with respect to the Common Shares.  

The exemption requested will be evidenced by the issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus. 

STATUTORY RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

The Corporation hereby confirms that the shareholders of Tetra who receive Common Shares pursuant to the 
Dividend Distribution, concurrently with the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE, have rights and remedies for 
rescission and/or damages against the Corporation as if they were purchasers of such shares. 
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Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers with the right to 
withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities.  This right may be exercised within two business days after 
receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment.  In several of the provinces, the securities legislation 
further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of price or damages if 
the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that 
the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the 
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory.  The purchaser should refer to any applicable 
provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a 
legal adviser. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

To the Directors of North Bud Farms Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of North Bud Farms Inc., which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at November 30, 2017 and 2016, and the statements of operations and comprehensive income, statements of 
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year ended November 30, 2017 and the period from incorporation 
(November 29, 2016) to November 30, 2016, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of North Bud Farms Inc. as 
at November 30, 2017 and 2016, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended November 30, 2017 and the 
period from incorporation (November 29, 2016) to November 30, 2016 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that North Bud Farms 
Inc. had limited working capital as at November 30, 2017. This condition along with other matters set forth in Note 1 indicate 
the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
 
 UHY McGovern Hurley LLP 

  
 Chartered Professional Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 
TORONTO, Canada 
August 21, 2018 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

3 

North Bud Farms Inc.
Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at November 30, November 30,
2017 2016

$ $
ASSETS

Current assets
  Cash 1 1

Total assets 1 1

EQUITY

Share capital 1 1

Total equity 1 1

Total liabilities and equity 1 1

On behalf of the Board

(signed)  "Andre Audet" (signed) "Ryan Brown"
Andre Audet, Director Ryan Brown, Director

 
  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

From the date of
incorporation

For the year ended (November 29, 2016) to
November 30, 2017 November 30, 2016

$ $

Earnings (loss) -                                       -                                       
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Statements of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Total
# of shares $ $

Balance, November 29, 2016 -                     -                     -                     

Shares issued on incorporation 100                    1                        1                        

Balance, November 30, 2016 and November 30, 2017 100                    1                        1                        

Share Capital

 
  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

From the date of
incorporation

For the year ended (November 29, 2016) to
November 30, 2017 November 30, 2016

$ $

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued for cash -                                       1                                      

Cash provided by financing activities -                                       1                                      

Increase in cash -                                       1                                      
Cash, beginning of period 1                                      -                                       

Cash, end of period 1                                      1                                      
 



North Bud Farms Inc.  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
November 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

North Bud Farms Inc. (the “Company” or “North Bud”), formerly 10002402 Canada Inc., was incorporated on 
November 29, 2016 under the Canada Business Corporations Act. 
 
Subsequent to year end, on February 16, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with Tetra Bio-
Pharma (“Tetra”), to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of GrowPros MMP Inc. (“GrowPros”) for 
$350,000 and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. GrowPros is pursuing a license to become a producer 
of medical marijuana in Canada, pursuant to Health Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes 
Regulations (“ACMPR”). The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
The address of the Company’s corporate office is 4400-181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5J 2T3. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company 
will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations for the 
foreseeable future. As at November 30, 2017, the Company had not yet generated any revenues from 
operations and had limited working capital available. The Company has no income or cash inflow from 
operations. Continued operation of the Company is dependent on its ability to complete the transaction to 
acquire GrowPros, as outlined above, followed by becoming a producer of medical marijuana, which requires 
continued financial support through completion of equity financings, or the achievement of profitable operations 
in the future. Such material uncertainties cast significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to meet its 
obligations as they come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern. Management is evaluating alternatives to secure additional financing so that the 
Company can continue to operate as a going concern. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that these initiatives 
will be successful or sufficient. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying value 
of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial position classifications that would 
be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and these adjustments could be 
material. 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Basis of presentation and compliance with IFRS  
 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are expressed in Canadian 
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company. These financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 21, 2018. 
       

(b) Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or when it expires. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transactions costs. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured subsequently as described below. 
 



North Bud Farms Inc.  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
November 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. The Company’s cash falls into this category of financial 
instruments. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets that are either classified as held-for 
trading or that meet certain conditions and are designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition. The Company does not have any assets that fall into this category of financial instruments. Assets 
in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale 
or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. After initial recognition, these assets are measured at fair value with subsequent 
changes in fair value, other than impairment losses, recognized in other comprehensive income, and presented 
within equity. When an investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in other comprehensive income 
is transferred to profit or loss.  The Company does not have any available-for-sale assets. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
All financial assets not classified as fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity-accounted 
investee, are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired 
when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
Objective evidence of impairment could include: 
 
- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; 
- default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;  
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization; 
- the disappearance of an active market for a security; or 
- observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the expected cash flows from a group of          
financial assets. 
 
For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or prolonged 
decline in its fair value below its cost. The Company generally considers a decline of 20% to be significant and 
a period of nine months to be prolonged. 
 
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other 
objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Impairment of receivables is presented 
in profit or loss, if applicable. 
 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized by reclassifying the losses 
accumulated in equity to profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company does not have any financial liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 



North Bud Farms Inc.  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
November 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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All interest-related charges are reported in profit or loss within interest expense, if applicable. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value on the statements of financial position are classified using a fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels: Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices); Level 3 – valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).  As at November 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not 
have any financial instruments measured at fair value that require classification within the fair value hierarchy. 
 

(c) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The Company assesses non-financial assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of the assets are impaired. An impairment review is undertaken when indicators of impairment 
arise. 
 
Where such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. For the purpose of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are largely independent cash 
inflows (cash-generating units or “CGU”). The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use, being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset 
or CGU. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, subject to the amount not exceeding the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had impairment not been recognized for the asset in prior periods. Any reversal of impairment 
is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 

 (d) Provisions and contingent liabilities 
 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. 
If the effect is material, provisions are measured by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. 
 
All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. The 
Company had no material provisions as at November 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 

(e) Income taxes 
 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable 
on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based 
on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 



North Bud Farms Inc.  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
November 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or 
accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with shares in subsidiaries and associates 
is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Company and it is probable 
that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply 
to their respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferred tax assets are recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable income. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to set off current 
tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 
 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as deferred income tax expense in profit or loss, 
except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in 
which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 
 

(f) Segmented reporting 
 
The Company presents and discloses segmented information based on information that is regularly reviewed 
by the Company’s CEO who is the chief operating decision maker. The CEO has primary responsibility for 
allocating resources to the Company’s operating segments and assessing their performance. The Company 
is currently in the development stage and has determined that there is only one operating segment being the 
sector of medical marijuana. The Company does not yet have a production license. All of the Company’s 
operations and material assets are in Canada. 
 

(g) Significant management judgements 
 
The following are significant management judgments in applying the accounting policies of the Company and 
have the most significant effect on the financial statements. 
 
Going concern 
 
The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, to raise sufficient funds to pay for its 
ongoing operating expenditures, meet its liabilities for the ensuing year, and to fund planned and contractual 
obligations involves significant judgments based on historical experience and other factors including 
expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 

(h) Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective 
 

The IASB has issued the following new and revised standards and amendments, which are not yet effective 
and which may have future applicability to the Company. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) 
 
The IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together the classification and measurement, impairment 
and hedge accounting phases of the project to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”. IFRS 9 is to be applied retrospectively with some exemptions for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018. The extent of the impact on the Company of adopting IFRS 9 has not yet been 
determined. 
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IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) 
 
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, completing its project to improve the financial reporting of leases. 
The new standard will replace IAS 17 “Leases” (IAS 17), and it sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract. For lessees, IFRS 16 
eliminates the classification of leases as either operating or finance leases that exist under IAS 17, and requires 
recognition of assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying 
asset is of low value. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements under IAS 17. 
IFRS 16 is to be applied retrospectively, using either a full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective 
approach, for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early application is permitted, but only if 
IFRS 15 has also been adopted. The extent of the impact on the Company of adopting IFRS 16 has not yet 
been determined. 
 

3. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are primarily composed of cash. It is 
Management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk in relation to its cash. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets is 
hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital 
as well as liquidity.  
 
Capital management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. 
 
The Company considers the items included in the statement of changes in equity as capital. The Company 
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may issue new shares through equity offerings or return capital to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the 
periods ended November 30, 2017 and 2016. 
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4. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of fully paid common shares without 
par value. 
 
On November 29, 2016 the Company issued 100 common shares for proceeds of $1. 
 

5. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

 Closing of Private Placements 
 
 On January 15, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $500,000. The private 

placement was comprised of 10,000,000 shares at a price of $0.05 per share. Directors of the Company (or 
corporations controlled by directors of the Company) participated in the private placement for a total amount 
of $500,000. 

 
On February 14, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $1,100,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 11,000,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share. A Director of the Company 
participated in the private placement for an amount of $25,000. 
 
On April 20, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $150,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 1,500,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share. 
 
On July 25, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $3,239,500. The private 
placement was comprised of 12,958,000 units at a price of $0.25 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one 
common share and one-half of a common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase an additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.40 for a period of twenty-four months 
following the date upon which the common shares are listed for trading on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. 
 
Agreement to acquire GrowPros MMP Inc. 
 
On February 16, 2018, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (“SPA”) with Tetra Bio-Pharma 
(“Tetra”), to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of GrowPros MMP Inc. (“GrowPros”) for $350,000 
and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. GrowPros is pursuing a license to become a producer of 
medical marijuana in Canada, pursuant to Health Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes 
Regulations (“ACMPR”). The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
Effective July 31, 2018, it was further agreed by the Company and Tetra, that North Bud would issue 550,000 
additional common shares to Tetra as consideration under the SPA. This measure was agreed to by the 
Company and Tetra so as to respect the anti-dilution covenant found in the SPA, which stipulated that Tetra 
should maintain ownership over a number of common shares representing at least 30% of all issued and 
outstanding shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis following the completion of the GrowPros 
acquisition and immediately prior to the listing of the common shares on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. As a result of the issuance of the 550,000 additional common shares, on August 9, 2018, Tetra 
owns 15,550,000 common shares representing 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. 
 
Land Acquisition 
 
On June 7, 2018, the Company entered into a non-arm’s length share purchase agreement with 9329-7158 
Quebec Inc., a company controlled by North Bud’s CEO, providing for the acquisition of all the issued and 
outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Quebec Inc. (“9366-4027”), in consideration of the issuance of 760,000 
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common shares of North Bud, at a deemed price of $0.25 per share. 9366-4027 owns 130 acres of farmland 
in Venosta, Quebec, where the Company intends to build its future production facility. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position (Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at May 31, November 30,
2018 2017

$ $
ASSETS

Current assets
  Cash 1,173,096 1
  Sales taxes receivable 40,701 -                                         
  Prepaid expenses 138,084 -                                         

1,351,881 1
 
Deferred transaction costs (Note 3) 1,850,000 -                                         
Property, plant and equipement (Note 4) 136,188 -                                         

Total assets 3,338,069 1

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 208,329 -                                         

Total liabilities 208,329 -                                         

EQUITY

Share capital (Note 6) 3,250,001 1
Deficit (120,261) -                                         

Total equity 3,129,740 1

Total liabilities and equity 3,338,069 1

On behalf of the Board

(signed)  "Andre Audet" (signed) "Ryan Brown"
Andre Audet, Director Ryan Brown, Director

 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017 2018 2017
$ $ $ $

Operating expenses
   Management and consulting fees 39,000 -                  39,000 -                  
   Professional fees 45,400 -                  70,400 -                  
   Office 10,861 -                  10,861 -                  

Net loss and total comprehensive loss (95,261)       -                  (120,261)     -                  

Basic and diluted net loss per common share (0.003) -                  (0.005) -                  

Basic and diluted weighted average number of
   common shares outstanding 36,684,883 100 22,994,605 100

Three months 
ended May 31,

Six months 
ended May 31,



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)

(in Canadian dollars)

Deficit Total

Number of shares $ $ $

Balance, November 30, 2016, May 31, 2017 and

  November 30, 2017 100                    1                    -                     1                    

  Shares issued for cash (Note 6) 22,500,000         1,750,000        -                     1,750,000        

  Shares issued pursuant to GrowPros share purchase agreement (Note 3) 15,000,000         1,500,000        -                     1,500,000        

  Net loss and total comprehensive loss -                        -                     (120,261)         (120,261)         

Balance, May 31, 2018 37,500,100         3,250,001        (120,261)         3,129,740        

Share Capital



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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North Bud Farms Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017 2018 2017
$ $ $ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss (95,261)       -                  (120,261)     -                  
Changes in non-cash working capital items 4,544          -                  29,544        -                  

Net cash used in operating activities (90,717)       -                  (90,717)       -                  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Deferred transactions costs -                  -                  (350,000)     -                  

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (136,188)     -                  (136,188)     -                  

Net cash used in investing activities (136,188)     -                  (486,188)     -                  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Shares issued for cash 150,000      -                  1,750,000   -                  

Net cash provided by financing activities 150,000      -                  1,750,000   -                  

Increase in cash (76,905)       -                  1,173,095   -                  

Cash, beginning of the period 1,250,001   1                 1                 1                 

Cash, end of the period 1,173,096   1                 1,173,096   1                 

Changes in non-cash working capital items consists of the following:

  Sales taxes receivable (40,701)       -                  (40,701)       -                  

  Prepaid expenses (138,084)     -                  (138,084)     -                  

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 183,329      -                  208,329      -                  

4,544          -                  29,544        -                  

Three months
ended May 31,

Six months
ended May 31,
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

North Bud Farms Inc. (the “Company” or “North Bud”), formerly 10002402 Canada Inc., was incorporated on 
November 29, 2016 under the Canada Business Corporations Act. 
 
North Bud is focused on GMP standardized pharma grade cannabis production as well as food grade 
cannabinoid infused inputs for both the international pharmaceutical market and the pending consumer goods 
and consumables segment of the recreational cannabis market. The address of the Company’s corporate 
office is 4400-181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5J 2T3.  
 
On February 16, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with Tetra Bio-Pharma (“Tetra”), to acquire 
all of the issued and outstanding shares of GrowPros MMP Inc. (“GrowPros”) for $350,000 and 15,000,000 
common shares of North Bud. GrowPros is pursuing a license to become a producer of medical marijuana in 
Canada, pursuant to Health Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”). The 
transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on a recognized Canadian stock exchange (Note 
3). 
 
These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes 
that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations 
for the foreseeable future. As at May 31, 2018, the Company had not yet generated any revenues from 
operations and had limited working capital available. The Company has no income or cash inflow from 
operations. Continued operation of the Company is dependent on its ability to complete the transaction to 
acquire GrowPros, as outlined above, followed by becoming a producer of medical marijuana, which requires 
continued financial support through completion of equity financings, or the achievement of profitable operations 
in the future. Such material uncertainties cast significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to meet its 
obligations as they come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern. Management is evaluating alternatives to secure additional financing so that 
the Company can continue to operate as a going concern. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that these 
initiatives will be successful or sufficient. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial position 
classifications that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and 
these adjustments could be material. 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Statement of compliance  
 

These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”).  
 
These condensed interim financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in 
the annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual financial 
statements for the year ended November 30, 2017, which have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS). 
 
These condensed interim financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 
21, 2018. 

 
(b) Basis of presentation  
 

These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are 
expressed in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.  
 



North Bud Farms Inc.  
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements (Unaudited) 
For the three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018 
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These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies that are 
consistent with those used in the preparation of the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 
November 30, 2017. 
 

3. DEFERRED TRANSACTION COSTS 
 
On February 16, 2018, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (“SPA”) with Tetra Bio-Pharma 
(“Tetra”), to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of GrowPros MMP Inc. (“GrowPros”) for $350,000 
and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. GrowPros is pursuing a license to become a producer of 
medical marijuana in Canada, pursuant to Health Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes 
Regulations (“ACMPR”). The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
During the quarter ended February 28, 2018, the Company made cash payments totalling $350,000 and issued 
15,000,000 common shares of North Bud, to Tetra, in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The 
acquisition does not meet the definition of a business combination under IFRS and, as such, will be accounted 
for as an acquisition of assets.  The 15,000,000 common shares have been recorded at an estimated fair value 
of $1,500,000, or $0.10 per share, based on the price of the shares issued in the Company’s private placement 
that closed two days prior, on February 14, 2018 (Note 6). 
 
Given that the transaction is conditional on North Bud listing its shares on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange, the transaction is still pending, as at May 31, 2018. In the event that the transaction is not completed, 
the 15,000,000 common shares would be returned to North Bud, however the cash component is non-
refundable and would be retained by Tetra. The cash payments ($350,000) and shares issued ($1,500,000), 
totalling $1,850,000, have been recorded as deferred transaction costs in the condensed interim statements 
of financial position.  
 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

During the quarter ended May 31, 2018, the Company incurred expenditures of $136,188 towards getting the 
site ready at the location where the Company intends to build its future production facility. As at May 31, 2018, 
the costs have been included in property, plant and equipment in the condensed interim statement of financial 
position. 
 
No depreciation was recorded during the reporting period as the asset is not yet ready for use. 
 
The Company did not have any property, plant and equipment at November 30, 2017. 
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair 
value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  
 
The classification of financial instruments is as follows: 
 

May 31, November 30,

2018 2017

$ $

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

   Cash 1,173,096                        1                                      

Total financial assets 1,173,096                        1                                      

Financial liabilities

Measured at amortized cost

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (208,329)                          -                                       

Total financial liabilities (208,329)                          -                                       
 

 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are primarily composed of cash. The 
Company’s cash is held at reputable financial institutions with high external credit ratings. It is Management’s 
opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets is 
hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital 
as well as liquidity.  
 
 
 



North Bud Farms Inc.  
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements (Unaudited) 
For the three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

9 

 

Capital management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. 
 
The Company considers the items included in the statement of changes in equity as capital. The Company 
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may issue new shares through equity offerings or return capital to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the 
six month period ended May 31, 2018. 
 

6. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Authorized 
An unlimited number of the following shares: 
 
Class “A” common shares voting common shares, no par value 
 
Issued 
Class “A” common shares 
 

Number of

shares

$

Balance, November 30, 2016 and November 30, 2017 100                           1                               

Shares issued for cash (1)(2)(3) 22,500,000               1,750,000                 
Shares issued pursuant to GrowPros share purchase 

  agreement (4) (Note 3) 15,000,000               1,500,000                 

Balance, May 31, 2018 37,500,100               3,250,001                 
 

 

(1) On January 15, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $500,000. The 
private placement was comprised of 10,000,000 shares at a price of $0.05 per share. Directors of the 
Company (or corporations controlled by directors of the Company) participated in the private placement 
for a total amount of $500,000. 

 
(2) On February 14, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $1,100,000. The 

private placement was comprised of 11,000,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share. A Director of the 
Company participated in the private placement for an amount of $25,000. 

 
(3) On April 20, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $150,000. The private 

placement was comprised of 1,500,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share. 
 

(4) These shares have not been fully paid as the transaction described in Note 3 has not yet been completed. 
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7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Transactions with key management personnel 
 
 Related parties include the Board of Directors and key management personnel, as well as close family 

members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions. Unless otherwise stated, none of these transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and 
no guarantees were given or received. 

 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company was as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Consulting fees 15,000        -                  15,000        -                  

15,000        -                  15,000        -                  

Three months
ended May 31,

Six months
ended May 31,

 
 

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Closing of Private Placement 
 
On July 25, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $3,239,500. The private 
placement was comprised of 12,958,000 units at a price of $0.25 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one 
common share and one-half of a common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase an additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.40 for a period of twenty-four months 
following the date upon which the common shares are listed for trading on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. 
 
Land Acquisition 
 
On June 7, 2018, the Company entered into a non-arm’s length share purchase agreement with 9329-7158 
Quebec Inc., a company controlled by North Bud’s CEO, providing for the acquisition of all the issued and 
outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Quebec Inc. (“9366-4027”), in consideration of the issuance of 760,000 
common shares of North Bud, at a deemed price of $0.25 per share. 9366-4027 owns 130 acres of farmland 
in Venosta, Quebec, where the Company intends to build its future production facility. 
 
Amendment to SPA with Tetra 
 
Effective July 31, 2018, the Company and Tetra executed an amendment to the SPA (Note 3), whereby it was 
agreed that North Bud would issue 550,000 additional common shares to Tetra as consideration under the 
SPA. This measure was agreed to by the Company and Tetra so as to respect the anti-dilution covenant found 
in the SPA, which stipulated that Tetra should maintain ownership over a number of common shares 
representing at least 30% of all issued and outstanding shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis following 
the completion of the GrowPros acquisition and immediately prior to the listing of the common shares on a 
recognized Canadian stock exchange. As a result of the issuance of the 550,000 additional common shares, 
on August 9, 2018, Tetra owns 15,550,000 common shares representing 30% of the issued and outstanding 
shares of the Company. 
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for North Bud Farms Inc. (the “Company” or “North 
Bud”) should be read in conjunction with the financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017, and 
the notes thereto. 
 
The financial information in this MD&A is derived from the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 
November 30, 2017, which were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”).  The effective date of this MD&A is August 21, 2018. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Certain of the information contained in this document may contain “forward-looking statements”.  Forward-
looking statements may include, among others, statements regarding the Company’s future plans, costs, 
objectives or economic performance, or the assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.  In this document, 
words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “estimate” 
and similar words and the negative form thereof are used to identify forward-looking statements.  Forward-
looking statements should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily 
be accurate indications of whether such future performance will be achieved.  Forward-looking statements are 
based on information available at the time and/or management’s good faith belief with respect to future events 
and are subject to known or unknown risks, uncertainties and other unpredictable factors, many of which are 
beyond the Company’s control.  These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described 
under the headings “Financial Instruments and Risk Management” and “Inherent Risk Factors” in this MD&A 
and could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in any forward-looking 
statements.  The Company does not intend, nor does it undertake any obligation, to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A to reflect subsequent information, events or 
circumstances or otherwise, except if required by applicable law. 
 
BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

North Bud Farms Inc. (the “Company” or “North Bud”), formerly 10002402 Canada Inc., was incorporated on 
November 29, 2016 under the Canada Business Corporations Act. 
 
North Bud is focused on GMP standardized pharma grade cannabis production as well as food grade 
cannabinoid infused inputs for both the international pharmaceutical market and the pending consumer goods 
and consumables segment of the recreational cannabis market. The address of the Company’s corporate 
office is 4400-181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5J 2T3.  
 
On February 16, 2018, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (“SPA”) with Tetra Bio-Pharma 
(“Tetra”), to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of GrowPros MMP Inc. (“GrowPros”) for $350,000 
and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. GrowPros is pursuing a license to become a producer of 
medical marijuana in Canada, pursuant to Health Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes 
Regulations (“ACMPR”). The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
Effective July 31, 2018, it was further agreed by the Company and Tetra, that North Bud would issue 550,000 
additional common shares to Tetra as consideration under the SPA. This measure was agreed to by the 
Company and Tetra so as to respect the anti-dilution covenant found in the SPA, which stipulated that Tetra 
should maintain ownership over a number of common shares representing at least 30% of all issued and 
outstanding shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis following the completion of the GrowPros 
acquisition and immediately prior to the listing of the common shares on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. As a result of the issuance of the 550,000 additional common shares, on August 9, 2018, Tetra 
owns 15,550,000 common shares representing 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. 
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GOING CONCERN 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company 
will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations for the 
foreseeable future. As at November 30, 2017, the Company had not yet generated any revenues from 
operations and had limited working capital available. The Company has no income or cash inflow from 
operations. Continued operation of the Company is dependent on its ability to complete the transaction to 
acquire GrowPros, as outlined above, followed by becoming a producer of medical marijuana, which requires 
continued financial support through completion of equity financings, or the achievement of profitable 
operations in the future. Such material uncertainties cast significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to 
meet its obligations as they come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern. Management is evaluating alternatives to secure additional financing 
so that the Company can continue to operate as a going concern. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that 
these initiatives will be successful or sufficient. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial position 
classifications that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and 
these adjustments could be material. 
 
CLOSING OF PRIVATE PLACEMENTS 
 
On January 15, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $500,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 10,000,000 shares at a price of $0.05 per share. Directors of the Company (or 
corporations controlled by directors of the Company) participated in the private placement for a total amount 
of $500,000. 
 
On February 14, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $1,100,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 11,000,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share. A Director of the Company 
participated in the private placement for an amount of $25,000. 
 
On April 20, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $150,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 1,500,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share.  
 
On July 25, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $3,239,500. The private 
placement was comprised of 12,958,000 units at a price of $0.25 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one 
common share and one-half of a common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase an additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.40 for a period of twenty-four months 
following the date upon which the common shares are listed for trading on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. 
 
LAND ACQUISITION 
 
On June 7, 2018, the Company entered into a non-arm’s length share purchase agreement with 9329-7158 
Quebec Inc., a company controlled by Ryan Brown, North Bud’s CEO, providing for the acquisition of all the 
issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Quebec Inc. (“9366-4027”), in consideration of the issuance of 
760,000 common shares of North Bud, at a deemed price of $0.25 per share. 9366-4027 owns 130 acres of 
farmland in Venosta, Quebec, where the Company intends to build its future production facility. 
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
The following selected financial information is derived from the Company’s financial statements for the periods 
ended November 30, 2017 and 2016, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS: 
 

  2017 2016 

   $ $ 

Net loss for the period  - - 

Comprehensive loss for the period  - - 

Total assets  1 1 

Total liabilities  - - 

Cash dividends per common share  N/A N/A 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Company was inactive through the 2016 and 2017 fiscal years and did not commence operations until 
January 2018. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company’s liquidity depends on existing cash reserves, supplemented as necessary by equity and/or 
equity financings. As at November 30, 2017, the Company had cash of $1 (2016 - $1) and current liabilities 
of $Nil (2016 - $Nil). 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2017, the Company used cash of $Nil to fund operating activities (2016 
- $Nil). 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
As at November 30, 2017 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any commitments or 
contingencies. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
As at November 30, 2017 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet 
arrangements. 
 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
As outlined in the Business Overview section of this MD&A, the Company has entered into an agreement to 
purchase GrowPros MMP. The transaction is conditional on North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
As at the date of this MD&A, other than the purchase of GrowPros, there are no proposed asset or business 
acquisitions or dispositions. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
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(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are primarily composed of cash. It is 
Management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk in relation to its cash. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets 
is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital 
as well as liquidity.  
 
Capital management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. 
 
The Company considers the items included in the statement of changes in equity as capital. The Company 
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may issue new shares through equity offerings or return capital to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the 
periods ended November 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Company has not had any changes in accounting policies, other than the adoption of new mandatory 
standards under IFRS as well as amendments to existing standards, for the periods ended November 30, 
2017 and 2016.  

INHERENT RISK FACTORS 

You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties in addition to other information in this MD&A 
in evaluating North Bud and its business before making any investment decision in regards to the common 
shares of the Company.  The Company’s operating and financial condition could be harmed due to any of the 
following risks.  

Requirements under the ACMPR 

 

Production of medicinal marijuana in Canada is regulated pursuant to the ACMPR. Any applicant seeking to 
become such a producer is subject to the stringent licensing requirements of Health Canada, which would be 
applicable in the event that either the Company, or any other entity the Company may invest in applies for or 
acquires a license. These licensing requirements include the significant infrastructural requirements of 
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obtaining and maintaining a license such as an indoor growing facility with physical barriers, visual monitoring, 
recording devices, intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around 
distribution and access, among others. In addition, and as specified in the ACMPR, once a license is issued, 
a holder of a producer license must comply with a number of ongoing requirements, including (i) physical 
security and storage measures, (ii) good production practices, and (iii) proper packaging, labelling and 
shipping practices. Furthermore, in order to obtain and maintain a license, a licensee must ensure that it 
complies with the terms of its other permits and ancillary licenses such as the import or export permit from the 
Minister of Health, as well as ensuring that all of its management and designated personnel have passed the 
security clearance provided for under ACMPR. 
 
GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR 

 

GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR and is in the confirmation of readiness stage of the 
application review process to obtain a licence to produce and supply medical marijuana under ACMPR from 
Health Canada. GrowPros’ ability to grow, store and sell medical marijuana in Canada is dependent on 
obtaining a licence from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that GrowPros will obtain such a 
license. Even if GrowPros is successful in obtaining a license, such license will be subject to ongoing 
compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements of the license or any failure 
to maintain the license would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and 
operating results of GrowPros. 
 
Timeframes and cost to obtain a licence under the ACMPR 

 

The timeframes and costs required for GrowPros or any ACMPR applicant to build the infrastructure required 
to apply for, and to receive, an ACMPR licence can be significant. Estimates of the timeframe and costs cannot 
be reliably determined at this time. The current backlog of applications from other licensees with Health 
Canada and the anticipated timeframe for processing and approval of any application cannot be reliably 
determined at this time. 
 
Ultimately, in the process of meeting all licensing requirements, a facility meeting the rigorous requirements 
of Health Canada must be available for inspection by Health Canada before any license can be granted. 
 
Regulatory Risks  

 

The proposed activities of the Company, through GrowPros, are subject to regulation by governmental 
authorities, particularly Health Canada. Achievement of the business objectives of the Company are 
contingent, in part, upon compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities 
and obtaining all regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The Company cannot 
predict the time required to secure all appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing 
and documentation that may be required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to 
obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the development of markets and products and could 
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.  
 
Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines  

 

The Company’s proposed operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to 
the manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including 
laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the 
environment.  
 
The ACMPR is a new regulatory regime that came into force on April 1, 2014. As such, revisions to the regime 
could be implemented which could have an impact on the operations of the Company. There is also some 
uncertainty regarding the likely interpretation of certain regulatory provisions by the regulator. Changes in 
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legislation or regulator interpretation could negatively impact the operations of the Company. Similarly, a 
change in government could result in meaningful changes to the regulatory regime under which the Company, 
through GrowPros, proposes to operate, which could negatively impact its operations.  
 
Limited Operating History  

 

North  Bud was recently incorporated and began carrying on business in January 2018 and is therefore subject 
to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 
limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no 
assurance that the Company, through GrowPros, will be successful in securing an ACMPR license or 
achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of 
the early stage of operations. 
 
Competition  

 

If North Bud, through GrowPros, is successful in securing an ACMPR license, there is potential that the 
Company will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to have longer 
operating histories and more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than the 
Company. Increased competition by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely 
affect the proposed business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  
 
In addition, the government has only issued to date a small number of licenses under the ACMPR to produce 
and sell medical marijuana. There are, however, several hundred applicants for licences. The number of 
licences granted could have an impact on the operations of the Company. Because of the early stage of the 
industry in which GrowPros operates, the Company expects to face additional competition from new entrants.  
 
If the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and 
the Company expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to 
offer an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, the Company will require a 
continued high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The 
Company may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and 
client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the business, financial 
condition and results of operations of North Bud.  
 
Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business  

 

The Company’s proposed business involves the growing of medical marijuana, an agricultural product. As 
such, the business is subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases 
and similar agricultural risks. Although North Bud, through GrowPros, intends to grow its products indoors 
under climate controlled conditions, and carefully monitoring the growing conditions with trained personnel, 
there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on the proposed 
production of its products. 
 
Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs  

 

Medical marijuana growing operations consume considerable energy, making the Company vulnerable to 
rising energy costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of North Bud and its 
ability to operate profitably.  
 
Environmental and Employee Health and Safety Regulations  

 

Medical marijuana operations are subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, 
among other things, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal of hazardous 
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and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety. Failure to comply with 
environmental and safety laws and regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, 
penalties or in restrictions in manufacturing operations. In addition, changes in environmental, employee 
health and safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require 
extensive changes to operations or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the proposed business, results of operations and financial condition of North Bud. 
 
Difficult to Forecast  

 

Detailed sales forecasts are not generally obtainable from sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana 
industry in Canada. A failure in the demand for products to materialize as a result of competition, technological 
change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the proposed business, results of operations 
and financial condition of the Company.  
 
Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour  

 

The ability of North Bud, through GrowPros, to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a 
reasonable cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances 
can be given that the Company will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, 
equipment, parts and components. It is also possible that the final costs of any major equipment that may be 
contemplated by the Company’s capital expenditure program may be significantly greater than anticipated by 
management and may be greater than funds available to North Bud, in which circumstance the Company may 
curtail, or extend the timeframes for completing, its capital expenditure plans. This could have an adverse 
effect on the financial results of the Company. 
 
Reliance on Key Inputs  

 

The proposed business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials 
and supplies related to growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant 
interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could 
materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. Any inability to 
secure required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact 
on the proposed business, financial condition and operating results of the Company.  
 
Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception  

 

Management of the Company believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. Consumer perception 
of the Company’s proposed products can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, 
regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of medical 
marijuana products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory 
proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favourable to the medical 
marijuana market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, 
findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less 
favourable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse 
effect on the demand for the Company’s’ proposed products and the business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows of North Bud. The Company’s dependence upon consumer perceptions means that 
adverse scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other 
publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on the Company, the 
demand for its proposed products, and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows 
of the Company. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and 
quality of medical marijuana in general, or the Company’s proposed products specifically, or associating the 
consumption of medical marijuana with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material 
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adverse effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects 
associated with such products resulted from consumers’ failure to consume such products appropriately or as 
directed.  
 
Product Liability  

 

If licensed as a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, North Bud, 
through GrowPros, faces an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation 
if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of 
the Company’s products involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties 
or product contamination. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of its 
products alone or in combination with other medications or substances could occur. The Company may be 
subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that its products caused injury or illness, 
include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or 
interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against the Company could 
result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Company’s reputation with its clients and consumers 
generally, and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition of the 
Company. There can be no assurances that North Bud will be able to obtain or maintain product liability 
insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is 
expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient 
insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could 
prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Company’s potential products.  
 
Product Recalls  

 

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for 
a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or 
interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any 
of the Company’s products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the Company 
could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in 
connection with the recall. The Company may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to 
replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant 
management attention. Although North Bud intends to implement detailed procedures for testing finished 
products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in 
time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the Company’s 
significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and the Company could be harmed. A recall 
for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for the Company’s products and could have 
a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Company. Additionally, 
product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of North Bud’s operations by Health Canada or other regulatory 
agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
At the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the design of disclosure controls and internal 
controls over financial reporting was carried out under the supervision of the Company’s management, 
including the CEO and CFO. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that the disclosure controls were designed effectively as of November 30, 2017, the end of the 
period covered by this report, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports that it files or 
submits to regulatory authorities, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified by regulation, and is accumulated and communicated to management to allow for timely decisions 
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regarding required disclosures. 
 
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the periods 
ended November 30, 2017 and 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Management will continue to monitor its disclosure 
controls and may make modifications from time to time as considered necessary or desirable. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that the disclosure controls and procedures will detect or uncover 
every situation involving the failure of persons within the Company to disclose material information otherwise 
required to be set forth in the reports. The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance of achieving their objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports is communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
The Company’s management, with the participation of its CEO and CFO, has designed, established and is 
maintaining a system of internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision of the CFO, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that the financial information prepared by the Company for external purposes is reliable and has been 
recorded, processed and reported in an accurate and timely manner and in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Company’s controls include policies and procedures that: 
 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions of the Company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the annual financial 
statements or interim financial statements. 
 

The Company’s control over financial reporting during the periods ended November 30, 2017 and 2016 were 
designed and implemented throughout the periods. There have been no changes to the controls during the 
period that materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the internal control over financial 
reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of the internal 
control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2017. As a result, management concluded that the internal 
control over financial reporting were effective as at that date. 
 
Limitations of Controls and Procedures 
 
Management, including the CEO and CFO, believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal 
controls over financial reporting, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control 
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they cannot provide 
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been 
prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can 
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be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be 
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized 
override of the control. The design of any systems of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions 
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving 
its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost 
effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
See Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements for the periods ended November 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
See Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements for the periods ended November 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 
Common shares and convertible securities outstanding at August 21, 2018, consist of: 
 

Securities 
 

Expiry Date 
 

Range of Exercise 
Price 

Number of 
Securities 

Outstanding 
 
Common shares 

 
- 

 
- 

 
51,768,000 

Options -  - - 
Warrants 24 months following the 

date upon which the 
common shares are listed 
on a recognized Canadian 

stock exchange 

$0.40 6,479,000 
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for North Bud Farms Inc. (the “Company” or “North 
Bud”) should be read in conjunction with the interim financial statements for the three and six month periods 
ended May 31, 2018 and the financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017, and the notes 
thereto. 
 
The financial information in this MD&A is derived from the Company’s interim financial statements for the three 
and six month periods ended May 31, 2018, which were prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The effective date of this MD&A is August 21, 2018. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Certain of the information contained in this document may contain “forward-looking statements”.  Forward-
looking statements may include, among others, statements regarding the Company’s future plans, costs, 
objectives or economic performance, or the assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.  In this document, 
words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “estimate” 
and similar words and the negative form thereof are used to identify forward-looking statements.  Forward-
looking statements should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily 
be accurate indications of whether such future performance will be achieved.  Forward-looking statements are 
based on information available at the time and/or management’s good faith belief with respect to future events 
and are subject to known or unknown risks, uncertainties and other unpredictable factors, many of which are 
beyond the Company’s control.  These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described 
under the headings “Financial Instruments and Risk Management” and “Inherent Risk Factors” in this MD&A 
and could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in any forward-looking 
statements.  The Company does not intend, nor does it undertake any obligation, to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A to reflect subsequent information, events or 
circumstances or otherwise, except if required by applicable law. 
 
BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

North Bud Farms Inc. (the “Company” or “North Bud”), formerly 10002402 Canada Inc., was incorporated on 
November 29, 2016 under the Canada Business Corporations Act. 
 
North Bud is focused on GMP standardized pharma grade cannabis production as well as food grade 
cannabinoid infused inputs for both the international pharmaceutical market and the pending consumer goods 
and consumables segment of the recreational cannabis market. The address of the Company’s corporate 
office is 4400-181 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5J 2T3.  
 
On February 16, 2018, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (“SPA”) with Tetra Bio-Pharma 
(“Tetra”), to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of GrowPros MMP Inc. (“GrowPros”) for $350,000 
and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. GrowPros is pursuing a license to become a producer of 
medical marijuana in Canada, pursuant to Health Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes 
Regulations (“ACMPR”). The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
Effective July 31, 2018, it was further agreed by the Company and Tetra, that North Bud would issue 550,000 
additional common shares to Tetra as consideration under the SPA. This measure was agreed to by the 
Company and Tetra so as to respect the anti-dilution covenant found in the SPA, which stipulated that Tetra 
should maintain ownership over a number of common shares representing at least 30% of all issued and 
outstanding shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis following the completion of the GrowPros 
acquisition and immediately prior to the listing of the common shares on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. As a result of the issuance of the 550,000 additional common shares, on August 9, 2018, Tetra 
owns 15,550,000 common shares representing 30% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. 
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GOING CONCERN 
 
The interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the 
Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations for 
the foreseeable future. As at May 31, 2018, the Company had not yet generated any revenues from operations 
and had limited working capital available. The Company has no income or cash inflow from operations. 
Continued operation of the Company is dependent on its ability to complete the transaction to acquire 
GrowPros, as outlined above, followed by becoming a producer of medical marijuana, which requires 
continued financial support through completion of equity financings, or the achievement of profitable 
operations in the future. Such material uncertainties cast significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to 
meet its obligations as they come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern. Management is evaluating alternatives to secure additional financing 
so that the Company can continue to operate as a going concern. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that 
these initiatives will be successful or sufficient. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to 
the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial position 
classifications that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and 
these adjustments could be material. 
 
CLOSING OF PRIVATE PLACEMENTS 
 
On January 15, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $500,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 10,000,000 shares at a price of $0.05 per share. Directors of the Company (or 
corporations controlled by directors of the Company) participated in the private placement for a total amount 
of $500,000. 
 
On February 14, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $1,100,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 11,000,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share. A Director of the Company 
participated in the private placement for an amount of $25,000. 
 
On April 20, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $150,000. The private 
placement was comprised of 1,500,000 shares at a price of $0.10 per share.  
 
On July 25, 2018, the Company closed a private placement for gross proceeds of $3,239,500. The private 
placement was comprised of 12,958,000 units at a price of $0.25 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one 
common share and one-half of a common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase an additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.40 for a period of twenty-four months 
following the date upon which the common shares are listed for trading on a recognized Canadian stock 
exchange. 
 
LAND ACQUISITION 
 
On June 7, 2018, the Company entered into a non-arm’s length share purchase agreement with 9329-7158 
Quebec Inc., a company controlled by Ryan Brown, North Bud’s CEO, providing for the acquisition of all the 
issued and outstanding shares of 9366-4027 Quebec Inc. (“9366-4027”), in consideration of the issuance of 
760,000 common shares of North Bud, at a deemed price of $0.25 per share. 9366-4027 owns 130 acres of 
farmland in Venosta, Quebec, where the Company intends to build its future production facility. 
 
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
The following selected financial information is derived from the Company’s interim financial statements for the 
three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS: 
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2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Net loss and total comprehensive loss (95,261)       -                  (120,261)     -                  

Three months

ended May 31,

Six months

ended May 31,

 
 

As at May 31, November 30,
2018 2017

$ $

Total assets 3,338,069                        1                                      
Total liabilities 208,329                           -                                       

 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Company commenced operations in January 2018. Expenses incurred during the three and six months 
ended May 31, 2018, include legal fees of $25,000 and $50,000, respectively, related to the organization of 
the Company and other corporate matters, other professional fees of $20,400 and $20,400, respectively, 
related, but not limited to, fees incurred in connection with the audit of the Company’s 2017 year-end financial 
statements and review of interim financial statements, management and consulting fees of $39,000 and 
$39,000, related to services provided by consultants in a number of areas, including but not limited to financial 
reporting and management, marketing and various administrative functions.   
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company’s liquidity depends on existing cash reserves, supplemented as necessary by equity and/or 
equity financings. As at May 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $1,173,096 ($1 as at November 30, 2017) 
and current liabilities of $208,329 ($Nil as at November 30, 2017). 
 
During the six months ended May 31, 2018, the Company used cash of $90,717 to fund operating activities 
(2017 - $Nil). 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
As at May 31, 2018 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any commitments or 
contingencies. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
As at May 31, 2018 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet 
arrangements. 
 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
As outlined in the Business Overview section of this MD&A, the Company has entered into an agreement to 
purchase GrowPros MMP. The transaction is conditional on North Bud listing its shares on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange. 
 
As at the date of this MD&A, other than the purchase of GrowPros, there are no proposed asset or business 
acquisitions or dispositions. 
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Transactions with key management personnel 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and key management personnel, as well as close family 
members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions. Unless otherwise stated, none of these transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and 
no guarantees were given or received. 
 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company was as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Consulting fees 15,000        -                  15,000        -                  

15,000        -                  15,000        -                  

Three months
ended May 31,

Six months
ended May 31,

 
 
During the three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018, consulting fees of $15,000 and $15,000, 
respectively, were paid to Brendan Stutt, the Company’s CFO, pursuant to a consulting agreement, for 
services rendered as CFO of the Company.  
 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are primarily composed of cash. It is 
Management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk in relation to its cash. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets 
is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital 
as well as liquidity.  
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Capital management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. 
 
The Company considers the items included in the statement of changes in equity as capital. The Company 
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may issue new shares through equity offerings or return capital to shareholders. The Company is not subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Company's capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the 
six month period ended May 31, 2018. 
 
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Company has not had any changes in accounting policies, other than the adoption of new mandatory 
standards under IFRS as well as amendments to existing standards, for the six month period ended May 31, 
2018.  

INHERENT RISK FACTORS 

You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties in addition to other information in this MD&A 
in evaluating North Bud and its business before making any investment decision with regards to the common 
shares of the Company.  The Company’s operating and financial condition could be harmed due to any of the 
following risks.  

Requirements under the ACMPR 

 

Production of medicinal marijuana in Canada is regulated pursuant to the ACMPR. Any applicant seeking to 
become such a producer is subject to the stringent licensing requirements of Health Canada, which would be 
applicable in the event that either the Company, or any other entity the Company may invest in applies for or 
acquires a license. These licensing requirements include the significant infrastructural requirements of 
obtaining and maintaining a license such as an indoor growing facility with physical barriers, visual monitoring, 
recording devices, intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around 
distribution and access, among others. In addition, and as specified in the ACMPR, once a license is issued, 
a holder of a producer license must comply with a number of ongoing requirements, including (i) physical 
security and storage measures, (ii) good production practices, and (iii) proper packaging, labelling and 
shipping practices. Furthermore, in order to obtain and maintain a license, a licensee must ensure that it 
complies with the terms of its other permits and ancillary licenses such as the import or export permit from the 
Minister of Health, as well as ensuring that all of its management and designated personnel have passed the 
security clearance provided for under ACMPR. 
 
GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR 

 

GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR and is in the confirmation of readiness stage of the 
application review process to obtain a licence to produce and supply medical marijuana under ACMPR from 
Health Canada. GrowPros’ ability to grow, store and sell medical marijuana in Canada is dependent on 
obtaining a licence from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that GrowPros will obtain such a 
license. Even if GrowPros is successful in obtaining a license, such license will be subject to ongoing 
compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements of the license or any failure 
to maintain the license would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and 
operating results of GrowPros. 
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Timeframes and cost to obtain a licence under the ACMPR 

 

The timeframes and costs required for GrowPros or any ACMPR applicant to build the infrastructure required 
to apply for, and to receive, an ACMPR licence can be significant. Estimates of the timeframe and costs cannot 
be reliably determined at this time. The current backlog of applications from other licensees with Health 
Canada and the anticipated timeframe for processing and approval of any application cannot be reliably 
determined at this time. 
 
Ultimately, in the process of meeting all licensing requirements, a facility meeting the rigorous requirements 
of Health Canada must be available for inspection by Health Canada before any license can be granted. 
 
Regulatory Risks  

 

The proposed activities of the Company, through GrowPros, are subject to regulation by governmental 
authorities, particularly Health Canada. Achievement of the business objectives of the Company are 
contingent, in part, upon compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities 
and obtaining all regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The Company cannot 
predict the time required to secure all appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing 
and documentation that may be required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to 
obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the development of markets and products and could 
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.  
 
Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines  

 

The Company’s proposed operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to 
the manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including 
laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the 
environment.  
 
The ACMPR is a new regulatory regime that came into force on April 1, 2014. As such, revisions to the regime 
could be implemented which could have an impact on the operations of the Company. There is also some 
uncertainty regarding the likely interpretation of certain regulatory provisions by the regulator. Changes in 
legislation or regulator interpretation could negatively impact the operations of the Company. Similarly, a 
change in government could result in meaningful changes to the regulatory regime under which the Company, 
through GrowPros, proposes to operate, which could negatively impact its operations.  
 
Limited Operating History  

 

North  Bud was recently incorporated and began carrying on business in January 2018 and is therefore subject 
to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 
limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no 
assurance that the Company, through GrowPros, will be successful in securing an ACMPR license or 
achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of 
the early stage of operations. 
 
Competition  

 

If North Bud, through GrowPros, is successful in securing an ACMPR license, there is potential that the 
Company will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to have longer 
operating histories and more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than the 
Company. Increased competition by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely 
affect the proposed business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  
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In addition, the government has only issued to date a small number of licenses under the ACMPR to produce 
and sell medical marijuana. There are, however, several hundred applicants for licences. The number of 
licences granted could have an impact on the operations of the Company. Because of the early stage of the 
industry in which GrowPros operates, the Company expects to face additional competition from new entrants. 
If the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and 
the Company expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to 
offer an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, the Company will require a 
continued high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The 
Company may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and 
client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the business, financial 
condition and results of operations of North Bud.  
 
Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business  

 

The Company’s proposed business involves the growing of medical marijuana, an agricultural product. As 
such, the business is subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases 
and similar agricultural risks. Although North Bud, through GrowPros, intends to grow its products indoors 
under climate controlled conditions, and carefully monitoring the growing conditions with trained personnel, 
there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on the proposed 
production of its products. 
 
Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs  

 

Medical marijuana growing operations consume considerable energy, making the Company vulnerable to 
rising energy costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of North Bud and its 
ability to operate profitably.  
 
Environmental and Employee Health and Safety Regulations  

 

Medical marijuana operations are subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, 
among other things, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal of hazardous 
and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety. Failure to comply with 
environmental and safety laws and regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, 
penalties or in restrictions in manufacturing operations. In addition, changes in environmental, employee 
health and safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require 
extensive changes to operations or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the proposed business, results of operations and financial condition of North Bud. 
 
Difficult to Forecast  

 

Detailed sales forecasts are not generally obtainable from sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana 
industry in Canada. A failure in the demand for products to materialize as a result of competition, technological 
change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the proposed business, results of operations 
and financial condition of the Company.  
 
Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour  

 

The ability of North Bud, through GrowPros, to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a 
reasonable cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances 
can be given that the Company will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, 
equipment, parts and components. It is also possible that the final costs of any major equipment that may be 
contemplated by the Company’s capital expenditure program may be significantly greater than anticipated by 
management and may be greater than funds available to North Bud, in which circumstance the Company may 
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curtail, or extend the timeframes for completing, its capital expenditure plans. This could have an adverse 
effect on the financial results of the Company. 
 
Reliance on Key Inputs  

 

The proposed business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials 
and supplies related to growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant 
interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could 
materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. Any inability to 
secure required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact 
on the proposed business, financial condition and operating results of the Company.  
 
Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception  

 

Management of the Company believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. Consumer perception 
of the Company’s proposed products can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, 
regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of medical 
marijuana products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory 
proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favourable to the medical 
marijuana market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, 
findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less 
favourable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse 
effect on the demand for the Company’s’ proposed products and the business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows of North Bud. The Company’s dependence upon consumer perceptions means that 
adverse scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other 
publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on the Company, the 
demand for its proposed products, and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows 
of the Company. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and 
quality of medical marijuana in general, or the Company’s proposed products specifically, or associating the 
consumption of medical marijuana with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material 
adverse effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects 
associated with such products resulted from consumers’ failure to consume such products appropriately or as 
directed.  
 
Product Liability  

 

If licensed as a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, North Bud, 
through GrowPros, faces an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation 
if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of 
the Company’s products involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties 
or product contamination. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of its 
products alone or in combination with other medications or substances could occur. The Company may be 
subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that its products caused injury or illness, 
include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or 
interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against the Company could 
result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Company’s reputation with its clients and consumers 
generally, and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition of the 
Company. There can be no assurances that North Bud will be able to obtain or maintain product liability 
insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is 
expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient 
insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could 
prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Company’s potential products.  
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Product Recalls  

 

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for 
a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or 
interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any 
of the Company’s products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the Company 
could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in 
connection with the recall. The Company may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to 
replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant 
management attention. Although North Bud intends to implement detailed procedures for testing finished 
products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in 
time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the Company’s 
significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and the Company could be harmed. A recall 
for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for the Company’s products and could have 
a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Company. Additionally, 
product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of North Bud’s operations by Health Canada or other regulatory 
agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
At the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the design of disclosure controls and internal 
controls over financial reporting was carried out under the supervision of the Company’s management, 
including the CEO and CFO. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that the disclosure controls were designed effectively as of May 31, 2018, the end of the period 
covered by this report, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports that it files or submits to 
regulatory authorities, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by 
regulation, and is accumulated and communicated to management to allow for timely decisions regarding 
required disclosures. 
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the six 
months ended May 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Management will continue to monitor its disclosure 
controls and may make modifications from time to time as considered necessary or desirable. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that the disclosure controls and procedures will detect or uncover 
every situation involving the failure of persons within the Company to disclose material information otherwise 
required to be set forth in the reports. The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance of achieving their objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports is communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
The Company’s management, with the participation of its CEO and CFO, has designed, established and is 
maintaining a system of internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision of the CFO, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that the financial information prepared by the Company for external purposes is reliable and has been 
recorded, processed and reported in an accurate and timely manner and in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Company’s controls include policies and procedures that: 
 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
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transactions of the Company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the annual financial 
statements or interim financial statements. 
 

The Company’s control over financial reporting during the six months ended May 31, 2018 were designed and 
implemented throughout the period. There have been no changes to the controls during the period that 
materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of the internal 
control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2018. As a result, management concluded that the internal 
control over financial reporting were effective as at that date. 
 
Limitations of Controls and Procedures 
 
Management, including the CEO and CFO, believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal 
controls over financial reporting, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control 
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they cannot provide 
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been 
prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can 
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be 
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized 
override of the control. The design of any systems of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions 
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving 
its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost 
effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
See Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017. 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING POLICIES ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
See Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017. 
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OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 
Common shares and convertible securities outstanding at August 21, 2018, consist of: 
 

Securities 
 

Expiry Date 
 

Range of Exercise 
Price 

Number of 
Securities 

Outstanding 
 
Common shares 

 
- 

 
- 

 
51,768,000 

Options -  - - 
Warrants 24 months following the 

date upon which the 
common shares are listed 
on a recognized Canadian 

stock exchange 

$0.40 6,479,000 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Directors of GrowPros MMP Inc.  
 
We have audited the accompanying carve-out financial statements of GrowPros MMP Inc., which comprise the carve-out 
statements of financial position as at November 30, 2017 and the carve-out statements of loss and comprehensive loss, carve-
out statements of changes in owner’s net investment and carve-out statements of cash flows for the year ended November 30, 
2017, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the carve-out Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these carve-out financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of carve-out financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these carve-out financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the carve-out financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the carve-out financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the carve-out financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the carve-out financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the carve-out financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the carve-out financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of GrowPros 
MMP Inc. as at November 30, 2017, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended November 30, 2017 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company had 
continuing losses during the year ended November 30, 2017 and a working capital deficiency as at November 30, 2017.  
These conditions along with other matters set forth in Note 2 indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
 UHY McGovern Hurley LLP 

  
 Chartered Professional Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 
TORONTO, Canada 
August 21, 2018 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Carve-out Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at November 30, November 30, November 30,
2017 2016 2015

$ $ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

ASSETS

Current assets
  Cash 913 918 20,125
  Amounts receivable -                          -                          5,106
  Prepaid expenses -                          5,000 833

913 5,918 26,064
 
Deferred building costs (Note 5) -                          -                          13,899

Total assets 913 5,918 39,963

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,065 18,746 270,182

Total liabilities 12,065 18,746 270,182

EQUITY

Owners net investment (11,152) (12,828) (230,219)

Total equity (11,152) (12,828) (230,219)

Total liabilities and equity 913 5,918 39,963



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these carve-out financial statements. 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Carve-out Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended November 30
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2017 2016 2015
$ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Expenses
   Management fees 20,000 107,300 99,027
   Travel and promotion 15,621 46,405 109,706
   Professional fees 1,673 42,834 156,824
   Exchange and regulatory fees -                         24,947 42,890
   Stock-based compensation -                         -                         73,200
   Impairment of land (Notes 5 & 6) -                         13,899 15,000
   Land lease payments 18,000 6,000 6,000
   General and administrative expenses -                         20,501 29,064

Loss before the undernoted (55,294) (261,886) (531,711)

Other income
   Interest and other (loss) income -                         55,762 4,126
   Assignment of letters of intent (Note 7) -                         -                         50,000
   Foreign exchange loss -                         (1,686) (235)

Net loss and total comprehensive loss (55,294) (207,810) (477,820)
 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these carve-out financial statements. 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Carve-out Statements of Changes in Owner's Net Investment
For the years ended November 30
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2017 2016 2015
$ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Balance, beginning of the year (12,828) (230,219) (13,386)
   Net loss and total comprehensive loss (55,294) (207,810) (477,820)
   Transfer from owners 56,970 425,201 260,987

Balance, end of the year (11,152) (12,828) (230,219)
 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these carve-out financial statements. 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Carve-out Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended November 30
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2017 2016 2015
$ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss (55,294)              (207,810)            (477,820)            
Adjustments for:
  Stock-based compensation -                         -                         73,200               
  Impairment expense -                         13,899               15,000               
Changes in non-cash working capital items (1,681)                (250,497)            197,325             

Net cash used in operating activities (56,975)              (444,408)            (192,295)            

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capitalized building costs -                         -                         (975)                   

Net cash used in investing activities -                         -                         (975)                   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer from owners 56,970               425,201             182,770             

Net cash provided by financing activities 56,970               425,201             182,770             

Decrease in cash (5)                       (19,207)              (10,500)              
Cash, beginning of the year 918                    20,125               30,625               

Cash, end of the year 913                    918                    20,125               

Changes in non-cash working capital items consists of the following:
  Amounts receivable -                         5,106                 4,290                 
  Prepaids 5,000                 (4,167)                16,382               
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (6,681)                (251,436)            176,653             

(1,681)                (250,497)            197,325             
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

GrowPros MMP Inc. (the “Company” or “GrowPros”), was incorporated on March 12, 2014 under the Canada 
Business Corporations Act.  
 
The Company is pursuing a license to become a producer of medical marijuana in Canada pursuant to Health 
Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”). The Company’s head office is 
located at 200-2742 St. Joseph Blvd., Orleans, Ontario, K1C 1G5. GrowPros is not yet a licensed producer 
under the ACMPR as of the date of approval of these financial statements. 
 
As a condition of obtaining a license, Health Canada requires significant steps to be taken, including the 
construction of an indoor growing facility equipped with physical barriers, visual monitoring, recording devices, 
intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around distribution and access. 
 
At this time, the Company is in the confirmation of readiness stage with respect to this application. 
 
The amount of time required to obtain a license is dependant on Health Canada’s timeline for reviewing license 
applications. Further, the amount of time the Company may need to resolve any comments received from 
Health Canada during the application process will not be known until such comments are received. As a result, 
the Company is currently at too early a stage in its due diligence process to provide any estimate of the amount 
of time required in order to obtain a license. Until a facility meeting the requirements of ACMPR is constructed, 
available for inspection by Health Canada and the Company is in receipt of a final license from Health Canada, 
the Company cannot begin production of medical marijuana. 
 
There can be no assurance that the Company’s medical marijuana license application will be approved by 
Health Canada. 
 
Subsequent to year end, on February 16, 2018, the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra Bio-Pharma (“Tetra”), 
entered into an agreement with North Bud Farms Inc. (“North Bud”), to sell its interest in GrowPros for $350,000 
and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares 
on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 
 
These carve-out financial statements have been prepared in connection with North Bud’s listing application, 
for the sole purpose of carving out the historical results of GrowPros and the related transactions and balances. 
These carve-out financial statements present the financial position, net loss and total comprehensive loss, 
changes in owner’s net investment and cash flows of GrowPros, as if it had been an independent operation 
during the years reported. These carve-out financial statements have been derived from the historical 
accounting records of Tetra and its subsidiaries, with estimates used, when necessary, for certain allocations.  
The carve-out statements of financial position as at November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 reflect the amounts 
recorded by GrowPros with respect to assets and liabilities to be transferred as part of the agreement with 
North Bud.  Other assets and liabilities that are not expected to be part of the agreement with North Bud are 
not included in the carve-out statements of financial position.  The carve-out statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss for the years ended November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 include all direct expenses 
related to GrowPros and a pro-rata allocation of Tetra’s administrative and general expenses.  The allocation 
of general and administrative expenses for each year is as follows: 2017 – 0%; 2016 – 46%; 2015 – 100%.  
Management cautions readers of these carve-out financial statements that amounts presented do not 
necessarily reflect what the results of operations, financial position, or cash flows would have been had the 
Company been an independent operation or future results in respect of GrowPros on a stand-along basis.  
Further, the allocation of expenses in the carve-out statements of loss and comprehensive loss does not 
necessarily reflect the nature and level of GrowPros future operating expenses. 
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2. GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION 
 

These carve-out financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The going concern basis of presentation assumes the 
Company will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has no assurance that it will be successful in its 
application to become a licensed producer of medical marijuana. The Company has not generated any 
operating revenues or positive cash flow from operations from inception to date. 
 
The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In 
assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, Management takes into account all available 
information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. This assessment is based upon planned actions that may or may not occur for a number of reasons 
including the Company’s own resources and external market conditions. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business, meet its corporate administrative expenses and continue to advance its application 
for a license to produce medical marijuana, is dependent upon securing additional financing, through various 
means including but not limited to equity financing. No assurance can be given that any such additional 
financing will be available, or that it can be obtained on terms favorable to the Company.  
 
These financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption 
was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements, then 
adjustments would be necessary to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and 
the classifications used in the statements of financial position. 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Basis of presentation and compliance with IFRS  
 

These carve-out financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are expressed in 
Canadian dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company. These carve-out financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”). 
 
These carve-out financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 21, 2018. 

 
(b) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 

The preparation of these carve-out financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates, 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the carve-out financial 
statements. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require 
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 
 
In particular, the Company has identified the following areas where significant judgments, estimates, and 
assumptions are required. Further information on each of these areas and how they impact the various 
accounting policies are described below and also in the relevant notes to the carve-out financial statements. 
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Significant management estimates and judgments 
 
Estimates 
 

 Management makes certain estimates and assumptions when calculating the fair value of stock 
options granted. The significant assumptions used include estimates of expected volatility, expected 
life and expected risk-free rates of return. Changes in these assumptions may result in a material 
change to the amount recorded for the issuance of stock options. 

 
 Determining whether facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of deferred building 

costs may exceed their recoverable amount. Determining if there are any facts and circumstances 
indicating impairment loss or reversal of impairment losses is a subjective process involving judgment 
and a number of estimates and interpretations in many cases. 
 

 When an indication of impairment loss or a reversal of an impairment loss exists, the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset or the cash generating units must be estimated. 

 
 Management continually evaluates the likelihood that its deferred tax assets could be realized. This 

requires management to assess whether it is probable that sufficient taxable income will exist in the 
future to utilize these losses within the carry-forward period. By its nature, this assessment requires 
significant judgments.  

 
 At November 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017, management assessed that the collectability of $200,000 

receivable from the sale of LOI’s (Note 7) was uncertain due to the purchasing company being unable 
to complete a listing on a stock exchange. As a result, $200,000 of the expected proceeds were not 
recorded from the sale.  

 
Judgements 
 

 The assessment of the Company's ability to execute its strategy by funding future working capital 
requirements. Further information regarding going concern is outlined in note 2. 

 
 By their nature, contingencies will be resolved only when one or more uncertain future events occur 

or fail to occur. The assessment of the existence and potential quantum of contingencies inherently 
involves the exercise of significant judgments and the use of estimates regarding the outcome of future 
events. 

       
(c) Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or when it expires. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transactions costs. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured subsequently as described below. 
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Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. The Company’s cash falls into this category of financial 
instruments. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale 
or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. After initial recognition, these assets are measured at fair value with subsequent 
changes in fair value, other than impairment losses, recognized in other comprehensive income, and presented 
within equity. When an investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in other comprehensive income 
is transferred to profit or loss. The Company does not have any available-for-sale assets. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
All financial assets not classified as fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity-accounted 
investee, are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired 
when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
Objective evidence of impairment could include: 
 
- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; 
- default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;  
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization. 
- the disappearance of an active market for a security; or 
- observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the expected cash flows from a group of          
financial assets. 
 
For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or prolonged 
decline in its fair value below its cost. The Company generally considers a decline of 20% to be significant and 
a period of nine months to be prolonged. 
 
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other 
objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Impairment of receivables is presented 
in profit or loss, if applicable. 
 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized by reclassifying the losses 
accumulated in equity to profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company's financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and amount due to related 
party. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
All interest-related charges are reported in profit or loss within interest expense, if applicable. 
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Fair value hierarchy 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value on the statements of financial position are classified using a fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels: Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices); Level 3 – valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).  The Company does not have any financial instruments 
measured at fair value that require classification within the fair value hierarchy. 
 

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The Company assesses non-financial assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of the assets are impaired. An impairment review is undertaken when indicators of impairment 
arise. 
 
Where such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. For the purpose of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are largely independent cash 
inflows (cash-generating units or “CGU”). The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use, being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset 
or CGU. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
 
Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, subject to the amount not exceeding the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had impairment not been recognized for the asset in prior periods. Any reversal of impairment 
is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 

 (e) Provisions and contingent liabilities 
 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. 
If the effect is material, provisions are measured by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. 
 
All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. The 
Company had no material provisions as at November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 
 

(f) Income taxes 
 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable 
on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based 
on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial 
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recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or 
accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with shares in subsidiaries and associates 
is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Company and it is probable 
that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply 
to their respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferred tax assets are recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable income. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to set off current 
tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 
 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as deferred income tax expense in profit or loss, 
except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in 
which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 
 

(g) Share-based payments 
 
The Company uses the fair value method to measure compensation expense at the date of grant of stock 
options. The fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is amortized 
to earnings over the vesting period with an offset to a share-based payment reserve. When options are 
exercised, the corresponding share-based payment reserve and the proceeds received by the Company are 
credited to share capital. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised annually. Any changes in 
the forfeiture rate is recorded prospectively as a change in estimate. 
 

(h) Segmented reporting 
 
The Company presents and discloses segmented information based on information that is regularly reviewed 
by the Company’s CEO who is the chief operating decision maker. The CEO has primary responsibility for 
allocating resources to the Company’s operating segments and assessing their performance. The Company 
is currently in the development stage and has determined that there is only one operating segment being the 
sector of medical marijuana. The Company does not yet have a production license. All of the Company’s 
operations and material assets are in Canada. 
 

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations 
 

Issued but not yet effective 
 
The IASB has issued the following new and revised standards and amendments, which are not yet effective 
which may have future applicability to the Company. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) 

 
The IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together the classification and measurement, impairment 
and hedge accounting phases of the project to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”. IFRS 9 is to be applied retrospectively with some exemptions for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018.  The extent of the impact on the Company of adopting IFRS 9 has not yet been 
determined. 
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IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) 
 
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, completing its project to improve the financial reporting of leases. 
The new standard will replace IAS 17 “Leases” (IAS 17), and it sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract. For lessees, IFRS 16 
eliminates the classification of leases as either operating or finance leases that exist under IAS 17, and requires 
recognition of assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying 
asset is of low value. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements under IAS 17. 
IFRS 16 is to be applied retrospectively, using either a full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective 
approach, for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early application is permitted, but only if 
IFRS 15 has also been adopted. The extent of the impact on the Company of adopting IFRS 16 has not yet 
been determined. 
 

4. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE  
 

November 30, November 30, November 30,
2017 2016 2015

$ $ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Sales taxes receivable -                         -                         5,106                 
 

 

On April 9, 2015, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Export Hydro and made advances of 
$17,500 to Export Hydro. The advances carried an annual interest rate of prime lending plus 1% and were 
repayable on demand. On September 25, 2015, Export Hydro repaid the advances and accrued interest in full. 
During the year ended November 30, 2015, $341 in interest income related to the loan was recorded in the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
On July 16, 2015, the Company transferred its LOI with 0971224 B.C. Ltd. (a Canadian private company) and 
Export Hydro (a private Hong Kong based company) to Cannabis Accelerators Limited (“CAL”) for $250,000 
(Note 7). The $250,000 was receivable in two tranches, with $50,000 receivable on September 15, 2015 
(received) and $200,000 receivable on December 15, 2015. During the year ended November 30, 2015, 
management assessed that the collectability of the $200,000 receivable from the sale of the LOI’s was 
uncertain and as a result, no proceeds were recorded for the $200,000 (Note 7).   
 

5. DEFERRED BUILDING COSTS  
 

November 30, November 30, November 30,
2017 2016 2015

$ $ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Deferred building costs -                         -                         13,899               
 

 

As of November 30, 2017, the Company had deferred $Nil (2016 - $Nil; 2015 - $13,899) of building costs for 
the design of the future production facility. During the year ended November 30, 2016, due to prolonged delays 
in obtaining approval from Health Canada on an ACMPR license, management assessed that the deferred 
building costs were impaired and recorded an impairment of $13,899 (2015 - $Nil), which included in 
impairment expense in the statements of comprehensive loss. 
 
 



GrowPros MMP Inc.  
Notes to the Carve-Out Financial Statements 
November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 
All amounts as at and for the years ended November 30, 2015 and 2016 are unaudited 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

14 

 

6. DEPOSIT ON LAND  
 
On August 31, 2015, the Company assessed that under Quebec Agricultural Law, it would not be able to 
directly own the land in Low, Quebec, which was intended for the construction of a facility to grow medical 
marijuana under its application with Health Canada. As a result, during the year ended November 30, 2015, 
an impairment was recognized on the deposit made in the amount of $15,000. The impairment is included in 
impairment expense in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2017, the Company made land lease payments of $18,000 (2016 - 
$6,000; 2015 - $6,000). 
 

7. ASSIGNMENT OF LETTER OF INTENT  
 
On March 5, 2015 and April 2, 2015, GrowPros entered into letters of intent (“LOI”) with Export Hydro (“EH”) 
(a private Hong Kong based company) and 0971224 B.C. Ltd. (“0971224) (a Canadian private company), 
manufacturers and exporters of indoor gardening equipment based in Hong Kong and Canada, respectively. 
 
Pursuant to the LOI’s, GrowPros could acquire 100% of the outstanding shares of EH for US$1,000,000 
($1,335,300 CAD) and 100% of the outstanding shares of 0971224 for $1,250,000 plus the value of inventory, 
fixed assets and accounts receivable, to have been determined upon closing. 
 
On July 16, 2015, the Company transferred the LOI’s with EH and 0971224 to Cannabis Accelerators Ltd. 
(“CAL”) for $250,000 and 1,000,000 compensation options to purchase shares in CAL at an exercise price of 
$0.20 per option. The $250,000 was receivable in two tranches, with $50,000 receivable on September 15, 
2015 (received) and $200,000 receivable on December 15, 2015. During the year ended November 30, 2015, 
management assessed that the collectability of the $200,000 was uncertain and as a result, the $200,000 
receivable and 1,000,000 compensation options were not reflected in the financial statements. As at November 
30, 2017 and 2016, management’s assessment did not change, and the receivable remained to be considered 
uncollectible.  
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are primarily composed of cash and 
amounts receivable (excluding sales taxes receivable). The Company’s cash is held at reputable financial 
institutions with high external credit ratings. It is Management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to 
significant credit risk. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
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(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets is 
hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at November 30, 2017, 
the Company had cash of $913 (2016 - $918; 2015 - $20,125) and current liabilities of $12,065 (2016 - $18,746; 
2015 - $270,182). All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and 
are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation 
and security of capital as well as liquidity.  
 
Capital management 
 
The Company considers its capital to be its owners net investment, which at November 30, 2017 was a deficit 
of $11,152 (2016 - $12,828; 2015 - $230,219). The Company relies on Tetra Bio-Pharma for the ongoing 
management of its capital. 
 

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair 
value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  
 
The classification of financial instruments is as follows: 
 

November 30, November 30, November 30,
2017 2016 2015

$ $ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Financial assets

Loans and receivables
   Cash 913                    918                    20,125               

Total financial assets 913                    918                    20,125               

Financial liabilities

Measured at amortized cost
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,065)              (18,746)              (270,182)            

Total financial liabilities (12,065)              (18,746)              (270,182)            
 

 

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Transactions with key management personnel 
 
 Related parties include the Board of Directors and key management personnel, as well as close family 

members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions. Unless otherwise stated, none of these transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and 
no guarantees were given or received. 
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Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company was as follows: 
 

2017 2016 2015
$ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Salaries (including bonuses) -                         -                         60,000               
Consulting fees 20,000               87,500               95,400               
Stock-based compensation -                         -                         52,974               

20,000               87,500               208,374             
 

 
 As at November 30, 2017, directors and key management personnel were owed $Nil (2016 - $5,000; 2015 - 

$117,429). This amount is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The amount is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and due on demand.  
 

11. INCOME TAXES 
 
The Company has available certain tax losses and other tax assets that may be used to offset taxable income 
in the future. To date, management has not recognized any deferred tax assets as there is no indication that 
the Company will have taxable income in the future from which to utilize these assets. 
 

12. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
The fair value of options granted during the year ended November 30, 2015 were allocated to these carve-out 
financial statements as disclosed in Note 1 and were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
with the following weighted average assumptions: expected volatility of 140%; risk free interest rate of 0.7%; 
expected life of 1.8 years; and expected dividend yield of 0%. 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Condensed Carve-out Interim Statements of Financial Position (Unaudited)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at May 31, November 30,

2018 2017

$ $

ASSETS

Current assets

  Cash 913 913

Total assets 913 913

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,065 12,065

Total liabilities 12,065 12,065

EQUITY

Owners net investment (11,152) (11,152)

Total equity (11,152) (11,152)

Total liabilities and equity 913 913
 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed carve-out interim financial statements. 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Condensed Carve-out Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss (Unaudited)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017 2018 2017
$ $ $ $

Operating expenses
   Management fees -                  5,000 -                  10,000
   Travel and promotion -                  3,905 -                  7,810
   Professional fees -                  418 -                  836
   Land lease payments -                  4,500 4,000 9,000

Net loss and total comprehensive loss -                  13,823 4,000 27,646

Three months
ended May 31,

Six months
ended May 31,
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Condensed Carve-out Interim Statements of Changes in Owner's Net Investment (Unaudited)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Owner's net investment
$

Balance, November 30, 2016 (12,828)

   Net loss and total comprehensive loss (27,646)

   Transfer from owners 28,485

Balance, May 31, 2017 (11,989)

   Net loss and total comprehensive loss (27,648)

   Transfer from owners 28,485

Balance, November 30, 2017 (11,152)

   Net loss and total comprehensive loss (4,000)

   Transfer from owners 4,000

Balance, May 31, 2018 (11,152)
 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed carve-out interim financial statements. 
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GrowPros MMP Inc.
Condensed Carve-out Interim Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2018 2017 2018 2017
$ $ $ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss -                  (13,823)       (4,000)         (27,646)       
Changes in non-cash working capital items -                  (420)            -                  (840)            

Net cash used in operating activities -                  (14,243)       (4,000)         (28,486)       

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer from owners -                  14,611        4,000          28,485        

Net cash provided by financing activities -                  14,611        4,000          28,485        

Decrease in cash -                  368             -                  (1)                
Cash, beginning of the period 913             549             913             918             

Cash, end of the period 913             917             913             917             

Changes in non-cash working capital items consists of the following:
  Prepaids -                  1,250          -                  2,500          
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -                  (1,670)         -                  (3,340)         

-                  (420)            -                  (840)            

Three months
ended May 31,

Six months
ended May 31,
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

GrowPros MMP Inc. (the “Company” or “GrowPros”), was incorporated on March 12, 2014 under the Canada 
Business Corporations Act.  
 
The Company is pursuing a license to become a producer of medical marijuana in Canada pursuant to Health 
Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”). The Company’s head office is 
located at 200-2742 St. Joseph Blvd., Orleans, Ontario, K1C 1G5. GrowPros is not yet a licensed producer 
under the ACMPR as of the date of approval of these financial statements. 
 
As a condition of obtaining a license, Health Canada requires significant steps to be taken, including the 
construction of an indoor growing facility equipped with physical barriers, visual monitoring, recording devices, 
intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around distribution and access. 
 
At this time, the Company is in the confirmation of readiness stage with respect to this application. 
 
The amount of time required to obtain a license is dependant on Health Canada’s timeline for reviewing license 
applications. Further, the amount of time the Company may need to resolve any comments received from 
Health Canada during the application process will not be known until such comments are received. As a result, 
the Company is currently at too early a stage in its due diligence process to provide any estimate of the amount 
of time required in order to obtain a license. Until a facility meeting the requirements of ACMPR is constructed, 
available for inspection by Health Canada and the Company is in receipt of a final license from Health Canada, 
the Company cannot begin production of medical marijuana. 
 
There can be no assurance that the Company’s medical marijuana license application will be approved by 
Health Canada. 
 
On February 16, 2018, the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra Bio-Pharma (“Tetra”), entered into an 
agreement with North Bud Farms Inc. (“North Bud”), to sell its interest in GrowPros for $350,000 and 
15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on 
a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 
 
These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been prepared in connection with North Bud’s 
listing application, and present the financial position, net loss and total comprehensive loss, changes in owner’s 
net investment and cash flows of GrowPros, as if it had been an independent operation during the periods 
reported. These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been derived from the historical 
accounting records of Tetra and its subsidiaries, with estimates used, when necessary, for certain allocations.  
 
The condensed carve-out interim statements of financial position as at May 31, 2018 reflect the amounts 
recorded by GrowPros with respect to assets and liabilities to be transferred as part of the agreement with 
North Bud.  Other assets and liabilities that are not expected to be part of the agreement with North Bud are 
not included in the carve-out statements of financial position.  The condensed carve-out interim statements of 
loss and comprehensive loss for the periods ended May 31, 2018 and 2017 include all direct expenses related 
to GrowPros.  Management cautions readers of these condensed carve-out interim financial statements that 
amounts presented do not necessarily reflect what the results of operations, financial position, or cash flows 
would have been had the Company been an independent operation or future results in respect of GrowPros 
on a stand-along basis.  Further, the allocation of expenses in the carve-out statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss does not necessarily reflect the nature and level of GrowPros future operating expenses. 
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2. GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION 
 

These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The going concern basis of presentation 
assumes the Company will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has no assurance that it will be 
successful in its application to become a licensed producer of medical marijuana. The Company has not 
generated any operating revenues or positive cash flow from operations from inception to date. 
 
The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In 
assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, Management takes into account all available 
information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. This assessment is based upon planned actions that may or may not occur for a number of reasons 
including the Company’s own resources and external market conditions. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business, meet its corporate administrative expenses and continue to advance its application 
for a license to produce medical marijuana, is dependent upon securing additional financing, through various 
means including but not limited to equity financing. No assurance can be given that any such additional 
financing will be available, or that it can be obtained on terms favorable to the Company.  
 
These financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption 
was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements, then 
adjustments would be necessary to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and 
the classifications used in the statements of financial position. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Statement of compliance  
 

These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”).  
 
These condensed carve-out interim financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures 
required in the annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual 
carve-out financial statements for the years ended November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015, which have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS). 
 
These condensed carve-out interim financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors 
on August 21, 2018. 

 
(b) Basis of presentation  
 

These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and 
are expressed in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.  
 
These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies that 
are consistent with those used in the preparation of the Company’s audited carve-out financial statements for 
the year ended November 30, 2017. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial asset exposed to credit risk is cash. The Company’s cash is held at 
reputable financial institutions with high external credit ratings. It is Management’s opinion that the Company 
is not exposed to significant credit risk. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets is 
hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at May 31, 2018, the 
Company had cash of $913 ($913 as at November 30, 2017) and current liabilities of $12,065 ($12,065 as at 
November 30, 2017). All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 30 days 
and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure 
preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity.  
 
Capital management 
 
The Company considers its capital to be its owners net investment, which at May 31, 2018 was a deficit of 
$11,152 ($11,152 as at November 30, 2017). The Company relies on Tetra Bio-Pharma for the ongoing 
management of its capital. 
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair 
value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  
 
The classification of financial instruments is as follows: 
 

May 31, November 30,

2018 2017

$ $

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

   Cash 913                                  913                                  

Total financial assets 913                                  913                                  

Financial liabilities

Measured at amortized cost

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,065)                            (12,065)                            

Total financial liabilities (12,065)                            (12,065)                            
 

 

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Transactions with key management personnel 
 
 Related parties include the Board of Directors and key management personnel, as well as close family 

members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions. Unless otherwise stated, none of these transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and 
no guarantees were given or received. 

 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company was as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Consulting fees -                  5,000          -                  10,000        

-                  5,000          -                  10,000        

Three months

ended May 31, ended May 31,

Six months
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for GrowPros MMP Inc. (the “Company” or 
“GrowPros”) should be read in conjunction with the carve-out financial statements for the years ending 
November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and the notes thereto. 
 
The financial information in this MD&A is derived from the Company’s carve-out financial statements for the 
years ended November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015, which were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The effective date of this MD&A is August 21, 2018. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Certain of the information contained in this document may contain “forward-looking statements”.  Forward-
looking statements may include, among others, statements regarding the Company’s future plans, costs, 
objectives or economic performance, or the assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.  In this document, 
words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “estimate” 
and similar words and the negative form thereof are used to identify forward-looking statements.  Forward-
looking statements should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily 
be accurate indications of whether such future performance will be achieved.  Forward-looking statements are 
based on information available at the time and/or management’s good faith belief with respect to future events 
and are subject to known or unknown risks, uncertainties and other unpredictable factors, many of which are 
beyond the Company’s control.  These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described 
under the headings “Financial Instruments and Risk Management” and “Inherent Risk Factors” in this MD&A 
and could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in any forward-looking 
statements.  The Company does not intend, nor does it undertake any obligation, to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A to reflect subsequent information, events or 
circumstances or otherwise, except if required by applicable law. 
 
BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

GrowPros MMP Inc. (the “Company” or “GrowPros”), was incorporated on March 12, 2014 under the Canada 
Business Corporations Act.  
 
The Company is pursuing a license to become a producer of medical marijuana in Canada pursuant to Health 
Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”). The Company’s head office is 
located at 200-2742 St. Joseph Blvd., Orleans, Ontario, K1C 1G5. GrowPros is not yet a licensed producer 
under the ACMPR.  
 
As a condition of obtaining a license, Health Canada requires significant steps to be taken, including the 
construction of an indoor growing facility equipped with physical barriers, visual monitoring, recording devices, 
intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around distribution and access. 
 
At this time, the Company is in the confirmation of readiness stage with respect to this application. As a result, 
none of the infrastructure required to support the Company’s license application has been ordered, purchased 
or assembled. 
 
The amount of time required to obtain a license is dependant on Health Canada’s timeline for reviewing license 
applications. Further, the amount of time the Company may need to resolve any comments received from 
Health Canada during the application process will not be known until such comments are received. As a result, 
the Company is currently at too early a stage in its due diligence process to provide any estimate of the amount 
of time required in order to obtain a license. Until a facility meeting the requirements of ACMPR is constructed, 
available for inspection by Health Canada and the Company is in receipt of a final license from Health Canada, 
the Company cannot begin production of medical marijuana. 
 
There can be no assurance that the Company’s medical marijuana license application will be approved by 
Health Canada. 
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Subsequent to year end, on February 16, 2018, the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra Bio-Pharma (“Tetra”), 
entered into an agreement with North Bud Farms Inc. (“North Bud”), to sell its interest in GrowPros for 
$350,000 and 15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing 
its shares on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 
 
The Company’s carve-out financial statements were prepared in connection with North Bud’s listing 
application, for the sole purpose of carving out the historical results of GrowPros and the related transactions 
and balances. The carve-out financial statements present the financial position, net loss and total 
comprehensive loss, changes in owner’s net investment and cash flows of GrowPros, as if it had been an 
independent operation during the years reported. The carve-out financial statements were derived from the 
historical accounting records of Tetra and its subsidiaries, with estimates used, when necessary, for certain 
allocations.  The carve-out statements of financial position as at November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 reflect 
the amounts recorded by GrowPros with respect to assets and liabilities to be transferred as part of the 
agreement with North Bud.  Other assets and liabilities that are not expected to be part of the agreement with 
North Bud are not included in the carve-out statements of financial position.  The carve-out statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss for the years ended November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 include all direct expenses 
related to GrowPros and a pro-rata allocation of Tetra’s administrative and general expenses.  The allocation 
of general and administrative expenses for each year was as follows: 2017 – 0%; 2016 – 46%; 2015 – 100%.  
Management cautions readers of the carve-out financial statements that amounts presented do not 
necessarily reflect what the results of operations, financial position, or cash flows would have been had the 
Company been an independent operation or future results in respect of GrowPros on a stand-along basis.  
Further, the allocation of expenses in the carve-out statements of loss and comprehensive loss does not 
necessarily reflect the nature and level of GrowPros future operating expenses. 
 
GOING CONCERN 
 
The carve-out financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The going concern basis of presentation assumes the 
Company will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has no assurance that it will be successful in its 
application to become a licensed producer of medical marijuana. The Company has not generated any 
operating revenues or positive cash flow from operations from inception to date. 
 
The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In 
assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, Management takes into account all available 
information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. This assessment is based upon planned actions that may or may not occur for a number of reasons 
including the Company’s own resources and external market conditions. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business, meet its corporate administrative expenses and continue to advance its application 
for a license to produce medical marijuana, is dependent upon securing additional financing, through various 
means including but not limited to equity financing. No assurance can be given that any such additional 
financing will be available, or that it can be obtained on terms favorable to the Company.  
 
The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption 
was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for the financial statements, then 
adjustments would be necessary to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and 
the classifications used in the statements of financial position. 
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
The following selected financial information is derived from the Company’s carve-out financial statements for 
the years ended November 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS: 
 

 2017 2016 2015 

  $ $ $ 

Net loss for the year (55,294) (207,810) (477,820) 

Comprehensive loss for the year (55,294) (207,810) (477,820) 

Total assets 913 5,918 39,963 

Total liabilities 12,065 18,746 270,182 

Cash dividends per common share N/A N/A N/A 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2017, the Company recorded a net loss and total comprehensive loss 
of $55,294 (2016 - $207,810; 2015 - $477,820). The decrease in 2016 and 2017 is primarily due to the parent 
company of GrowPros, Tetra Bio-Pharma, focusing an increasing percentage of its efforts and resources on 
the pharmaceutical side of its business, and less on its license application with Health Canada. As a result, 
professional fees decreased significantly, with the Company incurring only $1,673 during the year ended 
November 30, 2017 (2016 - $42,834; 2015 - $156,824), as did management fees, which were $20,000 during 
the year ended November 30, 2017 (2016 - $107,300; 2015 - $$99,027). 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company’s liquidity depends on existing cash reserves, supplemented as necessary by equity and/or 
equity financings. As at November 30, 2017, the Company had cash of $913 (2016 - $918; 2015 - $20,125) 
and current liabilities of $12,065 (2016 - $18,746; 2015 - $270,182). 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2017, the Company used cash of $56,975 to fund operating activities 
(2016 - $444,408; 2015 - $192,295). 
 
As the Company’s focus has been primarily on advancing its license application with Health Canada, it has 
never had any operating revenues and has relied exclusively on funding from Tetra, the parent company of 
GrowPros. Refer to Note 2 in the Company’s carve-out financial statements for further details surrounding the 
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
As at November 30, 2017 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any commitments or 
contingencies. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
As at November 30, 2017 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet 
arrangements. 
 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
As outlined in the Business Overview section of this MD&A, the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra, has 
entered into an agreement to sell its interest in the Company to North Bud. The transaction is conditional on 
North Bud listing its shares on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 
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As at the date of this MD&A, other than the sale of GrowPros to North Bud, there are no proposed asset or 
business acquisitions or dispositions. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Transactions with key management personnel 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and key management personnel, as well as close family 
members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions. Unless otherwise stated, none of these transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and 
no guarantees were given or received. 
 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company was as follows: 
 

2017 2016 2015

$ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Salaries (including bonuses) -                         -                         60,000               

Consulting fees 20,000               87,500               95,400               
Stock-based compensation -                         -                         52,974               

20,000               87,500               208,374             
 

 
During the year ended November 30, 2017, consulting fees of $20,000 were paid/payable to Ryan Brown, the 
Company’s former CEO, in 2016, $60,000 were paid/payable to Ryan Brown in consulting fees, and in  2015, 
$60,000 were paid/payable to Ryan Brown in salary pursuant to a consulting and employment agreement. In 
2015, Ryan Brown received $9,632 in stock-based compensation as the Company’s former CEO. There are 
no ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from these transactions. Ryan Brown is now the CEO 
of North Bud Farms Inc.  
 
During the year ended November 30, 2016, consulting fees of $27,500 were paid/payable to Andre Audet, the 
Company’s former Chairman, and in 2015, consulting fees of $60,000 were paid/payable to him. In 2015, 
André Audet also received $28,895 in stock-based compensation as the Company’s former Chairman. There 
are no ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from these transactions. André Audet is now the 
President of North Bud Farms Inc. 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2015, consulting fees of $35,400, and stock-based compensation of 
$4,816 were paid/payable or issued to Sabino Di Paola, the Company’s former CFO. There are no ongoing 
contractual or other commitments resulting from these transactions. Sabino Di Paola is no longer involved 
with the Company. 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2015, stock-based compensation of $4,816 was issued to Koby Smutylo, 
a former Director of the Company. There are no ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from 
these transactions. Koby Smutylo is no longer involved with the Company. 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2015, stock-based compensation of $4,815 was issued to Valerie 
Lasher, a former Director of the Company. There are no ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting 
from these transactions. Valerie Lasher is no longer involved with the Company. 
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As at November 30, 2017, directors and key management personnel were owed $Nil (2016 - $5,000; 2015 - 
$117,429). This amount is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The amount is unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and due on demand.  
 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are primarily composed of cash and 
amounts receivable (excluding sales taxes receivable). The Company’s cash is held at reputable financial 
institutions with high external credit ratings. It is Management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to 
significant credit risk. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the 
reporting dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 
the periods presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets 
is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at November 30, 2017, 
the Company had cash of $913 (2016 - $918; 2015 - $20,125) and current liabilities of $12,065 (2016 - 
$18,746; 2015 - $270,182). All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 
30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure 
preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity.  

 
Capital management 
 
The Company considers its capital to be its owners net investment, which at November 30, 2017 was a deficit 
of $11,152 (2016 - $12,828; 2015 - $230,219). The Company relies on Tetra Bio-Pharma for the ongoing 
management of its capital. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair 
value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  
 
The classification of financial instruments is as follows: 
 

November 30, November 30, November 30,
2017 2016 2015

$ $ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Financial assets

Loans and receivables
   Cash 913                    918                    20,125               

Total financial assets 913                    918                    20,125               

Financial liabilities

Measured at amortized cost

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,065)              (18,746)              (270,182)            

Total financial liabilities (12,065)              (18,746)              (270,182)            
 

 
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Company has not had any changes in accounting policies, other than the adoption of new mandatory 
standards under IFRS as well as amendments to existing standards, for the years ended November 30, 2017, 
2016 and 2015.  
 
INHERENT RISK FACTORS 
 
You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties in addition to other information in this MD&A 
in evaluating the Company and its business before making any investment decision in regards to the common 
shares of the Company.  The Company’s operating and financial condition could be harmed due to any of the 
following risks.  
 
Requirements under the ACMPR 

 
Production of medicinal marijuana in Canada is regulated pursuant to the ACMPR. Any applicant seeking to 
become such a producer is subject to the stringent licensing requirements of Health Canada, which would be 
applicable in the event that either the Company, or any other entity the Company may invest in applies for or 
acquires a license. These licensing requirements include the significant infrastructural requirements of 
obtaining and maintaining a license such as an indoor growing facility with physical barriers, visual monitoring, 
recording devices, intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around 
distribution and access, among others. In addition, and as specified in the ACMPR, once a license is issued, 
a holder of a producer license must comply with a number of ongoing requirements, including (i) physical 
security and storage measures, (ii) good production practices, and (iii) proper packaging, labelling and 
shipping practices. Furthermore, in order to obtain and maintain a license, a licensee must ensure that it 
complies with the terms of its other permits and ancillary licenses such as the import or export permit from the 
Minister of Health, as well as ensuring that all of its management and designated personnel have passed the 
security clearance provided for under ACMPR. 
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GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR 

 

GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR and is in the confirmation of readinessy stage of the 
application review process to obtain a licence to produce and supply medical marijuana under ACMPR from 
Health Canada. GrowPros’ ability to grow, store and sell medical marijuana in Canada is dependent on 
obtaining a licence from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that GrowPros will obtain such a 
license. Even if GrowPros is successful in obtaining a license, such license will be subject to ongoing 
compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements of the license or any failure 
to maintain the license would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and 
operating results of GrowPros. 
 
Timeframes and cost to obtain a licence under the ACMPR 

 

The timeframes and costs required for GrowPros or any ACMPR applicant to build the infrastructure required 
to apply for, and to receive, an ACMPR licence can be significant. Estimates of the timeframe and costs cannot 
be reliably determined at this time. The current backlog of applications from other licensees with Health 
Canada and the anticipated timeframe for processing and approval of any application cannot be reliably 
determined at this time. 
 
Ultimately, in the process of meeting all licensing requirements, a facility meeting the rigorous requirements 
of Health Canada must be available for inspection by Health Canada before any license can be granted. 
 
Regulatory Risks  

 

The proposed activities of GrowPros are subject to regulation by governmental authorities, particularly Health 
Canada. Achievement of the business objectives of GrowPros are contingent, in part, upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities and obtaining all regulatory approvals, 
where necessary, for the sale of its products. GrowPros cannot predict the time required to secure all 
appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be 
required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would 
significantly delay the development of markets and products and could have a material adverse effect on the 
business, results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros.  
 
Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines  

 

GrowPros’ proposed operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the 
manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including laws 
and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment.  
The ACMPR is a new regulatory regime that came into force on April 1, 2014. As such, revisions to the regime 
could be implemented which could have an impact on the operations of GrowPros. There is also some 
uncertainty regarding the likely interpretation of certain regulatory provisions by the regulator. Changes in 
legislation or regulator interpretation could negatively impact the operations of GrowPros. Similarly, a change 
in government could result in meaningful changes to the regulatory regime under which GrowPros proposes 
to operate, which could negatively impact its operations.  
 
Limited Operating History  

 

GrowPros was recently incorporated and began carrying on business in March 2014 and is therefore subject 
to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 
limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no 
assurance that GrowPros will be successful in securing an ACMPR license or achieving a return on 
shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early stage of 
operations. 
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Competition  

 

If GrowPros is successful in securing an ACMPR license, there is potential that GrowPros will face intense 
competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to have longer operating histories and 
more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than GrowPros. Increased competition 
by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the proposed business, 
financial condition and results of operations of GrowPros.  
 
In addition, the government has only issued to date a small number of licenses under the ACMPR to produce 
and sell medical marijuana. There are, however, several hundred applicants for licences. The number of 
licences granted could have an impact on the operations of GrowPros. Because of the early stage of the 
industry in which GrowPros operates, GrowPros expects to face additional competition from new entrants. If 
the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and 
GrowPros expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to offer 
an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, GrowPros will require a continued high 
level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The Corporation may 
not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and client support 
efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and 
results of operations of GrowPros.  
 
Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business  

 

The Company’s proposed business involves the growing of medical marijuana, an agricultural product. As 
such, the business is subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases 
and similar agricultural risks. Although GrowPros intends to grow its products indoors under climate controlled 
conditions, and carefully monitoring the growing conditions with trained personnel, there can be no assurance 
that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on the proposed production of its products. 
 
Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs  

 

Medical marijuana growing operations consume considerable energy, making GrowPros vulnerable to rising 
energy costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of GrowPros and its ability 
to operate profitably.  
 
Environmental and Employee Health and Safety Regulations  

 

Medical marijuana operations are subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, 
among other things, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal of hazardous 
and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety. Failure to comply with 
environmental and safety laws and regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, 
penalties or in restrictions in manufacturing operations. In addition, changes in environmental, employee 
health and safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require 
extensive changes to operations or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the proposed business, results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros. 
 
Difficult to Forecast  

 

Detailed sales forecasts are not generally obtainable from sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana 
industry in Canada. A failure in the demand for products to materialize as a result of competition, technological 
change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the proposed business, results of operations 
and financial condition of GrowPros.  
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Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour  

 

The ability of GrowPros to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable cost and 
in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be given that 
GrowPros will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, equipment, parts and 
components. It is also possible that the final costs of any major equipment that may be contemplated by 
GrowPros’ capital expenditure program may be significantly greater than anticipated by management, and 
may be greater than funds available to GrowPros, in which circumstance GrowPros may curtail, or extend the 
timeframes for completing, its capital expenditure plans. This could have an adverse effect on the financial 
results of GrowPros. 
 
Reliance on Key Inputs  

 

The proposed business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials 
and supplies related to growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant 
interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could 
materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of GrowPros. Any inability to secure 
required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact on 
the proposed business, financial condition and operating results of GrowPros.  
 
Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception  

 

Management of GrowPros believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. Consumer perception 
of GrowPros’ proposed products can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory 
investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of medical marijuana 
products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, 
litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favourable to the medical marijuana 
market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings,  
 
regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favourable than, 
or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the 
demand for GrowPros’ proposed products and the business, results of operations, financial condition and 
cash flows of GrowPros. The Corporation’s dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse 
scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, 
whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on GrowPros, the demand for its 
proposed products, and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of GrowPros. 
Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of medical 
marijuana in general, or GrowPros’ proposed products specifically, or associating the consumption of medical 
marijuana with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such 
adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such 
products resulted from consumers’ failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed.  
 
Product Liability  

 

If licensed as a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, GrowPros faces 
an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are alleged 
to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of GrowPros’ products involve 
the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. 
Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of its products alone or in 
combination with other medications or substances could occur. The Corporation may be subject to various 
product liability claims, including, among others, that its products caused injury or illness, include inadequate 
instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other  
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substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against GrowPros could result in increased costs, 
could adversely affect GrowPros’ reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros. There can be no 
assurances that GrowPros will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or 
with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in 
the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable 
terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the 
commercialization of GrowPros’ potential products.  
 
Product Recalls  

 

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for 
a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or 
interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any 
of GrowPros’ products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, GrowPros could 
be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in 
connection with the recall. The Corporation may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to 
replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant 
management attention. Although GrowPros intends to implement detailed procedures for testing finished 
products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in 
time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of GrowPros’ 
significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and GrowPros could be harmed. A recall for 
any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for GrowPros’ products and could have a 
material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros. Additionally, product 
recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of GrowPros’ operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, 
requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
At the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the design of disclosure controls and internal 
controls over financial reporting was carried out under the supervision of the Company’s management, 
including the CEO and CFO. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that the disclosure controls were designed effectively as of November 30, 2017, the end of the 
period covered by this report, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports that it files or 
submits to regulatory authorities, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified by regulation, and is accumulated and communicated to management to allow for timely decisions 
regarding required disclosures. 
 
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year 
ended November 30, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Management will continue to monitor its disclosure 
controls and may make modifications from time to time as considered necessary or desirable. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that the disclosure controls and procedures will detect or uncover 
every situation involving the failure of persons within the Company to disclose material information otherwise 
required to be set forth in the reports. The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance of achieving their objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports is communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
The Company’s management, with the participation of its CEO and CFO, has designed, established and is 
maintaining a system of internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision of the CFO, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that the financial information prepared by the Company for external purposes is reliable and has been 
recorded, processed and reported in an accurate and timely manner and in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Company’s controls include policies and procedures that: 
 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions of the Company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the annual financial 
statements or interim financial statements. 
 

The Company’s control over financial reporting during the year ended November 30, 2017 were designed and 
implemented throughout the year. There have been no changes to the controls during the year that materially 
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of the internal 
control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2017. As a result, management concluded that the internal 
control over financial reporting were effective as at that date. 
 
Limitations of Controls and Procedures 
 
Management, including the CEO and CFO, believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal 
controls over financial reporting, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control 
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they cannot provide 
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been 
prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can 
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be 
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized 
override of the control. The design of any systems of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions 
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving 
its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost 
effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
See Note 3 to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017. 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
See Note 3 to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017. 
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for GrowPros MMP Inc. (the “Company” or 
“GrowPros”) should be read in conjunction with the carve-out interim financial statements for the three and six 
month periods ended May 31, 2018 and the carve-out financial statements for the years ended November 30, 
2017, 2016 and 2015, and the notes thereto. 
 
The financial information in this MD&A is derived from the Company’s carve-out interim financial statements 
for the three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018, which were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The effective date of this MD&A is August 21, 2018. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Certain of the information contained in this document may contain “forward-looking statements”.  Forward-
looking statements may include, among others, statements regarding the Company’s future plans, costs, 
objectives or economic performance, or the assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.  In this document, 
words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “estimate” 
and similar words and the negative form thereof are used to identify forward-looking statements.  Forward-
looking statements should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily 
be accurate indications of whether such future performance will be achieved.  Forward-looking statements are 
based on information available at the time and/or management’s good faith belief with respect to future events 
and are subject to known or unknown risks, uncertainties and other unpredictable factors, many of which are 
beyond the Company’s control.  These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described 
under the headings “Financial Instruments and Risk Management” and “Inherent Risk Factors” in this MD&A 
and could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in any forward-looking 
statements.  The Company does not intend, nor does it undertake any obligation, to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A to reflect subsequent information, events or 
circumstances or otherwise, except if required by applicable law. 
 
BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

GrowPros MMP Inc. (the “Company” or “GrowPros”), was incorporated on March 12, 2014 under the Canada 
Business Corporations Act.  
 
The Company is pursuing a license to become a producer of medical marijuana in Canada pursuant to Health 
Canada’s Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”). The Company’s head office is 
located at 200-2742 St. Joseph Blvd., Orleans, Ontario, K1C 1G5. GrowPros is not yet a licensed producer 
under the ACMPR.  
 
As a condition of obtaining a license, Health Canada requires significant steps to be taken, including the 
construction of an indoor growing facility equipped with physical barriers, visual monitoring, recording devices, 
intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around distribution and access. 
 
At this time, the Company is in the confirmation of readiness stage with respect to this application. As a result, 
none of the infrastructure required to support the Company’s license application has been ordered, purchased 
or assembled. 
 
The amount of time required to obtain a license is dependant on Health Canada’s timeline for reviewing license 
applications. Further, the amount of time the Company may need to resolve any comments received from 
Health Canada during the application process will not be known until such comments are received. As a result, 
the Company is currently at too early a stage in its due diligence process to provide any estimate of the amount 
of time required in order to obtain a license. Until a facility meeting the requirements of ACMPR is constructed, 
available for inspection by Health Canada and the Company is in receipt of a final license from Health Canada, 
the Company cannot begin production of medical marijuana. 
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There can be no assurance that the Company’s medical marijuana license application will be approved by 
Health Canada. 
 
On February 16, 2018, the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra Bio-Pharma (“Tetra”), entered into an 
agreement with North Bud Farms Inc. (“North Bud”), to sell its interest in GrowPros for $350,000 and 
15,000,000 common shares of North Bud. The transaction is conditional upon North Bud listing its shares on 
a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 
 
The Company’s carve-out interim financial statements were prepared in connection with North Bud’s listing 
application, and present the financial position, net loss and total comprehensive loss, changes in owner’s net 
investment and cash flows of GrowPros, as if it had been an independent operation during the periods 
reported. These condensed carve-out interim financial statements have been derived from the historical 
accounting records of Tetra and its subsidiaries, with estimates used, when necessary, for certain allocations.  
 
The carve-out interim statements of financial position as at the period ended February 28, 2018 reflect the 
amounts recorded by GrowPros with respect to assets and liabilities to be transferred as part of the agreement 
with North Bud.  Other assets and liabilities that are not expected to be part of the agreement with North Bud 
are not included in the carve-out statements of financial position.  The carve-out interim statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss for the periods ended February 28, 2018 and 2017 include all direct expenses related 
to GrowPros. Management cautions readers of the carve-out interim financial statements that amounts 
presented do not necessarily reflect what the results of operations, financial position, or cash flows would 
have been had the Company been an independent operation or future results in respect of GrowPros on a 
stand-along basis.  Further, the allocation of expenses in the carve-out statements of loss and comprehensive 
loss does not necessarily reflect the nature and level of GrowPros future operating expenses. 
 
GOING CONCERN 
 
The Company’s carve-out interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The going concern basis of 
presentation assumes the Company will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has no assurance 
that it will be successful in its application to become a licensed producer of medical marijuana. The Company 
has not generated any operating revenues or positive cash flow from operations from inception to date. 
 
The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In 
assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, Management takes into account all available 
information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. This assessment is based upon planned actions that may or may not occur for a number of reasons 
including the Company’s own resources and external market conditions. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business, meet its corporate administrative expenses and continue to advance its application 
for a license to produce medical marijuana, is dependent upon securing additional financing, through various 
means including but not limited to equity financing. No assurance can be given that any such additional 
financing will be available, or that it can be obtained on terms favorable to the Company.  
 
The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption 
was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements, then 
adjustments would be necessary to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and 
the classifications used in the statements of financial position. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
The following selected financial information is derived from the Company’s carve-out interim financial 
statements for the three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018, which were prepared in accordance with 
IFRS: 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Net loss and total comprehensive loss -                  13,823        4,000          27,646        

Three months

ended May 31,

Six months

ended May 31,

 
 
 

As at May 31, November 30,
2018 2017

$ $

Total assets 913                                  913                                  
Total liabilities 12,065                             12,065                             

 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
During the three and six months ended May 31, 2018, the Company recorded a net loss and total 
comprehensive loss of $Nil and $4,000 respectively (2017 - $13,823 and $27,646 respectively). The decrease 
is primarily due to the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra Bio-Pharma, focusing an increasing percentage of 
its efforts and resources on the pharmaceutical side of its business, and less on its license application with 
Health Canada. As a result, management fees, travel and promotion expenses and professional fees were all 
$Nil for the six month period ended May 31, 2018 (2017 - $10,000, $7,810 and $836, respectively).  
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company’s liquidity depends on existing cash reserves, supplemented as necessary by equity and/or 
equity financings. As at May 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $913 ($913 as at November 30, 2017) and 
current liabilities of $12,065 ($12,065 as at November 30, 2017). 
 
As the Company’s focus has been primarily on advancing its license application with Health Canada, it has 
never had any operating revenues and has relied exclusively on funding from Tetra, the parent company of 
GrowPros. Refer to Note 2 in the Company’s carve-out interim financial statements for further details 
surrounding the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
As at May 31, 2018 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any commitments or 
contingencies. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
As at May 31, 2018 and as of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet 
arrangements. 
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PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
As outlined in the Business Overview section of this MD&A, the parent company of GrowPros, Tetra, has 
entered into an agreement to sell its interest in the Company to North Bud. The transaction is conditional on 
North Bud listing its shares on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 
 
As at the date of this MD&A, other than the sale of GrowPros to North Bud, there are no proposed asset or 
business acquisitions or dispositions. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Transactions with key management personnel 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and key management personnel, as well as close family 
members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions. Unless otherwise stated, none of these transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and 
no guarantees were given or received. 
 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company was as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Consulting fees -                  5,000          -                  10,000        

-                  5,000          -                  10,000        

Three months
ended May 31,

Six months
ended May 31,

 
 
During the three and six month periods ended May 31, 2018, consulting fees of $5,000 and $10,000, 
respectively, were paid to Ryan Brown, the Company’s former CEO, pursuant to a consulting agreement, for 
services rendered as CEO of the Company. There are no ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting 
from the transaction. Ryan Brown is now the CEO of North Bud Farms Inc.  
 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management 
 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact 
and likelihood of those risks. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. Where material, these risks are 
reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors.  
 
(i) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a party to its financial instruments fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company’s financial asset exposed to credit risk is cash. The Company’s cash is held at 
reputable financial institutions with high external credit ratings. It is Management’s opinion that the Company 
is not exposed to significant credit risk. 
 
None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements. 
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Management considers that all the financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each of the reporting 
dates are of good credit quality. There are no financial assets that are past due but not impaired for the periods 
presented. 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 
The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its access to the capital markets 
is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or matters specific to the 
Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at May 31, 2018, the 
Company had cash of $913 ($913 as at November 30, 2017) and current liabilities of $12,065 ($12,065 as at 
November 30, 2017). All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 30 days 
and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure 
preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity.  

 
Capital management 
 
The Company considers its capital to be its owners net investment, which at May 31, 2018 was a deficit of 
$11,152 ($11,152 as at November 30, 2017). The Company relies on Tetra Bio-Pharma for the ongoing 
management of its capital. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair 
value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  
 
The classification of financial instruments is as follows: 
 

May 31, November 30,
2018 2017

$ $

Financial assets

Loans and receivables
   Cash 913                                  913                                  

Total financial assets 913                                  913                                  

Financial liabilities

Measured at amortized cost

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,065)                            (12,065)                            

Total financial liabilities (12,065)                            (12,065)                            
 

 
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Company has not had any changes in accounting policies, other than the adoption of new mandatory 
standards under IFRS as well as amendments to existing standards, for the six months ended May 31, 2018.  
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INHERENT RISK FACTORS 

You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties in addition to other information in this MD&A 
in evaluating the Company and its business before making any investment decision in regards to the common 
shares of the Company.  The Company’s operating and financial condition could be harmed due to any of the 
following risks.  
 
Requirements under the ACMPR 

 

Production of medicinal marijuana in Canada is regulated pursuant to the ACMPR. Any applicant seeking to 
become such a producer is subject to the stringent licensing requirements of Health Canada, which would be 
applicable in the event that either the Company, or any other entity the Company may invest in applies for or 
acquires a license. These licensing requirements include the significant infrastructural requirements of 
obtaining and maintaining a license such as an indoor growing facility with physical barriers, visual monitoring, 
recording devices, intrusion detection, air filtration systems, as well as other important controls around 
distribution and access, among others. In addition, and as specified in the ACMPR, once a license is issued, 
a holder of a producer license must comply with a number of ongoing requirements, including (i) physical 
security and storage measures, (ii) good production practices, and (iii) proper packaging, labelling and 
shipping practices. Furthermore, in order to obtain and maintain a license, a licensee must ensure that it 
complies with the terms of its other permits and ancillary licenses such as the import or export permit from the 
Minister of Health, as well as ensuring that all of its management and designated personnel have passed the 
security clearance provided for under ACMPR. 
 
GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR 

 

GrowPros is not a licensed producer under the ACMPR and is in the early stage of the application review 
process to obtain a licence to produce and supply medical marijuana under ACMPR from Health Canada. 
GrowPros’ ability to grow, store and sell medical marijuana in Canada is dependent on obtaining a licence 
from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that GrowPros will obtain such a license. Even if 
GrowPros is successful in obtaining a license, such license will be subject to ongoing compliance and reporting 
requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements of the license or any failure to maintain the license 
would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of GrowPros. 
 
Timeframes and cost to obtain a licence under the ACMPR 

 

The timeframes and costs required for GrowPros or any ACMPR applicant to build the infrastructure required 
to apply for, and to receive, an ACMPR licence can be significant. Estimates of the timeframe and costs cannot 
be reliably determined at this time. The current backlog of applications from other licensees with Health 
Canada and the anticipated timeframe for processing and approval of any application cannot be reliably 
determined at this time. 
 
Ultimately, in the process of meeting all licensing requirements, a facility meeting the rigorous requirements 
of Health Canada must be available for inspection by Health Canada before any license can be granted. 
 
Regulatory Risks  

 

The proposed activities of GrowPros are subject to regulation by governmental authorities, particularly Health 
Canada. Achievement of the business objectives of GrowPros are contingent, in part, upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities and obtaining all regulatory approvals, 
where necessary, for the sale of its products. GrowPros cannot predict the time required to secure all 
appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be 
required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would 
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significantly delay the development of markets and products and could have a material adverse effect on the 
business, results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros.  
 
Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines  
 
GrowPros’ proposed operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the 
manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including laws 
and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment.  
The ACMPR is a new regulatory regime that came into force on April 1, 2014. As such, revisions to the regime 
could be implemented which could have an impact on the operations of GrowPros. There is also some 
uncertainty regarding the likely interpretation of certain regulatory provisions by the regulator. Changes in 
legislation or regulator interpretation could negatively impact the operations of GrowPros. Similarly, a change 
in government could result in meaningful changes to the regulatory regime under which GrowPros proposes 
to operate, which could negatively impact its operations.  
 
Limited Operating History  

 

GrowPros was recently incorporated and began carrying on business in March 2014 and is therefore subject 
to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 
limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no 
assurance that GrowPros will be successful in securing an ACMPR license or achieving a return on 
shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early stage of 
operations. 
 
Competition  

 

If GrowPros is successful in securing an ACMPR license, there is potential that GrowPros will face intense 
competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to have longer operating histories and 
more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than GrowPros. Increased competition 
by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the proposed business, 
financial condition and results of operations of GrowPros. 
 
In addition, the government has only issued to date a small number of licenses under the ACMPR to produce 
and sell medical marijuana. There are, however, several hundred applicants for licences. The number of 
licences granted could have an impact on the operations of GrowPros. Because of the early stage of the 
industry in which GrowPros operates, GrowPros expects to face additional competition from new entrants. If 
the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and 
GrowPros expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to offer 
an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, GrowPros will require a continued high 
level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The Corporation may 
not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and client support 
efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and 
results of operations of GrowPros.  
 
Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business  

 

The Company’s proposed business involves the growing of medical marijuana, an agricultural product. As 
such, the business is subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases 
and similar agricultural risks. Although GrowPros intends to grow its products indoors under climate controlled 
conditions, and carefully monitoring the growing conditions with trained personnel, there can be no assurance 
that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on the proposed production of its products. 
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Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs  

 

Medical marijuana growing operations consume considerable energy, making GrowPros vulnerable to rising 
energy costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of GrowPros and its ability 
to operate profitably.  
 
Environmental and Employee Health and Safety Regulations  

 

Medical marijuana operations are subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, 
among other things, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal of hazardous 
and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety. Failure to comply with 
environmental and safety laws and regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, 
penalties or in restrictions in manufacturing operations. In addition, changes in environmental, employee 
health and safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require 
extensive changes to operations or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the proposed business, results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros. 
 
Difficult to Forecast  

 

Detailed sales forecasts are not generally obtainable from sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana 
industry in Canada. A failure in the demand for products to materialize as a result of competition, technological 
change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the proposed business, results of operations 
and financial condition of GrowPros.  
 
Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour  

 

The ability of GrowPros to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable cost and 
in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be given that 
GrowPros will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, equipment, parts and 
components. It is also possible that the final costs of any major equipment that may be contemplated by 
GrowPros’ capital expenditure program may be significantly greater than anticipated by management, and 
may be greater than funds available to GrowPros, in which circumstance GrowPros may curtail, or extend the 
timeframes for completing, its capital expenditure plans. This could have an adverse effect on the financial 
results of GrowPros. 
 
Reliance on Key Inputs  

 

The proposed business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials 
and supplies related to growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant 
interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could 
materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of GrowPros. Any inability to secure 
required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact on 
the proposed business, financial condition and operating results of GrowPros.  
 
Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception  

 

Management of GrowPros believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. Consumer perception 
of GrowPros’ proposed products can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory 
investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of medical marijuana 
products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, 
litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favourable to the medical marijuana 
market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, 
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regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favourable than, 
or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the 
demand for GrowPros’ proposed products and the business, results of operations, financial condition and 
cash flows of GrowPros. The Corporation’s dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse 
scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, 
whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on GrowPros, the demand for its 
proposed products, and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of GrowPros. 
Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of medical 
marijuana in general, or GrowPros’ proposed products specifically, or associating the consumption of medical 
marijuana with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such 
adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such 
products resulted from consumers’ failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed.  
 
Product Liability  

 

If licensed as a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, GrowPros faces 
an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are alleged 
to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of GrowPros’ products involve 
the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. 
Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of its products alone or in 
combination with other medications or substances could occur. The Corporation may be subject to various 
product liability claims, including, among others, that its products caused injury or illness, include inadequate 
instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other 
substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against GrowPros could result in increased costs, 
could adversely affect GrowPros’ reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros. There can be no 
assurances that GrowPros will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or 
with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in 
the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable 
terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the 
commercialization of GrowPros’ potential products.  
 
Product Recalls  

 

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for 
a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or 
interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any 
of GrowPros’ products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, GrowPros could 
be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in 
connection with the recall. The Corporation may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to 
replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant 
management attention. Although GrowPros intends to implement detailed procedures for testing finished 
products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in 
time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of GrowPros’ 
significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and GrowPros could be harmed. A recall for 
any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for GrowPros’ products and could have a 
material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of GrowPros. Additionally, product 
recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of GrowPros’ operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, 
requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
At the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the design of disclosure controls and internal 
controls over financial reporting was carried out under the supervision of the Company’s management, 
including the CEO and CFO. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that the disclosure controls were designed effectively as of May 31, 2018, the end of the period 
covered by this report, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports that it files or submits to 
regulatory authorities, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by 
regulation, and is accumulated and communicated to management to allow for timely decisions regarding 
required disclosures. 
 
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the period 
ended May 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Management will continue to monitor its disclosure controls and may 
make modifications from time to time as considered necessary or desirable. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that the disclosure controls and procedures will detect or uncover 
every situation involving the failure of persons within the Company to disclose material information otherwise 
required to be set forth in the reports. The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance of achieving their objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports is communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
The Company’s management, with the participation of its CEO and CFO, has designed, established and is 
maintaining a system of internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision of the CFO, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that the financial information prepared by the Company for external purposes is reliable and has been 
recorded, processed and reported in an accurate and timely manner and in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Company’s controls include policies and procedures that: 
 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions of the Company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the annual financial 
statements or interim financial statements. 
 

The Company’s control over financial reporting during the period ended May 31, 2018 were designed and 
implemented throughout the period. There have been no changes to the controls during the period that 
materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of the internal  
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control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2018. As a result, management concluded that the internal 
control over financial reporting were effective as at that date. 
 
Limitations of Controls and Procedures 
 
Management, including the CEO and CFO, believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal 
controls over financial reporting, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control 
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they cannot provide 
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Exploration Properties 
Business have been prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in 
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. 
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more 
people, or by unauthorized override of the control. The design of any systems of controls also is based in part 
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design 
will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the 
inherent limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 
be detected. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
See Note 3 to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017. 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING POLICIES ESTIMATES ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
See Note 3 to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2017. 
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NORTH BUD FARMS INC. 
(the “Company”) 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER  

1. Mandate 

The audit committee will assist the board of directors (the “Board”) in fulfilling its financial oversight 
responsibilities.  The audit committee will review and consider in consultation with the auditors the 
financial reporting process, the system of internal control and the audit process.  In performing its duties, 
the committee will maintain effective working relationships with the Board, management, and the 
external auditors.  To effectively perform his or her role, each committee member must obtain an 
understanding of the principal responsibilities of committee membership as well and the Company’s 
business, operations and risks. 

2. Composition  

The Board will appoint from among their membership an audit committee after each annual general 
meeting of the shareholders of the Company.  The audit committee will consist of a minimum of three 
directors. 

2.1 Independence 

A majority of the members of the audit committee must not be officers, employees or control persons of 
the Company. 

2.2 Expertise of Committee Members 

Each member of the audit committee must be financially literate or must become financially literate 
within a reasonable period of time after his or her appointment to the committee.  At least one member of 
the committee must have accounting or related financial management expertise. The Board shall interpret 
the qualifications of financial literacy and financial management expertise in its business judgment and 
shall conclude whether a director meets these qualifications. 

3. Meetings 

The audit committee shall meet in accordance with a schedule established each year by the Board, and at 
other times that the audit committee may determine.  The audit committee shall meet at least annually 
with the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and external auditors in separate executive sessions.  

4. Roles and Responsibilities 

The audit committee shall fulfill the following roles and discharge the following responsibilities: 

4.1 External Audit 

The audit committee shall be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors in 
preparing or issuing the auditor’s report, including the resolution of disagreements between management 
and the external auditors regarding financial reporting and audit scope or procedures.  In carrying out this 
duty, the audit committee shall: 
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(a) recommend to the Board the external auditor to be nominated by the shareholders for the 
purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest 
services for the Company; 

(b) review (by discussion and enquiry) the external auditors’ proposed audit scope and 
approach; 

(c) review the performance of the external auditors and recommend to the Board the 
appointment or discharge of the external auditors; 

(d) review and recommend to the Board the compensation to be paid to the external auditors; 
and 

(e) review and confirm the independence of the external auditors by reviewing the non-audit 
services provided and the external auditors’ assertion of their independence in accordance with 
professional standards. 

4.2 Internal Control 

The audit committee shall consider whether adequate controls are in place over annual and interim 
financial reporting as well as controls over assets, transactions and the creation of obligations, 
commitments and liabilities of the Company.  In carrying out this duty, the audit committee shall: 

(a) evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of management’s system of internal controls 
over the accounting and financial reporting system within the Company; and 

(b) ensure that the external auditors discuss with the audit committee any event or matter 
which suggests the possibility of  fraud, illegal acts or deficiencies in internal controls. 

4.3 Financial Reporting 

The audit committee shall review the financial statements and financial information prior to its release to 
the public.  In carrying out this duty, the audit committee shall: 

General 

(a) review significant accounting and financial reporting issues, especially complex, unusual 
and related party transactions; and 

(b) review and ensure that the accounting principles selected by management in preparing 
financial statements are appropriate. 

Annual Financial Statements 

(a) review the draft annual financial statements and provide a recommendation to the Board 
with respect to the approval of the financial statements; 

(b) meet with management and the external auditors to review the financial statements and 
the results of the audit, including any difficulties encountered; and 

(c) review management’s discussion & analysis respecting the annual reporting period prior 
to its release to the public. 
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Interim Financial Statements 

(a) review and approve the interim financial statements prior to their release to the public; 
and 

(b) review management’s discussion & analysis respecting the interim reporting period prior 
to its release to the public. 

Release of Financial Information 

(a) where reasonably possible, review and approve all public disclosure, including news 
releases, containing financial information, prior to its release to the public. 

4.4 Non-Audit Services 

All non-audit services (being services other than services rendered for the audit and review of the 
financial statements or services that are normally provided by the external auditor in connection with 
statutory and regulatory filings or engagements) which are proposed to be provided by the external 
auditors to the Company or any subsidiary of the Company shall be subject to the prior approval of the 
audit committee.   

Delegation of Authority 

(a) The audit committee may delegate to one or more independent members of the audit 
committee the authority to approve non-audit services,  provided any non-audit services approved 
in this manner must be presented to the audit committee at its next scheduled meeting.  

De-Minimis Non-Audit Services 

(a) The audit committee may satisfy the  requirement for the pre-approval of non-audit 
services if: 

(i) the aggregate amount of all non-audit services that were not pre-approved is 
reasonably expected to constitute no more than five per cent of the total amount of fees 
paid by the Company and its subsidiaries to the external auditor during the fiscal year in 
which the services are provided; or  

(ii) the services are brought to the attention of the audit committee and approved, 
prior to the completion of the audit, by the audit committee or by one or more of its 
members to whom authority to grant such approvals has been delegated. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

(a) The audit committee may also satisfy the  requirement for the pre-approval of non-audit 
services by adopting specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services, if: 

(i) the pre-approval policies and procedures are detailed as to the particular service; 

(ii) the audit committee is informed of each non-audit service; and 

(iii) the procedures do not include delegation of the audit committee's responsibilities 
to management. 
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4.5 Other Responsibilities 

The audit committee shall: 

(a) establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the 
Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; 

(b) establish procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the 
Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; 

(c) ensure that significant findings and recommendations made by management and external 
auditor are received and discussed on a timely basis; 

(d) review the policies and procedures in effect for considering officers’ expenses and 
perquisites; 

(e) perform other oversight functions as requested by the Board; and 

(f) review and update this Charter and receive approval of changes to this Charter from the 
Board. 

4.6 Reporting Responsibilities 

The audit committee shall regularly update the Board about committee activities and make appropriate 
recommendations. 

5. Resources and Authority of the Audit Committee 

The audit committee shall have the resources and the authority appropriate to discharge its 
responsibilities, including the authority to  

(a) engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its 
duties; 

(b) set and pay the compensation for any advisors employed by the audit committee; and 

(c) communicate directly with the internal and external auditors. 

6. Guidance – Roles & Responsibilities 

The following guidance is intended to provide the audit committee members with additional guidance on 
fulfilment of their roles and responsibilities on the committee: 

6.1 Internal Control 

(a) evaluate whether management is setting the goal of high standards by communicating the 
importance of internal control and ensuring that all individuals possess an understanding of their 
roles and responsibilities; 

(b) focus on the extent to which external auditors review computer systems and applications, 
the security of such systems and applications, and the contingency plan for processing financial 
information in the event of an IT systems breakdown; and 
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(c) gain an understanding of whether internal control recommendations made by external 
auditors have been implemented by management. 

6.2 Financial Reporting 

General 

(a) review significant accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and 
regulatory pronouncements, and understand their impact on the financial statements; and 

(b) ask management and the external auditors about significant risks and exposures and the 
plans to minimize such risks; and 

(c) understand industry best practices and the Company’s adoption of them. 

Annual Financial Statements 

(a) review the annual financial statements and determine whether they are complete and 
consistent with the information known to committee members, and assess whether the financial 
statements reflect appropriate accounting principles in light of the jurisdictions in which the 
Company reports or trades its shares; 

(b) pay attention to complex and/or unusual transactions such as restructuring charges and 
derivative disclosures; 

(c) focus on judgmental areas such as those involving valuation of assets and liabilities, 
including, for example, the accounting for and disclosure of loan losses; warranty, professional 
liability; litigation reserves; and other commitments and contingencies; 

(d) consider management’s handling of proposed audit adjustments identified by the external 
auditors; and 

(e) ensure that the external auditors communicate all required matters to the committee. 

Interim Financial Statements 

(a) be briefed on how management develops and summarizes interim financial information, 
the extent to which the external auditors review interim financial information; 

(b) meet with management and the auditors, either telephonically or in person, to review the 
interim financial statements; and 

(c) to gain insight into the fairness of the interim statements and disclosures, obtain 
explanations from management on whether: 

(i) actual financial results for the quarter or interim period varied significantly from 
budgeted or projected results; 

(ii) changes in financial ratios and relationships of various balance sheet and 
operating statement figures in the interim financial statements are consistent with changes 
in the Company’s operations and financing practices; 
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(iii) generally accepted accounting principles have been consistently applied; 

(iv) there are any actual or proposed changes in accounting or financial reporting 
practices; 

(v) there are any significant or unusual events or transactions; 

(vi) the Company’s financial and operating controls are functioning effectively; 

(vii) the Company has complied with the terms of loan agreements, security 
indentures or other financial position or results dependent agreement; and 

(viii) the interim financial statements contain adequate and appropriate disclosures. 

6.3 Compliance with Laws and Regulations 

(a) periodically obtain updates from management regarding compliance with this policy and 
industry “best practices”; 

(b) be satisfied that all regulatory compliance matters have been considered in the 
preparation of the financial statements; and 

(c) review the findings of any examinations by securities regulatory authorities and stock 
exchanges. 

6.4 Other Responsibilities 

(a) review, with the Company’s counsel, any legal matters that could have a significant 
impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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Ryan Brown, Chief Executive Officer  Brendan Stutt, Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
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